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This s
World Energy.

“Just as eiriergy is the'»baSi‘s» of life itself, and ideas

the source of innovation, SO is innovation the
vital =oark of all human change, improvement
and progress.”

TED LEVITT, ECONOMIST AND HARVARD BUSINESS SCHOOL PROFESSOR EMERITUS

IMAGE © NASA HTTP:///VISIBLEEARTH.NASA.GOV




Energy deregulation. The smart grid. Demand response. Energy efficiency.
Renewable energy. Greenhouse gas emissions. Utility incentives. Carbon
footprinting. Today, everything is energy. No longer just a commodity, energy
has emerged as a strategic asset that impacts corporations, economies

and the future of the planet. It's about governments deregulating supply,
mandating greener buildings and navigating emerging cap-and-trade
systems. [t's about utilities creating new efficiencies in a smart grid. It's
about companies balancing energy demand with sustainability goals and the
bottom line. It's about a new generation of leaders applying 21st century
process and technology across the Seven Levers of Energy Management™ to
meet the new millenia’s energy goals, creating new business opportunities
and driving prosperity and success for years to come.

The Seven: Levers of Energy Management

Procure what you need Protect yourself from price Modernize to improve
at the best available price, volatility, the bottom line,

) Favor green options when : axi 01 ortunities . Meanage data to drive decisions .
it makes senss. i emand | 1 and inform Planning. ‘







The emergence of online business-to-business commerce, combined
with deregulation, has completely reshaped the way C&l, institutional,
government and utility customers procure energy. in the early 2000s,
World Energy anticipated the opportunities that would result from these
market changes, developing the people, process and technology needed
to capitalize on them and create long-term customer value.

Our expert team is steeped in energy markets and accomplished in
providing the analysis, risk management and ongoing counsel necessary
to help customers manage their energy needs more strategically. World
Energy professionals are supported by the firm’s rigorous end-to-end
process, exceptional data management capabilities, and award-winning
online exchanges that create highly liquid and transparent marketplaces

for our customers to transact. Having emerged as a clear market leader

in online energy procurement, we have evolved to help organizations buy
natural gas, capacity, green power and environmental credits, as well

as source demand response.

“World Energy’s process gave us access to an
increased pool of suppliers, delivered valuable price
transparency, and provided a real-time competitive
dynamic that made suppliers work harder to win our

business, resulting in a 30 percent rate reduction
for the District.”

DARLENE A. LOCASCIC, DIRECTOR OF PROCUREMENT AND MATERIALS MANAGEMENT
AT METROPOLITAN WATER RECLAMATION DISTRICT OF GREATER CHICAGO

WerldEnergy | Exchanges
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Energy security and climate change are changing the way we think

about energy, putting a premium on carbon management, renewables

and efficiency. Extending its energy leadership across these growing
markets, World Energy today provides the auction platform for the
Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI), the first market-based,
mandatory cap-and-trade program in the U.S. to reduce greenhouse

gas emissions, and also helps companies buy renewable energy and
offsets through its exchanges. ' .

World Energy has also entered the energy efficiency market through
strategic investments and the acquisition of Northeast Energy Solutions,
LLC, a Conn.-based firm. The new capabilities give the Company an
immediate foothold in the New England market, where utility incentives
are available for energy efficiency projects. Today, World Energy has the
expertise, relationships and capabilities to plan and execute comprehensive
energy efficiency services, including lighting, mechanical and HVAC
retrofits and energy management systems for mid-market customers.

“The auctions have proven to be an effective and
efficient way to allocate CO2 allowances. RGGI has
demonstrated that market-based solutions work,

5 'promotmg innovation in 10w~em1531ons technologles,,z,.E

and providing an economic engine for inve$tments
in energy efficiency, workforce training, and bill
assistance programs.”

DAVID LITTELL A COMMISSIONER OF THE MAINE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION AND VICE CHAIR
OF RGGI, INC : :
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SPARKING A “
Transformation in demand response.



Organizations are increasingly looking for one company to manage their
energy services needs as the issues and opportunities around energy
continue to proliferate. One such opportunity is demand response, a fast
growing program which incentivizes companies to reduce their energy
usage during periods of peak demand.

Just as we have done for energy procurement in deregulated markets,
World Energy is now doing for demand response - creating an efficient,
transparent and liquid marketplace that benefits customers and suppliers”
alike. The World DR Exchange® creates the industry’s first online
marketplace for demand response, enabling customers to source demand
response more efficiently and effectively. With World Energy, companies
now can engage demand response providers (DRPs) in highly-structured
auction events designed to yield price transparency, heighten competition,
and maximize their share of demand response revenues. For DRPs, it
addresses the high cost of customer acquisition, providing a low-cost
channel to qualified customers.

“The whole approach, from the design of the RFP
to the marketing and execution of the auction
event, put us in control of the process and yielded
considerable benefits. Every extra dollar we gain
from our participation in the Demand Response

Program translates into more resources for providing
high-quality care to the veterans we serve.”

FRANK NAPOLI, NETWORK ENERGY/FLEET MANAGER VISN 3 AT THE U.S. DEPARTMENT
OF VETERANS AFFAIRS

Werld | DRExchange®
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$3 O DI IO 1+ commodities transacted
$ ]. :)I IO N+ green commodities transahcted
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SPARKING A
Dynamic future.







We have built an impressive track record helping commercial & industrial, institutional,
government and utility customers manage their energy needs.

World Energy Exchange® procures electricity
for the U.S. General Services Administration

World Energy manages the Federal Government’s Civilian
Natural Gas Program; client wins President’s Award

World Energy conducts first green auction for the
Environmental Protection Agency

First state client saves $5 million annually in energy
costs and wins 2005 Outstanding Program Award from NASCA
(National Association of State Chief Administrators)

First utility customer saves $42 million on initial auction

World Energy cited as top aggregator, broker,
consultant in competitive energy markets by KEMA

Completes Initial Public Offering on the Toronto Stock Exchange

Acquires Energy Gateway
Launches World Green Exchange®

Selected by RGGI, Inc. to support the first cap-and-trade
auctions in U.S. history on the World Green Exchange®

Lists on NASDAQ
Point Carbon names World Energy #1 Green auctioneer worldwide

Announces first quarters of net income as public company

Launches the World DR Exchange™, the first online marketplace
for demand response

Announces record 2010 revenues across product lines

Acquires three companies, delivering new customers, capabilities
and revenue streams

Announces record 2011 revenue, backlog and first full year of profitability
as a public company

Wins key energy efficiency designations from New England utilities;
conducts first demand response auctions on behalf of U.S. General
Services Administration

World Energy Solutions, Inc.

446 Main Street

Worcester, Massachusetts 01608
Telephone: (508) 459-8100

Fax: (508) 459-8101
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Letter to Shareholders

Two thousand and eleven was truly a transformational year for World Energy. We saw our high-visibility, scalable business model
continue to achieve strong financial results, highlighted by record annual revenue of $21.1 million, record net income of $0.05
per share and record annual and total backlog.

We also advanced our leadership in energy management and seeded future growth through a series of strategic moves. Leverag-
ing our track record of solid and improving financial performance, we generated new investor interest in our company and raised
$5.5 million of new capital earlier in the year to continue our acquisition plan. We then worked diligently to complete three
important deals that have grown our market leadership and, together, significantly alter our growth trajectory.

In the third quarter, we acquired the energy procurement business of Co-eXprise, Inc., an auction-based competitor in the govern-
ment space. In the fourth quarter, we purchased Northeast Energy Solutions, LLC, an energy efficiency firm, and GSE Consulting,
LP, an energy management and procurement firm with a significant presence in Texas.

These acquisitions bring us new customers, new capabilities and new revenue streams, and lay the groundwork for a much higher
revenue run rate and increasing profitability in 2012 and beyond. They aiso advance the strategic objectives we set out a year
ago: expanding our product portfolio to deliver a more comprehensive set of energy management services, penetrating new market
segments and rolling up our fragmented industry.

From a customer value proposition perspective, the acquisitions accelerate our move from a procurement-only firm to a multi-
solution vendor — a message expressed in our Seven Levers of Energy Management positioning. With World Energy, customers
can now lower the price they pay for energy, minimize the quantity they use, and maximize available incentives — all in service of
lowering their total cost of energy — and that is something that we uniquely can deliver.

Our traditional auction business showed solid resuits and achieved record annual backlog in 2011 despite no new markets open-
ing. Results for the year were boosted by strong customer renewals, continuing success in the government space and the addition
of Co-eXprise’s book of business. Other leading indicators are also trending in the right direction with channel partners up 37%
to 187, and wholesale customers up 19% to 81.

With the acquisition of GSE Consulting, we gained a strong foothold in the rapidly growing mid-market and an expanded pres-
ence in Texas. In our 2012 plan, we aim to take GSE’s supplier relationships and sales approach and extend them into the other
deregulated markets to become a national mid-market leader.

In addition to strengthening our position in procurement through acquisitions, we have made a measured investment in energy
efficiency over the past year, starting with strategic hires to launch our practice and supptementing that with the purchase of
Northeast Energy Solutions. We believe the energy efficiency business has great potential for us, beginning in New England,
where utilities offer sizeable incentives to businesses for lighting and mechanical retrofits.

Overall, customers have reacted very positively to our new offerings as our strategy to develop a broader set of services has been
validated by new wins in the market. For example, at one Fortune 500 company, efficiency capabilities helped us get in the door
and displace an incumbent competitor for the procurement business. In the mid-market, we've had several deals where our ef-
ficiency capabilities led to new procurement business and procurement led to efficiency projects. None of these scenarios would
have been possible at World Energy even one year ago.

In summary, 2011 was a breakthrough year for the Company, one that set us apart from the competition while setting the table
for more rapid and profitable growth. Looking across the business today, World Energy has never been stronger. We are gaining
market share with a differentiated offering that is clearly resonating with customers; successfully renewing contracts with, and
deepening our penetration of, existing accounts; continuing to expand our network of regional and national channel partners; and
we are growing and increasing profitability, something which will only become more pronounced in 2012 and beyond.

For these reasons, we believe we are well positioned to consotidate our industry and be one of its dominant players.
We look forward to reporting on our progress during the year.

Sincerely,

7%;&4/ . Lok

Richard Domaleski
Chief Executive Officer



Strong Operational and Financial Progress

Record Revenue and Record Backlog

¢ Annual revenue grew 17% to $21.1 million

* Q4 revenue increased 20% to $5.9 million

* Annualized backlog increased 38% to $19.3 million
* Total backlog rose 33% to $34.9 million

Operating Results

e Net income for the year was a record $0.5 million, or $0.05 per share

¢ Adjusted EBITDA* was $2.9 million for the year

¢ Gross margins for the year increased 2% to 81%

¢ Adjusted EBITDA for the fourth quarter was $0.2 million, marking the 9th consecutive quarter of positive Adjusted EBITDA

Liquidity and Balance Sheet

e Cash from operations was $1.8 million for the fourth quarter, $3.6 million for the year
¢ Cash and cash equivalents at year end were $1.8 million, with no debt

¢ Subsequent to year end, expanded credit facility with SVB to $5 million

Product Line Highlights

¢ Completed three acquisitions: Co-eXprise’s energy procurement business, Northeast Energy Solutions, and GSE Consulting
* Channel partners grew 39% to 187

* Wholesale customers increased 19% to 81

*Please refer to Non-GAAP information on Page 28 of the 10-K
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, which
statements involve risks and uncertainties. These statements relate to our future plans, objectives, expectations and intentions.
These statements may be identified by the use of words such as “may”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “will”, “expects”,
“anticipates”, “intends”, “plans”, “believes”, “estimates” and similar expressions. Our actual results and timing of certain
events could differ materially from those discussed in these statements. Factors that could contribute to these differences include
but are not limited to, those discussed under “Risk Factors”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations”, and elsewhere in this Report. The cautionary statements made in this Report should be read as being
applicable to all forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this Report.



PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview

World Energy Solutions, Inc. (“World Energy” or the “Company”) offers a range of energy management solutions to
commercial and industrial businesses, institutions, utilities, and governments to reduce their overall energy costs. The Company
comes to market with a holistic approach to energy management helping customers a) contract for the lowest price for energy, b)
engage in energy efficiency projects to minimize quantity used and ¢) maximize available rebate and incentive programs. The
Company made its mark on the industry with an innovative approach to procurement via its state-of-the-art online auction
platforms, the World Energy Exchange®, the World Green Exchange® and the World DR Exchange®. With recent investments
and acquisitions, World Energy is building out its energy efficiency practice - offering technology-enabled solutions such as
online audits of facilities to identify retrofit options and project management services for retrofit implementation, believing this
practice will also enable more cross-selling opportunities for commodity auctions. The Company is also taking its suite of
solutions to the rapidly growing small- and medium-sized customer markets.

World Energy provides energy management services utilizing state-of-the-art technology and the experience of a
seasoned team to bring lower energy costs to its customers. The Company uses a simple equation

E=P*Q-i

to help customers understand the holistic nature of the energy management problem. Total energy cost (E) is a function of Energy
Price (P) times the Quantity of Energy Consumed (Q), minus any rebates or incentives (i) the customer can earn. This approach
not only makes energy management more approachable for customers, simplifying what has become an increasingly dynamic and
complex problem, it also highlights the inter-related nature of the energy management challenge. The Company asserts that point
solution vendors may optimize one of the three elements, but it takes looking at the problem holistically to unlock the most
savings.

In April 2010, we filed an S-3 registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, using a “shelf”
registration, or continuous offering, process. Under this shelf registration process, we may, from time to time, issue and sell any
combination of preferred stock, common stock or warrants, either separately or in units, in one or more offerings with a maximum
aggregate offering price of $20,000,000, including the U.S. dollar equivalent if the public offering of any such securities is
denominated in one or more foreign currencies, foreign currency units or composite currencies. In April 2011 we issued 1.5
million shares of common stock utilizing this shelf registration to several accredited institutional investors at $3.60 per share,
yielding net proceeds of approximately $5.3 million. We intend to use this shelf registration for future offerings when prices and
equity markets are beneficial to us.

The net proceeds raised to date were applied in the third and fourth quarters of 2011 to make three acquisitions. We purchased
the book of energy contracts from Co-eXprise, Inc., expanding our customer base in the auction market, particularly in the
government space. We acquired the assets and certain liabilities of Northeast Energy Solutions, LLC, a small efficiency shop
based in Connecticut. Finally we acquired the assets and certain liabilities of GSE Consulting, LP, a mid-market broker
principally serving the Texas market. These acquisitions strengthen our leadership position in energy auctions, supplement our
emerging expansion efforts into the efficiency space, and provide us with strong base in the growing small- and medium-sized
customer marketplaces of the energy brokerage industry.

The Retail Energy Industry
Retail Electricity Deregulation

The electricity industry in the United States is governed by both federal and state laws and regulations, with the federal
government having jurisdiction over the sale and transmission of electricity at the wholesale level in interstate commerce, and the
states having jurisdiction over the sale and distribution of electricity at the retail level.

The federal government regulates the electricity wholesale and transmission business through the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission, or FERC, which draws its jurisdiction from the Federal Power Act, and from other legislation such as the Public
Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978, the Energy Policy Act of 1992, and the Energy Policy Act of 2005, or EPA 2005. FERC
has comprehensive and plenary jurisdiction over the rates and terms for sales of power at wholesale, and over the organization,
governance and financing of the companies engaged in such sales. States regulate the sale of electricity at the retail level within
their respective jurisdictions, in accordance with individual state laws which can vary widely in material respects. Restructuring of
the retail electricity industry in the United States began in the mid-1990s, when certain state legislatures restructured their
electricity markets to create competitive markets that enable energy consumers to purchase electricity from competitive energy
suppliers.

World Energy
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Prior to the restructuring of the retail electricity industry, the electricity market structure in the United States consisted of
vertically integrated utilities which had a near monopoly over the generation, transmission and distribution of electricity to retail
energy consumers. In states that have embraced electricity restructuring, the generation component (i.e., the source of the
electricity) has become more competitive while the energy delivery functions of transmission and distribution remain as
monopoly services provided by the incumbent local utility and subject to comprehensive rate regulation. In other words, in these
states, certain retail energy consumers (specifically, those served by investor-owned utilities and not by municipal power
companies or rural power cooperatives) can choose their electricity supplier but must still rely upon their local utility to deliver
that electricity to their home or place of business.

The structure and, ultimately, the success level of industry restructuring has been determined on a state by state basis. There
have been three general models for electricity industry restructuring: (i) delayed competition, (ii) phased-in competition, and
(iii) full competition. The delayed competition model consists of the state passing legislation authorizing competitive retail
electricity markets (i.e., customer choice of electric energy supplier), however, no action is taken by the state regulatory authority
charged with utility industry oversight within such state to change the incumbent utility rates for electric energy to encourage
competition. The phased-in competition model consists of the state passing legislation authorizing competitive retail electricity
markets together with a gradual change of the incumbent utility’s retail electric rates to encourage the competitive supply of
electricity over time. The full competition model consists of the state passing legislation authorizing competitive retail electricity
markets together with an immediate change to the incumbent local utilities’ retail electric rates that results in the whole
commercial, industrial and government, or CIG, electricity market in such state being competitive immediately.

Energy consumers who choose to switch electricity suppliers can either do it themselves by contacting competitive energy
suppliers directly, or indirectly, by engaging aggregators, brokers or consultants, collectively referred to as ABCs, to assist them
with their electricity procurement.

Energy Suppliers: These entities take title to power and resell it directly to energy consumers. These are typically well-funded
entities, which service both energy consumers directly and also work with ABCs, to contract with energy consumers. Presently,
we estimate there are over 150 competitive suppliers, several of which operate on a national level and are registered in nearly all
of the 16 states and the District of Columbia that permit CIG energy consumers to choose their electricity supplier and have
deregulated pricing to create competitive markets. Of the 16 deregulated states, 13 have fully viable competitive markets.

Aggregators, Brokers and Consultants: ABCs facilitate transactions by having competitive energy suppliers compete against
each other in an effort to get their energy customers the lowest price. This group generally uses manual request for proposal, or
RFP, processes that are labor intensive, relying on phone, fax and email solicitations. We believe that the online RFP process is
superior to the traditional paper-based RFP process as it involves a larger number of energy suppliers, can accommodate a larger
number of bids within a shorter time span, and allows for a larger amount of contract variations including various year terms,
territories and energy usage patterns.

Online Brokers: Online brokers are a subset of the ABCs. These entities use online platforms to run electronic RFP processes
in an effort to secure the lowest prices for their energy customers by having competitors bid against one another. We believe that
we are among the pioneering companies brokering electricity online and we are not aware of any competitor that has brokered
more electricity online than we have.

Retail Natural Gas

The natural gas industry in the United States is governed by both federal and state laws and regulations, with the federal
government having jurisdiction over the transmission of natural gas in interstate commerce, and the states having jurisdiction over
the sale and distribution at the retail level.

The federal government regulates the natural gas transmission business through FERC which draws its jurisdiction from the
Natural Gas Act, and from other legislation such as the EPA 2005. FERC has comprehensive and plenary jurisdiction over the
rates and terms for transmission of gas in interstate commerce, and over the organization, governance and financing of the
companies engaged in such transmission. States regulate the distribution and sale of gas at the retail level within their respective
Jjurisdictions, in accordance with individual state laws which can vary widely in material respects.

The natural gas market in the United States is deregulated in most states and offers retail energy consumers access to their
choice of natural gas commodity supplier.

Following a period of heavy regulation, the gas industry was deregulated in three phases as a result of legislation enacted in
1978 followed by multiple orders of FERC. The expected result of this deregulation was to stimulate competition in the natural
gas industry down the pipeline to the distribution level.

At the retail level, reforms and restructuring have taken place on a state by state basis, with varying nuances to the restructuring
in different states. For example, state commissions have allowed local distribution companies to offer unbundled transportation
service to large customers; occasionally to provide flexible pricing in competitive markets; and to engage in other competitive
activities.

2 World Energy Annual report 2011



Today, we estimate that utilities in over 40 states permit retail natural gas consumers to choose their natural gas commodity
suppliers. In most instances, the local distribution utility still delivers the commodity to the consumers’ premises, even if a
different supplier is selected to provide the commodity. The level of competitive choice available to retail CIG energy consumers
has increased, with a wide range of products and a significant number of suppliers participating in both retail and wholesale
transactions.

Demand Response

The electric power industry in North America faces enormous challenges to keep pace with the expected increase in demand for
electricity and to manage the increased amount of intermittent renewable energy resources that are expected to be connected to the
power grid in the future. Because electricity cannot be economically stored using commercially available technology today, it
must be generated, delivered and consumed at the moment that it is needed by end-use customers. Maintaining a reliable electric
power grid therefore requires real-time balancing between supply and demand. Power generation, transmission and distribution
facilities are built to capacity levels that can service the maximum amount of anticipated demand plus a reserve margin intended
to serve as a buffer to protect the system in critical periods of peak demand or unexpected events such as failure of a power plant
or major transmission line. However, under-investment in generation, transmission and distribution infrastructure in recent years
in key regions, coupled with a dramatic growth in electricity consumption over that same time period, has led to an increased
frequency of voltage reductions—commonly known as brownouts—and blackouts, and periodically prevents the transport of
power to constrained areas during periods of peak demand, which can affect reliability and cause significant economic impacts.

As the electric power industry confronts these challenges, demand response (DR) has emerged as an important solution to help
address the imbalance in electric supply and demand. For example, the EPA 2005 declared it the official policy of the United
States to encourage demand response and the adoption of devices that enable it. In addition, the Energy Independence and
Security Act of 2007 ordered the FERC to conduct a nationwide assessment of demand response potential and create a national
action plan to promote demand response at the federal level and support individual states in their own demand response initiatives.

Our customers in the DR market are energy consumers that agree to curtail their electricity consumption when requested by
Regional Transmission Organizations (“RTOs”) or Independent System Operators (“ISOs”) during times of peak demand. We
bring together these energy consumers with Curtailment Service Providers (“CSPs”) to auction off the energy consumers capacity.
CSPs compete against each in a forward auction, bidding up the percentage of the demand response revenue that the energy
consumer will receive from a specific DR program.

Energy Efficiency

There is an increasing emphasis on energy efficiency as an important aspect of national energy policy, smart grid solutions and
facility management best practices. For example, the White House estimates that commercial buildings consumed roughly 20
percent of all energy in the U.S. in 2010. Additionally Pike Research, a leading industry analyst firm, estimates that if all
commercial buildings underwent efficiency retrofits (noting that 80% of all commercial buildings are more than 10 years old), the
payout would be on the order of $41.1 billion each year. -

Large drivers of the overall efficiency market include the national Better Buildings initiative, which aims for 20% efficiency
gains in commercial buildings by 2020 through cost-effective upgrades, and New York City’s Greener, Greater Buildings Plan
aimed at reducing energy consumption by existing buildings, which account for 70-80% of the City’s total greenhouse gas
emissions.

Several utilities offer incentive programs that encourage efficiency as well. These programs collect an efficiency surcharge
from each customer in their territories, and then provide rebate programs that offset the costs of approved energy retrofits for
lighting, mechanical and HVAC systems.

With our recent investments, extensive basc of federal and state government clients, growing footprint in the commercial
property space, and large channel partner network that includes leading energy service companies, we expanded our presence in
the energy efficiency market with our acquisition of Northeast Energy Solutions, LLC (“NES”) in October 2011. NES focuses on
turn-key electrical and mechanical energy efficiency measures serving commercial, industrial and institutional customers.

Wholesale Energy

The wholesale electricity market is the competitive market that connects generators (sellers) with utilities, electricity retailers
and intermediaries (buyers) who purchase electricity to re-sell on the retail market. We estimate that total wholesale purchases of
electric power in 2011 was over 4.1 billion MWh. Natural gas is an important input fuel for generators, and U.S. consumption of
natural gas in 2010 exceeded 24 trillion cubic feet.

The U.S. wholesale electricity market emerged in the late 1970s when independent power producers, or IPPs, and other non-
utilities entered the electricity generation market, although the market was restricted until the early 1990s when competitive
constraints were removed. These new generation entities began to compete directly with traditional utilities and offered customers
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more than one choice to obtain electricity. Today, participants in the wholesale market include IPPs, traditional utilities, and
intermediary power marketers. In addition, banks, traders, and brokers participate in the wholesale market.

IPPs and traditional utilities comprise the generation portion of the wholesale market. Many employ internal sales forces to
assist in the sale and distribution of their power, enabling them to participate as both buyers and sellers within the wholesale
market. However, a growing number of IPPs and utilities have found it easier and more cost effective to sell their generation
through power marketing services, which has contributed to the power marketers’ increased role within the market. Power
marketers utilize several different platforms to purchase power from generators for distribution, which include paper RFPs, phone
brokerage, electronic exchanges and auctions.

Our customers in the wholesale market can be either buyers or sellers and can include utilities and municipal utilities that buy
power or natural gas to fill in gaps in their portfolios or to consume in their generation facilities, and retail marketers who buy
natural gas and power to resell to retail customers. If the customer is a buyer, we will run a reverse (descending price) auction to
secure a lower price. If the customer is a seller, we will run a forward (ascending price) auction to secure a higher price.

Environmental Commodities

Concerns about global warming have spawned a number of initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The most widely
adopted of these initiatives is the Kyoto Protocol pursuant to which many countries in Europe, Asia and elsewhere have created
carbon cap and trade systems. In carbon cap and trade programs, carbon dioxide emission caps are established and producers of
these emissions can buy or sell credits in order to meet their required allocations. While the United States did not ratify the Kyoto
Protocol, there are a number of initiatives in the U.S. at the regional, state and local levels aimed at limiting greenhouse gas
emissions, the most robust of which is the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (“RGGI”)..

In August 2008, we were awarded a two-year contract with RGGI, subsequently extended for an additional two-year period,
which is the first mandatory, market based effort in the United States to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. RGGI selected our
World Green Exchange® to sell allowances for the emitting of carbon dioxide emissions from the power sector. In accordance
with this contract the Company has conducted quarterly auctions for RGGI over a three-and-half-year period and will conduct
additional quarterly auctions through July 2012. We successfully completed fourteen quarterly auctions for RGGI through
December 31, 2011.

Company Strategy and Operations
Overview

World Energy offers a range of energy management solutions to commercial and industrial businesses, institutions, utilities,
and governments to reduce their overall energy costs. The Company comes to market with a holistic approach to energy
management helping customers 2) contract for the lowest price for energy, b) engage in energy efficiency projects to minimize
quantity used and c) maximize available rebate and incentive programs. The Company made its mark on the industry with an
innovative approach to procurement via its state-of-the-art online auction platforms, the World Energy Exchange®, the World
Green Exchange® and the World DR Exchange®. With recent investments and acquisitions, World Energy is building out its
energy efficiency practice - offering technology-enabled solutions such as online audits of facilities to identify retrofit options and
project management services for retrofit implementation, believing this practice will also enable more cross-selling opportunities
for commodity auctions. The Company is also taking its suite of solutions to the growing smail- and medium-sized customer
marketplaces.

World Energy provides energy management services utilizing state-of-the-art technology and the experience of a seasoned
management team to bring lower energy costs to its customers. The company uses a simple equation

E = P*Q-i

to help customers to understand the holistic nature of the energy management problem. Total energy cost (E) is a function of
Energy Price (P) times the Quantity of Energy Consumed (Q), minus any rebates or incentives (i) the customer can earn. This
approach not only makes energy management more approachable for customers, simplifying what has become an increasingly
dynamic and complex problem, it also highlights the inter-related nature of the energy management challenge. The Company
asserts that point solution vendors may optimize one of the three elements, but it takes looking at the problem holistically to
unlock the most savings. We help customers optimize this equation by applying the Seven Levers of Energy Management™ -
Planning, Sourcing, Risk Management, Efficiency, Sustainability, Incentives and Monitoring.

These Seven Levers are supported by state of the art technology developed or licensed by the Company. We have developed
three online auction platforms, the World Energy Exchange®, the World Green Exchange® and, most recently, the World DR
Exchange®. On the World Energy Exchange® energy consumers in North America are able to negotiate for the purchase or sale
of electricity, natural gas and other energy resources from competing energy suppliers which have agreed to participate on our
auction platform in a given event. On the World Green Exchange®, buyers and sellers negotiate for the purchase or sale of
environmental commodities such as Renewal Energy Certificates (RECs), Verified Emissions Reductions (VERs) and Certified
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Emissions Reductions (CERs). On the World DR Exchange®, CSPs and energy consumers are brought together in highly-
structured auction events designed to yield price transparency, heighten competition, and maximize the energy consumers’ share
of demand response revenues.

We bring bidders and listers together in our online marketplaces, often with the assistance of our channel partners, who identify
and work with customers to consummate transactions. Qur exchanges are comprised of a series of software modules that
automate our comprehensive procurement process including:

* energy and environmental commodities sourcing management — a database of suppliers and contacts;

« lead management — a module to track prospective customers through the sales process;

* deal and task management — a module to list, assign and track steps to complete a procurement successfully;

market intelligence — databases of information related to market rules and pricing trends for markets;

request for proposal, or RFP, development — a module to create RFPs with a variety of terms and parameters;

conducting auctions — underlying software to manage the bidding and timing of an auction and display the results;

portfolio management — a database of contracts, sites, accounts and usage;

risk management — monitoring, triggering and messaging tools;

commission reporting — a system to display forecasted and actual commissions due to channel partners; and

receivables management — a system to upload data received from suppliers and track payment receipt.

Our technology-based solution is attractive to channel partners as it provides them with a business automation platform to
enhance their growth, profitability and customer satisfaction. Channel partners are important to our business because these entities
offer our auction platforms to enhance their service offerings to their customers. By accessing our market intelligence and
automated auction platform, channel partners significantly contribute to our transaction volume, and in return we pay them a fixed
percentage of the revenue we receive from winning bidders (i.e., energy suppliers and other buyers). This third party commission
structure is negotiated in advance within the channel partner agreement based on a number of factors, including expected volume,
effort required in the auction process and competitive factors.

As a requirement to bid in an auction (which is described in greater detail below), bidders must enter into an agreement to pay
our fee if they execute a contract as a result of the auction. Following an auction event, our employees continue to work with the
energy consumer and other listers or collectively, the customer, and bidder through the contract negotiation' process and,
accordingly, we are aware of whether a contract between the customer and bidder is consummated. If a contract is entered into
between a customer and bidder using our auction platforms, we are compensated based upon a fixed fee, or commission rate, that
is built into the price of the commodity. This approach is attractive to both the customer and bidder as there is no fee charged to
either party if the brokering process does not result in a contract. Our fees are based on the total amount of the commodity
transacted between the customer and bidder multiplied by our contractual commission rate. We have master agreements with our
bidders, whereby bidders are allowed to bid on customer requirements in exchange for agreeing to pay the fee that we have
negotiated with the customer. In order to participate in any specific auction, bidders are required to acknowledge and agree to our
fee on our online platform prior to participating in that auction.

Retail Electricity Transactions

For retail electricity transactions, monthly revenue is based on actual usage data obtained from the energy supplier for a given
month or, to the extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity delivered to the energy
consumer for that month. While the number of contracts closed via the World Energy Exchange® in any given period can
fluctuate widely due to a number of factors, this revenue recognition method provides for a relatively predictable revenue stream,
as revenue is based on energy consumers’ actual historical energy usage profile. However, monthly revenue can still vary from
our expectations because usage is affected by a number of variables which cannot always be accurately predicted, such as the
weather and the general business conditions affecting our energy consumers.

Contracts between energy consumers and energy suppliers are signed for a variety of term lengths, with a one-year contract
term being typical for commercial and industrial energy consumers, and government contracts typically having two to three year,
and occasionally five-year terms. Backlog relates to contracts in force on a given date representing transactions between bidders
and listers on our platform related to commodity brokerage assuming listers consume energy at their historical levels or deliver
credits at expected levels. The chart below displays our annualized and total backlog from year-end 2007 through 2011. Total
backlog represents the revenue that we would derive over the remaining life of those contracts. Annualized backlog represents the
revenue that we would derive from those contracts within the twelve months following the date on which the backlog is
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calculated. For any particular contract, annualized backlog is calculated by multiplying the energy consumer’s historical usage by
our fixed contractual commission rate. This metric is not intended as an estimate of overall future revenues, since it does not
purport to include revenues that may be earned during the relevant backlog period from new contracts or renewals of contracts
that expire during such period. In addition, annualized backlog does not represent guaranteed future revenues, and to the extent
actual usage under a particular contract varies from historical usage, our revenues under such contract will differ from the amount
included in backlog.

In addition to retail electricity contracts, we have ongoing contractual arrangements with retail natural gas customers under
which we deliver certain energy management and auction administration services for which we receive a monthly fee. Total and
annualized backlog as at December 31, 2011 includes monthly management fees related to natural gas contracts of $1.0 million
that have expected revenue associated with them from January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2012. These contracts can be
terminated within 30 days notice per the terms of the contracts and, therefore, backlog does not include any revenue from
expected contract renewals or expected fees beyond December 31, 2012,

Annualized Backlog
(in millions)

$19.3

$13.9

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Total Backlog
(in millions)

$34.9

$26.2

$22.1

$12.1

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
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Because the calculation of backlog is a calculation of a contracted commission rate multiplied by a historical energy usage
figure and our management contracts are cancelable by our natural gas customers, our backlog may not necessarily be indicative
of future results. Annualized backlog should not be viewed in isolation or as a substitute for our historical revenues presented in
the financial statements included in this Form 10-K. Events that may cause future revenues from contracts in force to differ
materially from our annualized backlog include the events that may affect energy usage, such as overall business activity levels,
changes in energy consumers’ businesses, weather patterns and other factors described under “Risk Factors”. The Company also
recognizes revenue from certain mid-market transactions as cash is received from the energy supplier.

Retail Natural Gas Transactions

There are two primary fee components to our retail natural gas services - transaction fees and management fees. Transaction
fees are billed to and paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform. Transaction fees for natural gas and electricity
awards are established prior to award and are the same for each supplier. For the majority of our natural gas transactions, we
invoice the supplier upon the conclusion of the transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire award
term multiplied by the transaction fee. Management fees are paid by our energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly
basis for services rendered based on terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements. While substantially all of our
retail natural gas transactions are accounted for in accordance with this policy, a certain percentage is accounted for as the natural
gas is consumed by the customer.

Demand Response Transactions

Demand response transaction fees are recognized when we have received confirmation from the CSP that the energy consumer
has performed under the applicable RTO or ISO program requirements. The energy consumer is either called to perform during an
actual curtailment event or is required to demonstrate its ability to perform in a test event during the performance period. For the
PJM Interconnection (“PJM”), an RTO that coordinates the movement of wholesale electricity in all or parts of 13 states and the
District of Columbia, the performance period is June through September in a calendar year. Test results are submitted to PJM by
the CSPs and we receive confirmation of the energy consumers’ performance in the fourth quarter. CSPs typically pay us ratably
on a quarterly basis throughout the demand response fiscal (June to May) year. As a result, a portion of the revenue we recognize
is reflected as unbilled accounts receivable.

Wholesale Transactions

Wholesale transaction fees are invoiced upon the conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied to
future energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where our customers bid
for a consumer’s business, the fees are paid by the bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy, the fees are
typically paid by the lister. While substantially all wholesale transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small percentage of
our wholesale revenue is accounted for as the electricity or gas is delivered.

Environmental Commodity Transactions

Environmental commodity transaction fees are accounted for utilizing two primary methods. For regulated allowance programs
like RGGI, fees are paid by the lister and are recognized as revenue quarterly as auctions are completed and approved. For all
other environmental commodity transactions both the lister and the bidder pay a transaction fee and revenue is recognized upon
the consummation of the underlying transaction as credits are delivered by the lister and payment is made by the bidder.

Energy Efficiency Services

The Company generally recognizes revenues for energy efficiency services when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Due to the short-term nature of
projects (typically two to three weeks), the Company utilizes the completed-contract method. Revenues are recognized based
upon factors such as passage of title, installation, payments and customer acceptance.

The Brokerage Process

Our brokerage process is supported by a variety of modules designed with the goal to find the best possible price while
providing step-by-step process management and detailed documentation prior to, during and following the auction. Our process
includes data collection and analysis, establishing the benchmark price, conducting multiple auction events to enable testing of
various term and price combinations and assisting in contract completion. We create an audit trail of all the steps taken in a given
transaction. Specific web pages track all information provided to energy suppliers including energy supplier calls, supplier
invitations, usage profiles and desired contract parameters.

At the commencement of the process, non-gdvemment energy consumers will enter into a procurement services agreement
with us pursuant to which we are appointed as the brokerage service provider to solicit and obtain bids for the supply of energy or
environmental commodities and to assist in the procurement of these commodities. Government energy consumers will send out a
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solicitation at the commencement of the brokerage process which sets out the contract terms. Only bidders that are qualified under
the solicitation may participate in the auction. Bidders who wish to bid on the provision of energy or environmental commodities
to such customers must partake in our brokerage process and cannot contract with customers outside of our brokerage process.

For retail energy, the procurement services agreement authorizes us to retrieve the energy consumer’s energy usage history
from the utility serving its accounts. We utilize the usage history to identify and analyze the energy consumer’s energy needs and
to run a rate and tariff model which calculates the utility rate for that energy consumer’s facilities. This price is used as a
benchmark price to beat for the auction event. For other customers or commodities, the benchmark price may be negotiated or
calculated in another manner.

Prior to conducting the auction, the auction parameters, including target price, supplier preferences, contract terms, payment
terms and product mix, as applicable, are discussed with the customer and agreed upon. Approximately two to five days prior to
the auction, we will post RFPs with these auction parameters on our World Energy Exchange®, World DR Exchange® or World
Green Exchange® and alert the potential bidders. Additionally, bidders are provided with information about the customer,
historical energy usage information relating to the energy consumer’s facilities (if retail customers), and the desired contract
parameters, several days in advance of the auction as part of the RFP. This advanced notice gives the bidders the opportunity to
analyze the value of a potential deal and the creditworthiness of the customer. We believe that, using this information along with
the auction parameters described in the RFP, the bidders develop a bidding strategy for the auction.

The auction is run on the World Energy Exchange®, World DR Exchange® or the World Green Exchange®, depending on the
commodity auctioned. The auction creates a competitive bidding environment that is designed to cause bidders to deliver better
prices in response to other competitive bids. Specifically, bidders enter an auction by submitting an opening bid at or better than
the suggested opening bid posted on the RFP. After they enter the auction and assess the bidding activity, bidders may begin
testing the competition by submitting a bid better than the then-leading bid. They do this presumably to test their pricing and to
gauge the relative level of competition for the deal. There is typically a modest level of bidding and counter-bidding activity
among bidders until the final 30 seconds of the auction when bidding activity tends to increase. In the final seconds, all bidders
see the then-leading bid and must make a judgment as to how aggressively to submit their last bid in order to win the deal. At this
point in the auction, bidders make their final bid without knowledge of what any other bidders are bidding. We call this a final
“blind” bid.

Typically, a number of auctions tailored to the customer’s specific needs will be held. Our exchanges provide rapid results and
can accommodate a multitude of permutations for offers, including various year terms, quantities, load factors and green power
requirements. For commercial and industrial customers or project owners, we typically run two to six auction events per
procurement and for large government aggregations that generally are more complex, we typically run 20 to 40 auction events.
Each auction event usually lasts 15 minutes or less. Included as part of any auction transaction are date and time stamping of bids,
comparison of each bid with benchmark prices, as well as automated stop times, which ensure the integrity of auction events. The
exchanges are also periodically synchronized to the atomic clock which is intended to ensure that auction start and stop times are
precise.

Following an auction, the auction results are anatyzed and if the auction has been successful, we assist the customer with the
contracting process with the winning bidder which is typically finalized within one hour of the closing of the last auction event. In
the case of a commercial energy consumer, we facilitate any remaining discussion between the leading energy supplier and the
energy consumer relating to the energy supplier’s contract terms that were not addressed in establishing the auction parameters. In
the case of government energy consumers, the energy suppliers have seen and, in general, have agreed to the form of supply
contract being required by the government energy consumer. Accordingly, the time period between the end of the auction and the
execution of a contract is usually shorter than in the case of non-government energy consumers. Not all auctions result in awarded
contracts.

For retail energy transactions, the incumbent local utility serving a given location is typically obligated to deliver the
commodity to the customer’s premises from the location where the supplier delivers electricity energy into that local utility’s
delivery system. However, the energy supplier is responsible for enrolling the energy consumer’s account with the applicable
local utility and the energy supplier remains liable for any costs resulting from the physical loss of energy during transmission and
delivery to the customer’s premises. We never buy, sell or take title to the energy products or environmental commodities on our
auction platforms.

We typically interface directly with the customer throughout the brokerage process. However, if a channel partner is involved,
the channel partner will often perform one or more of the following functions: working with a customer to sign a procurement
services agreement, interacting with the customer relating to World Energy analyses, supporting the decision-making, and
interfacing with the customer during the contracting process. However, even if a channel partner is involved, we are still primarily
responsible for tasks such as interacting with utilities to obtain an energy consumer’s usage history, performing analyses, creating
RFPs, interfacing with bidders, and scheduling, conducting and monitoring auctions and collecting the commission earned from
the bidder.
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Growth Strategy

Our overall objective is to leverage our preeminent position as the exchange of choice for executing transactions in energy,
energy related services and environmental commodities to be a leader in the energy management space.

We seek to achieve our objective by expanding our community of channel partners, customers and bidders on our exchange,
strengthening and expanding long-term relationships with government agencies, broadening our product offerings, making
strategic acquisitions, and growing our sales force. Key elements of our strategy are as follows:

Leveraging New Products such as Demand Response, Risk Management and Efficiency. We continue to expand our offerings
either organically (World DR Exchange) or via acquisition (risk management via Energy Gateway and efficiency via Northeast
Energy Solutions), and sell them to new prospects or existing customers via our sales force and channel network.

Continuing to Develop Channel Partner Relationships. A significant amount of the customers using our auction platforms
have been introduced to us through our channel partners. Our plan is to focus on developing and increasing our number of channel
partner relationships in an effort to expand the base of customers using our auction platforms. We have consistently increased the
number of channel partners since 2007 from 42 to 187 at December 31, 2011.

Strengthening and Expanding Long-term Relationships with Government Agencies. We intend to continue to build on the
relationships we have established with federal, state and local government agencies. We expect that our expertise in brokering
cost-saving energy contracts for government agencies will continue to be in demand as contract terms expire and governments
look to contract for low energy prices in a competitive market.

Expand our Share in the Natural Gas Market. While our core competence has traditionally been in electricity brokerage for
retail energy consumers, we significantly expanded our share of the natural gas market with our 2007 acquisition of
EnergyGateway, LLC. This acquisition provided us with additional staff, natural gas expertise and a post-and-respond software
solution to add to our auction capability. We expect this combination to continue to strengthen our natural gas offering and
present cross-selling opportunities.

Continue to expand in the Wholesale Market. An important rationale for our initial public offering was to enter the wholesale
market where we had initial success in 2006. We have grown our customer base from 12 in 2007 to 81 as of December 31, 2011,
of which forty-nine have contributed to revenue to date.

Push into the Mid-Market: We sec the mid-market as being a viable growth opportunity, and with our acquisition of GSE
Consulting we added a base of expertise that can enable us to take their Texas footprint and expand it nationally.

Making Strategic Acquisitions. From time to time, we also pursue strategic acquisitions to help us expand geographically, add
expertise and product depth, provide accretive revenue and profit streams or a combination of two or more of the above. We
believe with our public currency and automated systems that we are a logical entity to roll up the industry.

Bidders, Listers and Channel Partners

Bidders. Our success is heavily dependent on our bidder relationships, the credibility of our bidders and the integrity of the
auction process. Bidders include over 280 competitive electricity and natural gas suppliers and over 190 wholesale electricity
suppliers registered on the World Energy Exchange®, representing a majority of all suppliers in the deregulated electricity and
natural gas markets. To date, there are over 150 registered bidders on the World Green Exchange®. Of the registered energy
suppliers, approximately 160 had active contracts with energy consumers that were brokered through our World Energy
Exchange® as of December 31, 2011. Two of these bidders accounted for 23% and 22% in the aggregate of our revenue for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. In order to participate in an auction event, bidders must register with us
by either entering into a standard-form agreement pursuant to which the bidder is granted a license to access our auction platform
and bid at auction events or by qualifying to participate in an auction pursuant to a government solicitation. Our national standard
form agreement is typically for an indefinite term, may be terminated by either party upon 30 days prior written notice, is non-
exclusive, non-transferable and cannot be sublicensed. Under our standard-form agreement or the government solicitation, the
bidder agrees to pay us a commission, which varies from contract to contract and is based on a set rate per energy unit consumed
by the lister.

Listers. Listers using our auction platform to procure energy, demand response and environmental commodities include
government agencies, commercial and industrial energy consumers, utilities, municipal utilities, environmental commodity project
owners, financial institutions and brokers. Government energy consumers have complex energy needs in terms of both scope and
scale, which we believe can best be met with a technology-based solution such as our exchanges. Additionally, the automated
nature of our exchanges is designed to support protest free auctions. We have brokered energy for the General Services
Administration (“GSA”) and over 25 federal agencies, and numerous county and state governments including the 10 Northeast
and Mid-Atlantic states participating in RGGI.

Our contracts for the online energy procurements with these governmental entities are typically for multiple years ranging from
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two to five years. During this contractual period, the governmental entity may run various auctions for different locations or
agencies that fall under their purview. As a result, revenue from these customers could extend beyond the actual contractual term.
As additional states open their electricity markets to competition and suppliers enter those markets creating a competitive
landscape, we plan to actively market our services to them. These contracts do not require that the government energy consumer
use our services and, as is typical in government procurements, contain termination for convenience and fiscal funding clauses. If
a contract was terminated for convenience, it would typically not have any bearing on energy delivered through the termination
date.

None of the energy consumers using our auction platform accounted for 10% or more of our aggregate revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Direct Sales. Retail targets of direct sales efforts are typically large companies with facilities in many geographic locations
including hotel chains, property management firms, big box retailers, supermarkets, department stores, drug stores, convenience
stores, restaurant chains, financial services firms and manufacturers across various industries. We also are pursuing utilities,
municipal utilities, and retail energy providers in the wholesale market, and project owners, customers seeking to meet
compliance obligations, and brokers in the environmental commodities markets.

Channel Partners. We also target customers through our channel partner model. These are firms with existing client
relationships with certain customers that would benefit from the addition of an online procurement solution. Channel partners
consist of a diverse array of companies including energy service companies, demand side consultants and manufacturers, ABCs
and strategic sourcing companies, but in the most general terms they are resellers or distributors. As of December 31, 2011, we
had entered into agreements with 187 channel partners that are currently engaged in efforts to source potential transactions to our
exchanges, although not all have sourced a transaction for which an auction has been completed. Upon identifying opportunities
with new channel partners, we enter into a channel partner agreement that grants the channel partner a non-exclusive right to sell
our procurement process typically for a term of one year, which renews automatically unless terminated upon 30 days written
notice. The channel partner receives a commission based generally on the amount of involvement of the channel partner in the
procurement process.

Competition

Customers have a broad array of options when purchasing energy or environmental commodities. Retail energy consumers can
either purchase energy directly from the utility at the utility’s rate or purchase energy in the deregulated market through one of the
following types of entities: competitive energy suppliers, ABCs and online brokers. We compete with competitive energy
suppliers, ABCs and other online brokers for energy consumers that are seeking an alternative to purchasing directly from the
utility. Demand response customers typically negotiate demand response services directly with CSPs. Wholesale customers
typically buy from generators, traders, traditional brokers who use phone-based methods, or bid-ask exchanges. Environmental
commodity customers typically buy or sell directly through bilateral transactions, brokers, traders or bid-ask exchanges. Energy
Efficiency Services customers typically use small to medium size lighting companies for their lighting efficiency measure. These
lighting companies outsource any mechanical efficiency measures to small heating, ventilation, air condition (HVAC) contractors.

Technology

The auction platform that powers our exchanges is comprised of a scalable transaction processing architecture and web-based
user interface. The auction platform is primarily based on internally developed proprietary software, but also includes third party
components for user interface elements and reporting. The auction platform supports the selling and buying processes including
bid placements, bidder registration and management, channel partner management, deal process management, contract
management, site management, collection and commission management, and reporting. The auction platform maintains current
and historical data online for all of these components.

Our technology systems are monitored and upgraded as necessary to accommodate increasing levels of traffic and transaction
volume on the website. However, future upgrades or additional technology licensing may be required to ensure optimal
performance of our auction platform services. See “Risk Factors” at Item 1A. To provide maximum uptime and system
availability, our auction platform is hosted in a multi-tiered, secure, and reliable fault tolerant environment which includes backup
power supply to computer equipment, climate control, as well as physical security to the building and data center. In the event of a
major system component failure, such as a system motherboard, spare servers are available.

We strive to offer a high level of data security in order to build the confidence in our services among customers and to protect
the participants’ private information. Our security infrastructure has been designed to protect data from unauthorized access, both
physically and over the Internet. The most sensitive data and hardware of the exchanges reside at the data centers.

Seasonality
Our revenue is subject to seasonality and fluctuations during the year primarily as a result of weather conditions and its impact

on the demand for energy. The majority of our revenue is generated from the commissions we receive under any given energy
contract, which is tied to the energy consumer’s consumption of energy. Therefore, revenue from natural gas consumption tends
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to be strongest during the winter months due to the increase in heating usage, and revenue from electricity consumption tends to
be strongest during the summer months due to the increase in air conditioning usage. Our revenue is also subject to fluctuations
within any given season, depending on the severity of weather conditions — during a particularly cold winter or an unseasonably
warm summer, energy consumption will rise. In addition, transaction revenue in the natural gas and wholesale markets for which
we invoice upon completion of the respective transaction tends to be higher in the first and fourth quarters when utilities and
natural gas customers make their annual natural gas buys.

Intellectual Propérty

We enter into confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements with third parties with whom we conduct business in order to limit
access to and disclosure of our proprietary information.

We operate our platform under the trade names “World Energy Exchange®” and “World Green Exchange®”. We own the
following registered trademarks in the United States: World Energy Solutions®, World Green Exchange®, World DR Exchange®
and World Energy Exchange®. We also own the following domain names: worldenergy.com, wesplatform.com, wexch.com,
worldenergyexchange.com,  echoicenet.com,  e-choicenet.com,  worldenergysolutions.com,  worldenergysolutions.net,
worldenergy.biz, worldgreenexchange.com, worldgreenexchange.biz, worldgreenexchange.info, worldgreenexchange.us,
worldpowerexchange.com, and worldenergysolutionsinc.com. To protect our intellectual property, we rely on a combination of
copyright and trade secret laws and the domain name dispute resolution system.

Our corporate name and certain of our trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for example, they are generic or in use
by another party. We may be unable to prevent competitors from using trade names or corporate names that are confusingly
similar or identical to ours.

We do not have any patents and if we are unable to protect our copyrights, trade secrets or domain names, our business could
be adversely affected. Others may claim in the future that we have infringed their intellectual property rights.

Personnel

As of December 31, 2011, we had eighty-two employees consisting of three members of senior management, forty sales and
marketing employees, two information technology employees, twenty-nine supply desk employees and eight administrative
employees. In addition, we rely on a number of consultants and other advisors. The extent and timing of any increase in staffing
will depend on the availability of qualified personnel and other developments in our business. None of the employees are
represented by a labor union, and we believe that we have good relationships with our employees.

Company Information

We commenced operations through an entity named Oceanside Energy, Inc., or Oceanside, which was incorporated under the
laws of the State of Delaware on September 3, 1996. We incorporated World Energy Solutions, Inc. under the laws of the State of
Delaware under the name “World Energy Exchange, Inc.” on June 22, 1999, and on October 31, 1999, Oceanside became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of World Energy Solutions, Inc. and was subsequently dissolved. On December 21, 2006, we
incorporated a 100% owned subsidiary, World Energy Securities Corp., under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Our registered and principal office is located at 446 Main Street, Worcester, Massachusetts, 01608, United States of America,
and our telephone number is (508) 459-8100. Our website is located at www.worldenergy.cof.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below before deciding to invest in shares of our common
stock. If any of the following risks or uncertainties actually occurs, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating
results would likely suffer, possibly materially. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could
lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business

We currently derive a substantial amount of our revenue from the brokerage of electricity, and as a result our business is
highly susceptible to factors affecting the electricity market over which we have no control.

We derived approximately 69% of our revenue during 2011 from the brokerage of electricity. Although our reliance on the
brokerage of electricity has diminished as we implemented our strategy to expand into other markets, we believe that our revenue
will continue to be highly dependent on the level of activity in the electricity market for the near future. Transaction volume in the
electricity market is subject to a number of variables, such as consumption levels, pricing trends, availability of supply and other
variables. We have no control over these variables, which are affected by geopolitical events such as war, threat of war, terrorism,
civil unrest, political instability, environmental or climatic factors and general economic conditions. We are particularly
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vulnerable during periods when energy consumers perceive that electricity prices are at elevated levels since transaction volume is
typically lower when prices are high relative to regulated utility prices. Accordingly, if electricity transaction volume declines
sharply, our results will suffer.

Our business is heavily influenced by how much regulated utility prices for energy are above or below competitive market
prices for energy and, accordingly, any changes in regulated prices or cyclicality or volatility in competitive market prices
heavily impacts our business.

When energy prices increase in competitive markets above the price levels of the regulated utilities, energy consumers are less
likely to lock-in to higher fixed price contracts in the competitive markets and so they are less likely to use our auction platform.
Accordingly, reductions in regulated energy prices can negatively impact our business. Any such reductions in regulated energy
prices over a large geographic area or over a long period of time would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations. Similarly, cyclicality or volatility in competitive market prices that have the effect of
driving those prices above the regulated utility prices will make our auction platform less useful to energy consumers and will
negatively impact our business.

Our costs will continue to increase as we expand our business and our revenue may not increase proportionately, resulting
in operating losses in the future.

We have significantly increased our operating expenses as we expanded our brokerage capabilities to offer additional energy-
related products, increased our sales and marketing efforts, developed our administrative organization and made acquisitions. For
the year ended December 31, 2011 we had net income of approximately $0.5 million. As we continue to invest in our business, we
may incur operating losses. In addition, our budgeted expense levels are based, in significant part, on our expectations as to future
revenue and are largely fixed in the short term. As a result, we may be unable to adjust spending in a timely manner to
compensate for any unexpected shortfall in revenue which could compound those losses in any given fiscal period.

We continue to expand our business through the acquisition of other busi and technologies which will present special
risks.

We continue to expand our business in certain areas through the acquisition of businesses, technologies, products and services
from other businesses. Acquisitions involve a number of special problems, including:

the need to incur additional indebtedness, issue stock or use cash in order to complete the acquisition;

difficulty integrating acquired technologies, operations and personnel with the existing business;

diversion of management attention in connection with both negotiating the acquisitions and integrating the assets;
strain on managerial and operational resources as management tries to oversee larger operations;

the funding requirements for acquired companies may be significant;

exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies;

increased risk of costly and time-consuming litigation, including stockholder lawsuits; and

potential issuance of securities in connection with an acquisition with rights that are superior to the rights of our
common stockholders, or which may have a dilutive effect on our common stockholders.

*® O & o o ¢ o o

We may not be able to successfully address these problems. Our future operating results will depend to a significant degree on
our ability to successfully integrate acquisitions and manage operations while also controlling expenses and cash burn.

A prolonged recession, instability in the financial markets, and insufficient financial sector liquidity, could negatively
impact our business.

The consequences of a prolonged recession could include a lower level of economic activity and uncertainty regarding energy
prices and the capital and commodity markets. A lower level of economic activity could result in a decline in energy consumption
and further weakened commodity markets, which could adversely affect our revenues and future growth. Economic downturns or
periods of high energy supply costs typically lead to reductions in energy consumption and increased conservation measures.
Instability in the financial markets as a result of a recession or otherwise, as well as insufficient financial sector liquidity, also
could affect the cost of capital and our ability to raise capital.

We have limited operating experience and a history of operating losses, which may make it difficult for you to evaluate our
business and prospects.

We have a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate our business and prospects. We began assisting in energy
transactions in 2001 and introduced our current auction model in April of that same year. Further, while we did generate net
income in 2011, we have a history of losses and, at December 31, 2011, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $21.6
million. You must consider our business, financial history and prospects in light of the risks and difficulties we face as an early
stage company with a limited operating history.

Our success depends on the widespread adoption of purchasing electricity from competitive sources.
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Our success depends, in large part, on the willingness of CIG energy consumers to embrace competitive sources of supply, and
on the ability of our energy suppliers to consistently source electricity at competitive rates. In most regions of North America,
energy consumers have either no or relatively little experience purchasing electricity in a competitive environment. Although
electricity consumers in deregulated regions have been switching from incumbent utilities to competitive sources, there can be no
assurance that the trend will continue. In a majority of states and municipalities, including some areas which are technically
“deregulated”, electricity is still provided by the incumbent local utility at subsidized rates or at rates that are too low to stimulate
meaningful competition by other providers. In addition, extreme price volatility could delay or impede the widespread adoption of
competitive markets. To the extent that competitive markets do not continue to develop rapidly our prospects for growth will be
constrained. Also, there can be no assurance that trends in government deregulation of energy will continue or will not be
reversed. Increased regulation of energy would significantly damage our business.

The online brokerage of energy and environmental commodities is a relatively new and emerging market and it is uncertain
whether our auction model will gain widespread acceptance. :

The emergence of competition in the energy and environmental commodities markets is a relatively recent development, and
industry participants have not yet achieved consensus on how to most efficiently take advantage of the competitive environment.
We believe that as the online energy brokerage industry matures, it is likely to become dominated by a relatively small number of
competitors that can offer access to the largest number of competitive suppliers and consumers. Brokerage exchanges with the
highest levels of transaction volume will likely be able to offer bidders lower transaction costs and offer listers better prices,
which we believe will increasingly create competitive barriers for smaller online brokerage exchanges. For us to capitalize on our
position as an early entrant into this line of business, we will need to generate widespread support for our auction platform and
continue to rapidly expand the scale of our operations. Other online auction or non-auction strategies may prove to be more
attractive to the industry than our auction model. If an alternative brokerage exchange model becomes widely accepted in the
electricity industry and/or the environmental commodities brokerage industry we participate in, our business will be adversely
affected.

Even if our auction brokerage model achieves widespread acceptance as the preferred means to transact energy and
environmental products, we may be unsuccessful in competing against current and future competitors.

We expect that competition for online brokerage of energy and environmental products will intensify in the near future in
response to expanding restructured energy markets that permit consumer choice of energy sources and as technological advances
create incentives to develop more efficient and less costly energy procurement in regional and global markets. The barriers to
entry into the online brokerage marketplace are relatively low, and we expect to face increased competition from traditional off-
line energy brokers, other established participants in the energy industry, online services companies that can launch online auction
services that are similar to ours and demand response and energy management service providers.

Many of our competitors and potential competitors have longer operating histories, better brand recognition and significantly
greater financial resources than we do. The management of some of these competitors may have more experience in implementing
their business plan and strategy and they may have pre-existing commercial or other relationships with large listers and/or bidders
which would give them a competitive advantage. We expect that as competition in the online marketplace increases, brokerage
commissions for the energy and environmental commodities industries will decline, which could have a negative impact on the
level of brokerage fees we can charge per transaction and may reduce the relative attractiveness of our exchange services. We
expect that our costs relating to marketing and human resources may increase as our competitors undertake marketing campaigns
to enhance their brand names and to increase the volume of business conducted through their exchanges. We also expect many of
our competitors to expend financial and other resources to improve their network and system infrastructure to compete more
aggressively. Our inability to adequately address these and other competitive pressures would have a material adverse effect on
our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are unable to rapidly implement some or all of our major strategic initiatives, our ability to improve our competitive
position may be negatively impacted.

Our strategy is to improve our competitive position by implementing certain key strategic initiatives in advance of competitors,
including the following:

leveraging new products such as demand response and efficiency;
continue to develop channel partner relationships;

strengthen and expand long-term relationships with government agencies;
move “downstream” into the small- and medium-sized customer segment;
target other energy-related markets;

target utilities in order to broker energy-related products for them; and
make strategic acquisitions.

While we have made significant progress in pursuing these initiatives, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in
executing against any of these key strategic initiatives, or that our time to market will be sooner than that of competitors. Some of
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these initiatives relate to new services or products for which there are no established markets, or in which we lack experience and
expertise. If we are unable to continue to implement some or all of our key strategic initiatives in an effective and timely manner,
our ability to improve our competitive position may be negatively impacted, which would have a material adverse effect on our
business and prospects.

We depend on the services of our senior executives and other key personnel, the loss of whom could negatively affect our
business.

Our future performance will depend substantially on the continued services of our senior management and other key personnel,
including our chief information officer, senior vice president of operations and our market directors. If any one or more of these
persons leave their positions and we are unable to find suitable replacement personnel in a timely and cost efficient manner, our
business may be disrupted and we may not be able to achieve our business objectives, including our ability to manage our growth
and successfully implement our strategic initiatives. We do not have long-term employment agreements with any of our senior
management or other key personnel and we do not have a non-competition agreement with our current chief executive officer.

We must also continue to seek ways to retain and motivate all of our employees through various means, including through
enhanced compensation packages. In addition, we will need to hire more employees as we continue to implement our key strategy
of building on our market position and expanding our business. Competition for qualified personnel in the areas in which we
compete remains strong and the pool of qualified candidates is limited. Our failure to attract, hire and retain qualified staff on a
cost efficient basis would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and
ability to successfully implement our growth strategies.

We do not have contracts for fixed volumes with the bidders who use our auction platform and we depend on a small
number of key bidders, and the partial or complete loss of one or more of these bidders as a participant on our auction
platform could undermine our ability to execute effective auctions.

We do not have contracts for fixed volumes with any of the bidders who use our auction platform. Two of these bidders
accounted for 23% and 22% in the aggregate of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The
loss of these or other significant bidders will negatively impact our operations, particularly in the absence of our ability to locate
additional national bidders. We do not have agreements with any of these bidders preventing them from directly competing with
us or utilizing competing services.

We depend on a small number of key listers for a significant portion of our revenue, many of which are government entities
that have no obligation to use our auction platform or continue their relationship with us, and the partial or complete loss of
business of one or more of these consumers could negatively affect our business.

Our listers are comprised primarily of large businesses and government organizations. None of these listers represented more
than 10% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Our government contracts are typically
for multiple years but are subject to government funding contingencies and cancellation for convenience clauses. Although our
non-government contracts create a short-term exclusive relationship with the lister, typically this exclusivity relates only to the
specific auction event and expires during the term of the energy contract. Accordingly, we do not have ongoing commitments
from these listers to purchase any of their incremental energy or environmental commodity requirements utilizing our auction
platform, and they are not prohibited from using competing brokerage services. The loss of any of these key listers will negatively
impact our revenue, particularly in the absence of our ability to attract additional listers to use our service.

We depend on our channel partners to establish and develop certain of our relationships with listers and the loss of certain
channel partners could result in the loss of certain key listers.

We rely on our channel partners to establish certain of our relationships with listers. Our ability to maintain our relationships
with our channel partners will impact our operations and revenue. We depend on the financial viability of our channel partners
and their success in procuring listers on our behalf. One of our channel partners was involved with identifying and qualifying
listers which entered into contracts that accounted for 16% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Channel partners may be involved in various aspects of a deal including but not limited to lead identification, the
selling process, project management, data gathering, contract negotiation, deal closing and post-auction account management. To
the extent that a channel partner ceases to do business with us, or goes bankrupt, dissolves, or otherwise ceases to carry on
business, we may lose access to that channel partner’s existing client base, in which case the volume of energy traded through the
World Energy Exchange® will be adversely affected and our revenue will decline.

Our business depends heavily on information technology systems the interruption or unavailability of which could
materially damage our operations.

The satisfactory performance, reliability and availability of our exchange, processing systems and network infrastructure are

critical to our reputation and our ability to attract and retain listers and bidders to our exchanges. Our efforts to mitigate systems
risks may not be adequate and the risk of a system failure or interruption cannot be eliminated. Although we have never
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experienced a material unscheduled interruption of service, any such interruption in our services may result in an immediate, and
possibly substantial, loss of revenue and damage to our reputation.

Our business also depends upon the use of the Internet as a transactions medium. Therefore, we must remain current with
Internet use and technology developments. Our current technological architecture may not effectively or efficiently support our
changing business requirements.

Any substantial increase in service activities or transaction volume on our exchanges may require us to expand and upgrade our
technology, transaction processing systems and network infrastructure. Although we continually monitor infrastructure
performance and plan for scalability, there can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully do so, and any failure could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Breaches of online security could damage or disrupt our reputation and our ability to do business.

To succeed, online communications must provide a secure transmission of confidential information over public networks.
Security measures that are implemented may not always prevent security breaches that could harm our business. Although to our
knowledge we have never experienced a breach of online security, compromise of our security could harm our reputation, cause
users to lose confidence in our security systems and to not source their energy and environmental commodities using our auction
platform and also subject us to lawsuits, sanctions, fines and other penalties. In addition, a party who is able to circumvent our
security measures could misappropriate proprietary information, cause interruptions in our operations, damage our computers or
those of our users, or otherwise damage our reputation and business. Our insurance policies may not be adequate to reimburse us
for losses caused by security breaches.

We may need to expend significant resources to protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches.
These issues are likely to become more difficult and costly as our business expands.

We depend on third-party service and technology providers and any loss or break-down in those relationships could damage
our operations significantly if we are unable to find alternative providers.

We depend on third-party providers for web hosting of our online auction system, data management and other systems, as well
as communications and networking equipment, computer hardware and software and related support and maintenance. There can
be no assurance that any of these providers will be able to continue to provide these services without interruption and in an
efficient, cost-effective manner or that they will be able to adequately meet our needs as our transaction volume increases. An
interruption in or the cessation of such third-party services and our inability to make alternative arrangements in a timely manner,
or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. There is also no assurance
that any agreements that we have in place with such third-party providers will be renewed, or if renewed, renewed on favorable
terms.

To the extent that we expand our operations into foreign markets, additional costs and risks associated with doing business
internationally will apply.

It is possible that we will have international operations in the future. These operations may include the brokering of green
credits in countries signatory to international treatises and the brokering of energy in other geographic markets where we believe
the demand for our services may be strong. To the extent we enter geographic markets outside of the United States, our
international operations will be subject to a number of risks and potential costs, including:

o  different regulatory requirements governing the energy marketplace;
e  difficulty in establishing, staffing and managing international operations;
e regulatory regimes governing the Internet and auctioneering that may limit or prevent our operations in some
jurisdictions;
e  different and more stringent data privacy laws;
o  differing intellectual property laws;
differing contract laws that prevent the enforceability of agreements between energy suppliers and energy
" consumers;
the imposition of special taxes, including local taxation of our fees or of transactions through our exchange;
strong local competitors;
currency fluctuations; and
political and economic instability.

Our failure to manage the risks associated with international operations could limit the future growth of our business and
adversely affect our operating results. We may be required to make a substantial financial investment and expend significant
management efforts in connection with any international expansion.

The application of taxes including sales taxes and other taxes could negatively affect our business.
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The application of indirect taxes (such as sales and use tax, value added tax, goods and services tax, business tax, and gross
receipt tax) to e-commerce businesses and our users is a complex and evolving issue. Many of the fundamental statutes and
regulations that impose these taxes were established before the growth of the Internet and e-commerce. In many cases, it is not
clear how existing statutes apply to the Internet or e-commerce. In addition, some jurisdictions have implemented or may
implement laws specifically addressing the Internet or some aspect of e-commerce. The application of existing or future laws
could have adverse effects on our business.

Several proposals have been made at the state and local level that would impose additional taxes on the sale of goods and
services through the Internet. These proposals, if adopted, could substantially impair the growth of e-commerce, and could
diminish our opportunity to derive financial benefit from our activities. The United States federal government’s moratorium on
states and other local authorities imposing access or discriminatory taxes on the Internet is effective through November 1, 2014.
This moratorium, however, does not prohibit federal, state, or local authorities from collecting taxes on our income or generally
from collecting taxes that are due under existing tax rules.

In conjunction with the Streamlined Sales Tax Project — an ongoing, multi-year effort by certain state and local governments
to require collection and remittance of distant sales tax by out-of-state sellers — bills have been introduced in the U.S. Congress
to overturn the Supreme Court’s Quill decision, which limits the ability of state governments to require sellers outside of their
own state to collect and remit sales taxes on goods purchased by in-state residents. An overturning of the Quill decision would
harm our users and our business.

The passage of new legislation and the imposition of additional tax requirements could increase the costs to bidders and listers
using our auction platform and, accordingly, could harm our business. There have been, and will continue to be, ongoing costs
associated with complying with the various indirect tax requirements in the numerous states, localities or countries in which we
currently conduct or will conduct business.

U.S. federal or state legislative or regulatory reform of the current systems governing commodities or energy may affect our
ability to conduct our business profitably.

We are currently not regulated as an energy provider or commodities dealer. Changes to the laws or regulations governing
activities related to commodities trading or energy procurement, supply, distribution or sale, or transacting in energy-related
products or securities could adversely affect the profitability of our brokerage operations or even our ability to conduct auctions.
Changes to the current regulatory framework could result in additional costs and expenses or prohibit certain of our current
business activities or future business plans. We cannot predict the form any such legislation or rule making may take, the
probability of passage, and the ultimate effect on us.

Risks Relating to Intellectual Property

We may be unable to adequately protect our intellectual property, which could harm us and affect our ability to compete
effectively.

We have developed proprietary software, logos, brands, service names and web sites, including our proprietary auction
platform. Although we have taken certain limited steps to protect our proprietary intellectual property (including consulting with
outside patent and trademark counsel regarding protection of our intellectual property and implementing a program to protect our
trade secrets), we have not applied for any patents with respect to our auction platform. We have registered the following
trademarks in the United States and certain other countries: World Energy Solutions, World Green Exchange, World DR
Exchange® and World Energy Exchange and filed applications for these trademarks in additional countries. The steps we have
taken to protect our intellectual property may be inadequate to deter misappropriation of our proprietary information or deter
independent development of similar technologies by others. We may not be able to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of
our technical knowledge or trade secrets by consultants, vendors, former employees and current employees, despite the existence
of confidentiality agreements and other contractual restrictions. If our intellectual property rights are not adequately protected, we
may not be able to continue to commercialize our services. We may be unable to detect the unauthorized use of, or take adequate
steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. In addition, certain of our trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for
example, they are generic or in use by another party. Accordingly, we may be unable to prevent competitors from using trade
names that are confusingly similar or identical to ours.

Our auction platform, services, technologies or usage of trade names could infringe the intellectual property rights of
others, which may lead to litigation that could itself be costly, could result in the payment of substantial damages or
royalties, and/or prevent us from using technology that is essential to our business.

Although no third party has threatened or alleged that our auction platform, services, technologies or usage of trade names
infringe their patents or other intellectual property rights, we cannot assure you that we do not infringe the patents or other
intellectual property rights of third parties.

Infringement and other intellectual property claims and proceedings brought against us, whether successful or not, could result
in substantial costs and harm to our reputation. Defending our intellectual property rights could result in the expenditure of
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significant financial and managerial resources, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating
results. If our business is successful, the possibility may increase that others will assert infringement claims against us.

We use intellectual property licensed from third parties in our operations. There is a risk that such licenses may be terminated,
which could significantly disrupt our business. In such an event, we may be required to spend significant time and money to
develop a non-infringing system or process or license intellectual property that does not infringe upon the rights of that other party
or to obtain a license for the intellectual property from the owner. We may not be successful in that development or any such
license may not be available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, any litigation could be lengthy -and costly and
could adversely affect us even if we are successful in such litigation.

Our corporate name and certain of our trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for example, they are generic or in use
by another party. We may be unable to prevent competitors from using trade names or corporate names that are confusingly
similar or identical to ours.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Because there is a limited trading history for our common stock and our stock trading volume is low historically, you may
not be able to resell your shares at or above your purchase price.

We cannot predict the extent to which investors’ interests will provide an active trading market for our common stock or
whether the market price of our common stock will be volatile. The following factors, many of which are outside of our control,
could cause the market price of our common stock to decrease significantly from recent prices:

loss of any of the major listers or bidders using our auction platform;

departure of key personnel;

variations in our quarterly operating results;

announcements by our competitors of significant contracts, new transaction capabilities, enhancements, lower fees,

acquisitions, distribution partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

e  changes in governmental regulations and standards affecting the energy industry and our products, including
implementation of additional regulations relating to consumer data privacy;

¢ decreases in financial estimates by equity research analysts;

e  sales of common stock or other securitics by us in the future; and

¢ fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes.

In the past, securities class action litigation often has been initiated against a company following a period of volatility in the
market price of the Company’s securities. If class action litigation is initiated against us, we will incur substantial costs and our
management’s attention will be diverted from our operations. All of these factors could cause the market price of our stock to
decline, and you may lose some or all of your investment. Also due to the size of the market capitalization of our shares, the
market for our common stock may be volatile and may not afford a high level of liquidity.

Our directors and executive officers have substantial control over us and could limit your ability to influence the outcome of
key transactions, including changes of control,

As of December 31, 2011 our executive officers and directors and entities affiliated with them, beneficially own, in the
aggregate, approximately 20% of our outstanding common stock. In particular, Richard Domaleski, our chief executive officer,
beneficially owns approximately 15% of our outstanding common stock. Our executive officers, directors and affiliated entities, if
acting together, would be able to control or influence significantly all matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including
the election of directors and the approval of mergers or other significant corporate transactions. These stockholders may have
interests that differ from yours, and they may vote in a way with which you disagree and that may be adverse to your interests.
The concentration of ownership of our common stock may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control
of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of
our company, and may affect the market price of our common stock.

Our corporate documents and Delaware law make a takeover of our company more difficult, we have a classified board of
directors and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws require a super-majority vote to amend, all of
which may prevent certain changes in control and limit the market price of our common stock.

Our charter and by-laws contain provisions that might enable our management to resist a takeover of our company. Our
certificate of incorporation and by-laws establish a classified board of directors such that our directors serve staggered three-year
terms and do not all stand for re-election every year. In addition, any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders
at an annual meeting or special meeting of stockholders may only be taken if it is properly brought before the meeting and may
not be taken by written action in lieu of a meeting, and special meetings of the stockholders may only be called by the chairman of
the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or our Board. Further, our certificate of incorporation provides that directors may be
removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of 75% of our shares of capital stock entitled to vote, and any
vacancy on our Board, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of our Board, may only be filled by vote of a majority
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of our directors then in office. In addition, our by-laws establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be
brought before an annual meeting of stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for election to the Board. These
provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws, including those setting forth the classified board, require a super-
majority vote of stockholders to amend. These provisions might discourage, delay or prevent a change in the control of our
company or a change in our management. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for
you and other stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. The existence of these provisions could limit the
price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 2. Properties
We do not own any real property. We lease the business premises in the following locations for the stated principal uses:

Approx. Floor

Location Space (Sq. Ft.) Principal Use

446 Main Street, Worcester, MA (1)...cccovivivniinininniniennne 7,458 Executive office and general administration
1215 19" Street NW, Washington, DC (2).......c.eveeeerrercen. 200 Branch office

10001 Woodloch Forest Drive, The Woodlands, TX (3) . . 2,027 Branch office

200 Barr Harbor Drive, West Conshohocken, PA (4) ...... . 217 Branch office

4495 Bradenton Avenue, Dublin, OH (5) .......ccccceueeee . 4,500 Branch office

2 Alcap Ridge, Cromwell, CT (6) ...ocooooveriviniiiiiriicinine 4,120 Branch office

550 Bailey Avenue, Fort Worth, TX (7) 2,989 Branch office

200 Crescent Court, Dallas, TX (8) ........... . 6,680 Branch office

1225 North Loop West, Houston, TX (9) 3,090 Branch office

Note:
§)) Pursuant to a five year lease agreement with Sovereign Bank, as amended, expiring December 31, 2011, at a
monthly rate of $12,430 including a base charge for operating expenses and taxes. Subsequent to December 31
2011, the Company leased the office space as a tenant at will.

2) Pursuant to an at will lease agreement with Roosevelt Land, LP, at a monthly rate of $2,800 including a base charge
for operating expenses and taxes.

3) Pursuant to a five-year lease agreement with NNN Waterway Plaza, expiring March 31, 2012, at a monthly rate
escalating to $5,574 including a base charge for operating expenses and taxes.

(4)  Pursuant to a one-year lease agreement with Regus Management Group, LLC, expiring March 31, 2012, at a
monthly rate of $1,938 plus certain operating expenses.

%) Pursuant to a 62-month lease agreement with Rickert Property Management, expiring July 31, 2012, at a monthly
rate escalating to $3,750, plus certain operating expenses and taxes.

(6)  Pursuant to a five-year lease agreement with Alcap Associates, expiring November 30, 2015, at a monthly rate
escalating to $1,782, plus certain operating expenses and taxes.

(7)  Pursuant to a five-year lease agreement with GC Museum Partners, LP, expiring June 30, 2014, at a monthly rate
escalating to $6,558, plus certain operating expenses and taxes.

®) Pursuant to a 34-month lease agreement with Reservoir Operations, LP, expiring May 31, 2012, at a monthly rate
of $15,030 including a base charge for operating expenses and taxes.

(9)  Pursuant to a 64-month lease agreement with 1225 North Loop Investments, Inc., expiring April 30, 2014, at a
monthly rate of $4,506 including a base charge for operating expenses and taxes.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we may be a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. Our
management is not aware of any litigation outstanding, threatened or pending as of the date hereof by or against us or our
properties which we believe would be material to our financial condition or results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock began trading on the TSX (Symbol “XWE”) on November 16, 2006, and on the NASDAQ (Symbol
“XWES”) on April 6, 2009. Prior to trading on the TSX, there was no established public trading market for our common stock.

Effective at the close of trading on December 31, 2010, we voluntarily delisted from the TSX. We continue to trade on the
NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol XWES.

On March 27, 2009, we filed a previously approved Certificate of Amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of Delaware to (i) effect a reverse stock split of our outstanding common
stock at a ratio of one-for-ten; and (ii) decrease the number of authorized shares of our common stock from 150,000,000 to
15,000,000. As a result of the reverse stock split, the issued and outstanding shares of common stock were reduced on a basis of
one share for every ten shares outstanding. All of our stock related information including issued and outstanding common stock,
stock options and warrants to purchase common stock, restricted stock and loss per share for all periods presented have been
restated to reflect the reverse stock split.

The following table sets forth the high and low closing prices per share reported on the NASDAQ for the years 2011 and 2010
(inU.S. §’s):

High Low
2011:
First quarter $ 4.40 $ 2.30
Second quarter $ 4.98 $ 3.20
Third quarter $ 4.27 $ 291
Fourth quarter $ 3.75 $ 2.63
2010:
First quarter $ 3.30 $ 248
Second quarter . $ 3.45 $ 2.81
Third quarter $ 3.10 $ 2.56
Fourth quarter $297 $ 275

On March 2, 2012, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the NASDAQ was $4.82 per share and there were 107
holders of record of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if
any, to finance the expansion of our business and do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.

Information regarding our equity compensation plans required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information
appearing under the caption “Equity Compensation Plan Information™ in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.

Recent Issuances of Unregistered Securities

On April 11, 2011, we closed on agreements with several accredited investors to issue approximately 1.5 million shares of our
common stock at $3.60 per share, yielding gross proceeds of $5.5 million. A shelf registration statement relating to these securities
was declared effective on April 21, 2010 by the Securities and Exchange Commission. We have used and we anticipate that we
will continue to use this and future capital raises for strategic initiatives, including investments and acquisitions in the energy
management space.

On October 13, 2011, we issued 83,209 shares of Common Stock of the Company (equal to approximately $250,000) to the
Members of NES pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) between the Company, NES and the Members of
NES.

On October 31, 2011, we issued 1.0 million shares of Common Stock of the Company (equal to approximately $3.2 million)
pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement between the Company, GSE Consulting, LP (“GSE”), Glenwood Energy Partners, Ltd.
and Gulf States Energy, Inc.
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Repurchase of Equity Securities

In connection with the vesting of restricted stock granted to employees, we withheld shares with value equivalent to
employees’ minimum statutory obligations for the applicable income and other employment taxes. A summary of the shares
withheld to satisfy employee tax withholding obligations for the three months ended December 31, 2011 is as follows:

Total Number of Maximum

Total Shares Purchased Number of Shares

Number of Average As Part of Publicly That May Yet Be

Shares Price Paid Announced Plans Purchased Under

Period Purchased Per Share Or Programs The Plan

10/01/11 - 10/31/11 .. — $ — — —
11/01/11 — 11/30/11 .. 71 $ 3.27 — —
12/01/11-12/31/11 ... 274 $ 3.04 - —
Total 345 $ 3.09 — —

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following table summarizes our consolidated financial data for the periods presented. You should read the following
financial information together with the information under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those consolidated financial statements
appearing elsewhere in this annual report. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 are
derived from the audited consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this document. The selected
consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated balance sheet
data at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this
document. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in future periods.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Consolidated Statement of Operations
Data:
Revenue......ccooveeuemeenccieeieeneeeeen $21,086,585 $17,984,662  $14,618,275 $12,444,692  § 9,188,265
Cost of revenue . . 4.009.995 3.715.869 3.709.957 4,552,215 2.874.678
Gross profit ......ccceceveemcvveccrivcccnennnnne. 17,076,590 14,268,793 10,908,318 7.892.477 6.313.587
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing ........ceeeeececcevenenn 10,631,035 9,483,350 9,714,900 10,057,361 8,598,256
General and administrative.................... 5,790.264 4,893,212 3.520.886 4,669.807 5.858.810
Total operating expenses............c.couu. 16,421,299 14,376.562 13,235,786 14,727,168 14,457,066
Operating income (10SS) .......ccouevvereeeneee 655,291 (107,769) (2,327,468) (6,834,691) (8,143,479)
Interest income (expense), net....... . (1,526) 8,682 (6,051) 39,531 563.294
Income (loss) before income taxes... 653,765 (99,087) (2,333,519) (6,795,160) (7,580,185)
Income tax expense...........cceeennnne . 138,224 — — — (1.061.720)
Net income (108S) ..oeevveeeereeerereieenns $ 515541 $ (99.087) $(2.333519) $(6,795.160) $(8.,641,905)
Net income (loss) per common share -
basic and diluted.........cccceemrrennccns $ 0.05 $ 001) $ 027) $ 08 $§ 1.08)
Weighted average shares outstanding —
DEASIC ... 10,521,910 9,067,834 8,512,060 8.310,315 7,979.359
Weighted average shares outstanding —
DASIC....covvieiriiiei et 10,583,630 9,067,834 8,512,060 8.310,315 7,979.359

As of December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents.................... $ 1,837,801 $§ 3,559,288 § 2,046,909 $ 1,731,411 $ 7,001,884
Working capital (deficit) .......ccccovevenneee (3,471,245) 3,399,147 1,548,986 742,478 5,323,622
Total aSSELS ..vevvvvverereierieerrenreeieieereennes 33,824,540 14,726,794 13,894,125 14,776,640 20,800,565
Long-term labilities........c..ccccoeveeveennn, 2,596,699 1,205 16,003 3,737 46,222
Accumulated deficit .......coeeveevvevennn... (21,565,497)  (22,081,038)  (21,981,951)  (19,648,432)  (12,853,272)
Total stockholders’ equity .................... $ 21,181,119 $ 11,212,012 $ 10,258,142 $ 11,009,131 $ 16,859,799
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our
consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the
information contained in this discussion and analysis includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
You should review the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following
discussion and analysis.

Overview

World Energy offers a range of energy management solutions to commercial and industrial businesses, institutions, utilities,
and governments to reduce their overall energy costs. We come to market with a holistic approach to energy management helping
customers a) contract for the lowest price for energy, b) engage in energy efficiency projects to minimize quantity used and c)
maximize available rebate and incentive programs. We have primarily focused on our retail and wholesale energy procurement
clients via our state-of-the-art online auction platforms, the World Energy Exchange®, the World Green Exchange® and the
World DR Exchange®. With recent investments and acquisitions, we are building out our energy efficiency practice - offering
technology-enabled solutions such as online audits of facilities to identify retrofit options and project management services for
retrofit implementation, believing this practice will also enable more cross-selling opportunities for commodity auctions. We are
also taking our suite of solutions to the rapidly growing small- and medium-sized customer marketplaces.

We provide energy management services utilizing state-of-the-art technology and the experience of a seasoned management
team to bring lower energy costs to its customers. We use a simple equation:

E = P*Q-i

to help customers to understand the holistic nature of the energy management problem. Total energy cost (E) is a function of
Energy Price (P) times the Quantity of Energy Consumed (Q), minus any rebates or incentives (i) the customer can earn. This
approach not only makes energy management more approachable for customers, simplifying what has become an increasingly
dynamic and complex problem, it also highlights the inter-related nature of the energy management challenge. We assert that
point solution vendors may optimize one of the three elements, but it takes looking at the problem holistically to unlock the most
savings.

In April 2011, we issued approximately 1.5 million shares of common stock to several accredited institutional investors at $3.60
per share, yielding net proceeds of approximately $5.3 million. We have used, and we anticipate that we will continue to use, this
and future capital raises for strategic initiatives, including investments and acquisitions in the energy management space.

Acquisitions

Acquisitions are an important component of our business strategy. Our focus is on both our core procurement business as well
as new product lines within the energy management services industry such as energy efficiency services. We account for
acquisitions in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, “Business Combinations.” During the third and
fourth quarters of 2011 we acquired Co-eXprise, Inc. (“Co-eXprise”), Northeast Energy Solutions, LLC (“NES”) and GSE
Consulting, LP (“GSE”). These acquisitions round out the Company’s capabilities in the energy efficiency arena, enable the
company to enter the growing small- and medium-sized customer marketplaces, and consolidate the auction space.

In September 2011, we acquired certain contracts owned by Co-eXprise pursuant to a Contract Purchase Agreement between
the Company and Co-eXprise. Pursuant to this agreement, we purchased all of the contracts and assumed certain obligations with
respect to Co-eXprise’s energy procurement business. The purchase price was $4.0 million in cash, subject to certain escrowing
provisions.

On October 13, 2011, we acquired substantially all of the assets and certain obligations of NES pursuant to an Asset Purchase
Agreement between the Company, NES, Robert Boissonneault, Michael Santangelo, and Richard Galipeau. Pursuant to this
agreement, we purchased all of the assets and assumed certain obligations with respect to NES’s business. The maximum
purchase price was $4,754,131 consisting of $1,004,131 in cash, $3,000,000 paid in the form of a promissory note (the
“Promissory Note™), as amended, 83,209 shares of our Common Stock paid to the sellers (equal to approximately $250,000), plus
up to an additional $500,000 in contingent consideration (the “Contingent Consideration”). The Promissory Note is payable in
cash and the Contingent Consideration is payable, subject to certain conditions, in cash. NES, located in Cromwell Connecticut,
focuses on turn-key electrical and mechanical energy efficiency measures serving commercial, industrial and institutional
customers.

On October 31, 2011, we acquired substantially all of the assets and certain obligations of GSE pursuant to an Asset Purchase
Agreement between the Company, GSE, Glenwood Energy Partners, Ltd. and Gulf States Energy, Inc. GSE is a Texas based
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energy management and procurement company. The purchase price was $8.6 million at closing, consisting of $3.9 million in cash,
$1.5 million in cash to pay off GSE debt, and 1.0 million shares of our Common Stock valued at $3.2 million based on the
NASDAQ consolidated closing bid price on October 31, 2011. GSE may earn up to an additional $4.5 million of contingent
consideration in cash based on the achievement of certain annualized new booking and renewal rate targets. The maximum
purchase price if GSE achieves all of its contingent consideration targets is $13.1 million.

With the acquisition of NES, we plan to manage the business as two business segments: energy procurement and energy
efficiency services.

Our business model is heavily dependent on our people. We have significantly grown our employee base from 20 at our initial
public offering (“IPO™) in November 2006 to a current high of 82 at December 31, 2011. This planned investment has been and
will continue to be a key component of our strategic initiatives and has resulted in revenue growth of over 350% to $21 million in
2011 since our initial public offering in 2006. While these infrastructure investments resulted in short-term operating losses, they
began to generate incremental revenue in the late 2007 and positive adjusted EBITDA in ten of the last twelve quarters, including
nine quarters in a row. Over these nine quarters we have generated positive adjusted EBITDA of $5.2 million, including $2.9
million in 2011. We have been able to fund our most recent acquisitions with cash on-hand and cash we have generated from
operations and we will continue to focus on cash generating acquisitions in the future. These activities, however, will increase our
operating costs both in the short and long-term and may require us to borrow against our current credit facility and/or raise funds
through additional capital raises.

Operations
Revenue

Retail Electricity Transactions

We earn a2 monthly commission on energy sales contracted through our online auction platform from each bidder or energy
supplier based on the energy usage transacted between the bidder and lister or energy consumer. Our commissions are not based
on the retail price for electricity; rather on the amount of energy consumed. Commissions are calculated based on the volume of
energy usage transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer multiplied by our contractual commission rate. Our
contractual commission rate is negotiated with the energy consumer on a procurement-by-procurement basis based on energy
consumer specific circumstances, including the size of auction, the effort required to organize and run the respective auction and
competitive factors, among others. Once the contractual commission is agreed to with the energy consumer, all energy suppliers
participating in the auction agree to that rate. That commission rate remains fixed for the duration of the contractual term
regardless of energy usage. Energy consumers provide us with a letter of authorization to request their usage history from the local
utility. We then use this data to compile a usage profile for that energy consumer that will become the basis for the auction. This
data may also be used to estimate revenue on a going forward basis, as noted below.

Historically, our revenue and operating results have varied from quarter-to-quarter and are expected to continue to fluctuate in
the future. These fluctuations are primarily due to the buying patterns of our wholesale and natural gas customers, which tend to
have large, seasonal purchases during the fourth and first quarters and electricity usage having higher demand in our second and
third quarters. In addition, the activity levels on the World Energy Exchange® can fluctuate due to a number of factors, including
market prices, weather conditions, energy consumers’ credit ratings, the ability of suppliers to obtain financing in credit markets,
and economic and geopolitical events. To the extent these factors affect the purchasing decisions of energy consumers our future
results of operations may be affected. Contracts between energy suppliers and energy consumers are signed for a variety of term
lengths, with a one year contract term being typical for commercial and industrial energy consumers, and government contracts
typically having two to three year terms. Our revenue has grown over the last three years through new participants utilizing our
World Energy Exchange® as well as existing energy consumers increasing the size or frequency of their transactions on our
exchange platform.

We do not invoice our electricity energy suppliers for monthly commissions earned and, therefore, we report a substantial
portion of our receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided
by the energy suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made
up of two components. The first component represents energy usage for which we have received actual data from the supplier
and/or the utility, but for which payment has not been received at the balance sheet date. The majority of our contractual
relationships with energy suppliers require them to supply actual usage data to us on a monthly basis and remit payment to us
based on that usage. The second component represents energy usage for which we have not received actual data, but for which we
have estimated usage. Commissions paid in advance by certain bidders are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized to
commission revenue on a monthly basis on the energy exchanged that month.

Retail Natural Gas Transactions
There are two primary fee components to our retail natural gas services: transaction fees and management fees. Transaction

fees are billed to and paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform. These fees are established prior to award and
are the same for each supplier. For the majority of our natural gas transactions, we bill the supplier upon the conclusion of the
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transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire award term multiplied by the transaction fee.
Management fees are paid by our energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered based on
terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements. While substantially all of our retail natural gas transactions are
accounted for in accordance with this policy, a certain percentage is accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the energy
consumer and recognized as revenue in accordance with the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology
described above.

Demand Response Transactions

Demand response transaction fees are recognized when we have received confirmation from the DRP that the energy consumer
has performed under the applicable RTO or ISO program requirements. The energy consumer is either called to perform during an
actual curtailment event or is required to demonstrate its ability to perform in a test event during the performance period. For the
PJM, an RTO that coordinates the movement of wholesale electricity in all or parts of 13 states and the District of Columbia, the
performance period is June through September in a calendar year. Test results are submitted to the PJM by the DRPs and we
receive confirmation of the energy consumer’s performance in the fourth quarter. DRPs typically pay us ratably on a quarterly
basis throughout the demand response fiscal (June to May) year. As a result, a portion of the revenue we recognize is reflected as
unbilled accounts receivable.

Wholesale Transactions

Wholesale transaction fees are invoiced upon the conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied to
future energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where our customers bid
for a consumer’s business, the fees are paid by the bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy products, the fees
are typically paid by the lister. While substantially all wholesale transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small percentage
of our wholesale revenue is accounted for as electricity or gas is delivered, similar to the retail electricity transaction methodology
described above.

Environmental Commodity Transactions

Environmental commodity transaction fees are accounted for utilizing two primary methods. For regulated allowance programs
like RGGI, fees are paid by the lister and are recognized quarterly as revenue as auctions are completed and approved. For all
other environmental commodity transactions both the lister and the bidder pay the transaction fee and revenue is recognized upon
the consummation of the underlying transaction as credits are delivered by the lister and payment is made by the bidder.

Energy Efficiency Services

The Company generally recognizes revenues for energy efficiency services when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Due to the short-term nature of
projects (typically two to three weeks), the Company utilizes the completed-contract method. Revenues are recognized based
upon factors such as passage of title, installation, payments and customer acceptance.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of:

. salaries, employee benefits and share-based compensation associated with our auction management services, which are
directly related to the development and production of the online auction and maintenance of market-related data on our
auction platform and monthly management fees (our supply desk function);

. amortization of capitalized costs associated with our auction platform and acquired developed technology; and

. rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of:

. salaries, employee benefits and share-based compensation related to sales and marketing personnel;

. third party commission expenses to our channel partners;

. travel and related expenses;

. amortization related to customer relationships and contracts;
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. rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs; and

. general marketing costs such as trade shows, marketing materials and outsourced services.
General and administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of:

. salaries, employee benefits and share-based compensation related to general and administrative personnel;

. accounting, legal, and other professional fees; and
. rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs.

Interest income (expense), net
Interest income (expense), net consists primarily of:
. interest income earned on cash held in the bank and note receivable; and
. interest expense related to capital leases, note payable and contingent consideration.
Income tax expense
We recorded income tax expense of approximately $138,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011. We did not record an
income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 as we provided a full valuation allowance against our
deferred tax assets due to uncertainty regarding the realization of those deferred tax assets, primarily net operating loss
carryforwards, in the future. The income tax expense in 2011 reflects an alternative minimum tax liability and certain state and
local tax liabilities incurred in calendar 2011.
Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain items as a percent of revenue for the periods presented:

For the Years Ended

December 31,
2011 2010 2009

REVEIUE ... eiuiierieeeeietirtet et este ettt et e e sae e b et et e s e obe ettt et s et et e bentene et aat st e sessbasennsaens 100% 100% 100%
COSE OF TEVEINUE ..evveiieiiiieeieiire ettt e s sse e s s bt et e essa s st sareebte s eabaeasbsesbneoasaaeanaestnnsnnessaeens _19 _21 _25

GTOSS PIOTIE ..eveurriiieeieiteiceee ettt bbb e bbbt b ok sae b b et s s s eb e sassb et e st erasaatesasnnsneee 81 79 75
Operating expenses:

Sales AN MATKEEINE ....vevervrveriiereiirieeieeetrte ettt ae et e bt st s et bttt eae e s 50 53 67

General and administrative .... 28 27 24
Operating income (loss) .......... 3 [€))] (16)
Interest income (expense), net. — — —
INCOME AKX EXPEISE ..euveeereriieieniiiitentenresiteite st st esteetessie st e beeeeessesassh st esresaneanesanssesresenessessnnesnonns M e e
NEt INCOME (LOSS) c-vnveuiruiteiirieieiir et ctet ettt ete e reeeese et eseeeretesssesre s eseesesneesessraneneeneenseneones 2% W% _(16)%

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Revenue
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2011 2010 Increase
REVENUE ......eiceeeeeeteeereeie ettt e areeceeeetee s te e st eesseeebeetsseasbassaesssbensssesssaassessnsens $ 21,086,585 $ 17,984,662 $3,101,923 17%

Revenue increased 17% for the year ended December 31, 2011 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2010 primarily
due to increased auction activity in our retail product line and contributions from our recently completed acquisitions. These
increases were partially offset by declines in our wholesale and environmental commodities product lines. The retail product line
reflected new customer wins with a concentration in the Pennsylvania electricity market, revenue related to an agreement with one
of our energy suppliers for the payment of all future amounts due us subsequent to August 1, 2011 and further growth in our
channel partner network. Our gas, wholesale and green product lines decreased primarily due to decreased activity and the timing
of transactions compared to the same periods in 2010. Our Energy Efficiency Service Segment generated $50,000 in revenue for
2011. There was no revenue from this segment in 2010.
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Cost of revenue
For the Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010
$ % of Revenue $ % of Revenue Increase

COSt Of TEVENUE ... $4,009,995 19% $3,715,869 21% $ 294,126 8%

Cost of revenue increased 8% for the year ended December 31, 2011 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2010 as
increases in payroll and commission costs were partially offset by a decrease in amortization of capitalized software. Payroll costs
increased due to a net increase in supply desk employees in 2011 including the addition of employees from our recent
acquisitions. Commission costs increased due to the 17% increase in revenue. Our Energy Efficiency Services segment incurred
$0.1 million of supply desk costs in 2011 including payroll and project materials. This segment did not incur any cost of revenue
in 2010. Cost of revenue as a percent of revenue decreased 2% due to the 17% increase in revenue, which was substantially offset
by the increase in costs.

Operating expenses
For the Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010
$ % of Revenue $ % of Revenue Increase
Sales and marketing .........cccccecerenienicciiinnens $ 10,631,035 50% $ 9,483,350 53% $1,147,685 12%
General and administrative. 5,790,264 28 4,893,212 27 897,052 18
Total operating eXpenses.........o.eveerveuervnrences $ 16,421,299 78% $ 14,376,562 80% $2,044,737 14%

Sales and marketing expenses increased 12% for the year ended December 31, 2011 as compared to the year ended December
31, 2010 due to increases in third party commission costs, amortization of intangible assets and, to a lesser extent, payroll and
internal commission costs. Third party commission costs increased due to the 17% increase in revenue. Amortization expense
increased due to acquisitions completed during 2011. Payroll costs increased due to a net increase of seventeen sales and
marketing employees in 2011 from companies acquired in the fourth quarter of 2011. Our Energy Efficiency Services segment
incurred $0.2 million of sales and marketing costs in 2011 including payroll, commissions and travel costs. This segment did not
incur any sales and marketing expense in 2010. Sales and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue decreased 3% due to the
17% increase in revenue substantially offset by the 12% increase in costs.

The 18% increase in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 as compared to the same
period in 2010 was primarily due to $0.7 million in costs directly related to acquisition related activities including audits,
valuation service, legal, broker and travel costs, and an increase in payroll costs for personnel to support ongoing corporate
activities. General and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue remained the same as 2010 as the 17% increase in revenue
offset the 18% increase in costs.

Interest income (expense), net

Interest expense, net was approximately $2,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 and interest income, net was
approximately $9,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010. Interest income increased approximately $40,000 in 2011 due to
interest earned on a convertible note receivable with Retroficiency. Interest expense increased approximately $50,000 primarily
due to interest on the notes payable to NES and interest on the GSE contingent consideration.

Income tax expense

We recorded income tax expense of approximately $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. We did not record an
income tax benefit for the year 2010 as we provided a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets due to uncertainty
regarding the realization of those deferred tax assets, primarily net operating loss carryforwards, in the future. The income tax
expense in 2011 reflects an alternative minimum tax and state and local income tax liability anticipated to be incurred in calendar
2011.

Net income (loss)

We reported net income for the year ended December 31, 2011 of approximately $0.5 million as compared to a net loss of
approximately $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase in net income in 2011 is primarily due to the 17%
increase in revenue partially offset by acquisition costs, increases in internal and third party commissions, increased amortization

expense related to our acquisitions and costs incurred by our Energy Efficiency Services segment and from our GSE acquisition.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Revenue
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2010 2009 Increase
REVEIUE. ...ttt e e e e e ae s seesar e seesseessaessabesabeenseesaseeasbaesaseensaasaennee $ 17,984,662 $ 14,618,275 $3,366,387 23%
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Revenue increased 23% primarily due to increased auction activity in our retail product line and, to a lesser extent, our
wholesale product line. These increases were partially offset by a decline in our environmental commodity product line. The retail
product line increase reflects new customer wins with a concentration in the Ohio electricity market as price caps expired during
the year opening up the territory to competitive supply, increased gas transaction activity and further growth in our channel
partner network. Our environmental commodities product line decreased slightly as continued execution under our RGGI contract
was offset by a decline in transaction volume due to the uncertain regulatory environment.

Cost of revenue

For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009
$ % of Revenue $ % of Revenue Increase
COSt OF TEVENUE ...vvveeevierieeerrecreeereesiee v $3,715,869 21% $3,709,957 25% $ 5912 —%

Cost of revenue was relatively flat compared to the year ended December 31, 2009 as increases in commission costs were
substantially offset by decreases in payroll and amortization of capitalized software. Commission costs increased due to the 23%
increase in revenue. Payroll costs decreased as we continued to leverage our process and technology to drive higher volumes over
our exchanges. Cost of revenue as a percent of revenue decreased 4% as revenue increased with no corresponding increase in
costs.

Operating expenses

For the Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009
$ % of Revenue $ % of Revenue Increase / (Decrease)
Sales and marketing .........coocecceererneereccnnne $ 9,483,350 53% $ 9,714,900 67% $ (231,550) 2%)
General and administrative....... 4,893,212 27 3,520,886 24 1,372,326 39
Total operating eXpenses..........oeweveveerreeenns $ 14,376,562 80% $ 13,235,786 91% $1,140,776 9%

The 2% decrease in sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2010 as compared to the same period in
2009 primarily reflects general decreases in compensation and travel costs substantially offset by increases in marketing and
internal and third party commission costs. Compensation and travel costs decreased primarily due to adjustments we made in our
organizational structure during the third quarter of 2009 as we realigned our staffing as business and economic conditions
evolved. Internal and third party commission costs increased due to the 23% increase in revenue and marketing costs increased
due to increased trade show and marketing activities. Sales and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue decreased 14%
primarily due to the 23% increase in revenue and, to a lesser extent, the cost decreases noted above.

The 39% increase in general and administrative expenses related to the year ended December 31, 2010 as compared to the
same period in 2009 was primarily due to increases in compensation, investor relations and other costs. Compensation costs
increased due to an increase in variable compensation resulting from our record performance, the reclassification of certain
employees and the addition of certain staff in our accounting, information technology and human resources departments. In
addition, we increased our investor relations efforts in the U.S. to capitalize on our 2009 NASDAQ listing and increased our
allowance for doubtful accounts. General and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue increased 3% due to the cost
increases noted above substantially offset by the 23% increase in revenue.

Interest income (expense), net

Interest expense was approximately $2,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010 and $7,000 for the year ended December 31,
2009. Interest income was approximately $11,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010 and $1,000 for the year ended December
31, 2009. The decrease in interest expense is due to certain capital leases maturing during the year. The increase in interest
income was primarily due to interest accrued on a note receivable related to funding of an energy efficiency and management
software and services company in 2010.

Income tax expense

We did not record an income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 as we provided a full valuation
allowance against our deferred tax assets due to uncertainty regarding the realization of those deferred tax assets, primarily net
operating loss carryforwards, in the future.

Net loss

We reported a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2010 of approximately $0.1 million as compared to a net loss of
approximately $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The 96% decrease in net loss is primarily due to the 23%

increase in revenue partially offset by increases in internal and third party commissions as well as increased investor relations
costs.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2011, we had no commitments for material capital expenditures. We have identified and executed against a
number of strategic initiatives that we believe are key components of our future growth, including: expanding our community of
listers, bidders and channel partners on our exchanges; strengthening and extending our long-term relationships with government
agencies; entering into other energy-related markets including wholesale transactions with utilities, energy efficiency, and demand
response; making strategic acquisitions; and growing our direct and inside sales force. Through December 31, 2011 we funded our
acquisitions through the use of cash on-hand and cash generated from operations.

As part of the consideration for NES, we are committed to repay $3.0 million in notes payable to the sellers plus interest in
three equal installments on July 2, October 1 and December 28, 2012, respectively. In addition, we have a commitment to pay
contingent consideration of $0.25 million in the first quarters of 2012 and 2013, respectively, if certain milestones and financial
performance criteria are met. During the first quarter of 2012, we paid $0.25 million to the sellers as the performance criteria of
the first milestone was met. As part of the consideration paid to the former owners of GSE, we are required to pay up to a
maximum of $4.5 million of contingent consideration in each of the first quarters of 2012, 2013 and 2014 based on certain
performance criteria. We made a $2.0 million payment during the first quarter of 2012 as GSE had met the performance criteria
for the 2012 contingent consideration.

While we believe we have the resources to meet our long-term obligations under these arrangements based on cash on-hand and
the operating cash flows both from our base and these recently acquired businesses, we entered into an amended $5.0 million
credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank subsequent to year end to meet our short-term requirements under these arrangements.
Under the amended facility, we borrowed $2.5 million under a 4-year term note (9-months interest only; 39 equal installments of
principal and interest) and have $2.5 million available under a line-of-credit. We did not borrow against the line-of-credit. We
believe our resources are adequate to meet our continuing obligations under these arrangements. All of our acquisitions have
historically generated operating cash flow and we believe our cash flows will be adequate to meet the contingent consideration
payments when due, if any, to meet our obligations under the term note, and to repay the Notes payable to seller when due.

Comparison of December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2010

December 31, December 31,

2011 2010 Increase/(Decrease)
Cash and cash equivalents.........coeoiceieieeneeecenninnieennennen. $ 1,837,801 $ 3,559,288 $(1,721,487) (48)%
Trade accounts receivable .... . 4,057,215 3,124,328 932,887 30
Days sales outstanding ..........coceveeeeseeeeerecerercererrireneereerernennennen: 60 58 .2 3
Working capital (defiCit) .....cccoerevvererrevenccereererccercennne . (3,471,245) 3,399,147 (6,870,392) (202)
Stockholders” EqUILY .......coceeiiiiiienirienenc e, 21,181,119 11,212,012 9,969,107 89

Cash and cash equivalents decreased 48% primarily due to approximately $10.4 million paid to acquire companies in 2011 and
$0.7 million of associated acquisition costs. These decreases were partially offset by net proceeds of $5.3 million received from
the sale of common stock in April 2011 and positive adjusted EBITDA of approximately $2.9 million generated during 2011.
Days sales outstanding (representing accounts receivable outstanding at December 31, 2011 divided by the average sales per day
during the current quarter, as adjusted for non-recurring items) increased 5% due to the timing of in period revenue recognized
within the fourth quarter of 2011 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2010. Revenue from bidders representing 10% or more of
our revenue increased to 23% from two bidders during the year ended December 31, 2011, from 22% from the same bidders
during the same period in 2010.

The working capital deficit (consisting of current assets less current liabilities) of $3.5 million was primarily due to
approximately $10.4 million paid for acquisitions, notes payable to seller of $3.0 million and the current portion of contingent
consideration accrued in the amount of $2.3 million. These amounts were partially offset by the sale of common stock during the
second quarter and net income of $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. Stockholders’ equity increased 89% for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2011 due to the sale of common stock in April 2011, the issuance of common stock for
acquisitions, net income and share-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2011 was approximately $3.6 million as compared to
approximately $1.7 million in 2010. This improvement was primarily due to adjusted EBITDA of $2.9 million in 2011 versus
$2.0 million in 2010, and an approximate $1.2 million increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses, primarily related to
transaction related costs. Cash used in investing and financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011 was approximately
$5.4 million primarily due to cash used for acquisitions, which was partially offset by net proceeds received from the sale of
common stock. Cash used in investing and financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was approximately $0.1
million primarily due to the $0.4 million funding of Retroficiency, which was substantially offset by $0.4 million in net proceeds
from the sale of common stock.

Adjusted EBITDA, representing net income or loss before interest, income taxes, depreciation, amortization, and share-based
compensation charges for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $2.9 million as compared to $2.0 million for the same period in
the prior year. This increase was primarily due to the $0.6 million improvement in net income as we recorded $0.5 million of net
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income in 2011 compared to a net loss of $0.1 million in 2010. We have generated positive adjusted EBITDA for nine straight
quarters for a cumulative total of $5.2 million. Please refer to the section below referencing “non-GAAP financial measures” for a
reconciliation of non-GAAP measures to the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

Comparison of December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2009

December 31, December 31,

2010 2009 Increase/(Decrease)
Cash and cash equivalents.... L8 3,559,288 0§ 2,046,909 $1,512,379 74%
Trade accounts receivable . 3,124,328 2,909,024 215,304 7
Days sales outstanding ...........cccccccvvvvieenncas 58 76 18 (24
Working capital... 3,399,147 1,548,986 1,850,161 119
StOCKNOIAETS” EQUILY .....veeeveeeereeeeeeseeeeeseeeeereeeeseseeseeeeesenm 11,212,012 10,258,142 953,870 9

Cash and cash equivalents increased 74% primarily due to positive adjusted EBITDA of $2.0 million and net proceeds from the
sale of common stock of $0.4 million. These increases were partially offset by $0.5 million of cash used in investing activities
primarily related to the funding of an energy efficiency and management software and services company. Trade accounts
receivable increased 7% due to the 40% increase in revenue during the three months ended December 31, 2010 compared to the
three months ended December 31, 2009. Days sales outstanding (representing accounts receivable outstanding at December 31,
2010 divided by the average sales per day during the current quarter) improved by 18 days as compared to the previous year.
Revenue from bidders representing 10% or more of our revenue increased to 22% from two bidders during the year ended
December 31, 2010, from 15% from a different bidder during the same period in 2009.

Working capital (consisting of current assets less current liabilities) increased 119%, primarily due to the $1.5 million increase
in cash and cash equivalents. Stockholders’ equity increased 9% for the year ended December 31, 2010 due to share-based
compensation of $0.7 million and net proceeds of $0.4 million from the sale of common stock.

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $1.7 million, an increase of $2.1 million from
a negative $0.4 million in 2009 due to a $2.2 million decrease in net loss. Cash used in investing and financing activities for the
year ended December 31, 2010 was $0.2 million primarily due to the $0.4 million funding of an energy efficiency and
management software and services company, which was substantially offset by $0.4 million in net proceeds from the sale of
common stock. Cash provided by investing and financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2009 was approximately
$0.7 million primarily due to approximately $0.9 million in net proceeds from the sale of common stock, partially offset by
repurchases of our common stock in connection with the vesting of restricted stock granted to employees and costs incurred in
software development.

Adjusted EBITDA, representing net loss excluding share-based compensation charges, depreciation, amortization, and net
interest income (expense), for the year ended December 31, 2010 was a positive $2.0 million as compared to a negative $38,000
for the same period in the prior year. This increase was primarily due to the $2.2 million decrease in net loss. Please refer to the
section below entitled “Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for a reconciliation of non-GAAP measures to the most directly
comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The table below summarizes our gross contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2011.
As of December 31, 2011, we did not have any purchase obligations other than our capital and operating leases.

Contractual Obligations 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total
Capital 1€ases......c.coevvveeierennnnnn, $ 16,637 § 12,855 $ — $ — 8 29,492
Operating leases ........ccceoeeenene. 280,327 162,865 79,166 21,028 543,385

Total contractual obligations...... $ 296,964 $ 175,720 $ 79,166 $ 21,028 $ 572,877

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we provide certain “non-GAAP financial measures”. A non-GAAP financial measure
refers to a numerical financial measure that excludes (or includes) amounts that are included in (or excluded from) the most
directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP in our financial statements. In this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, we provide adjusted EBITDA as additional information relating to our operating results. This non-
GAAP measure excludes expenses related to share-based compensation, depreciation related to our fixed assets, amortization
expense related to acquisition-related assets and capitalized software, interest expense on capital leases, bank borrowings, notes
payable to sellers and contingent consideration, interest income on invested funds and notes receivable, and income taxes.
Management uses this non-GAAP measure for internal reporting and bank reporting purposes. We have provided this non-GAAP
financial measure in addition to GAAP financial results because we believe that this non-GAAP financial measure provides useful
information to certain investors and financial analysts in assessing our operating performance due to the following factors:
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. We believe that the presentation of a non-GAAP measure that adjusts for the impact of share-based compensation
expenses, depreciation of fixed assets, amortization expense related to acquisition-related assets and capitalized
software, interest expense on capital leases, bank borrowings, seller notes and contingent consideration, interest income
on invested funds and notes receivable, and income taxes, provides investors and financial analysts with a consistent
basis for comparison across accounting periods and, therefore, is useful to investors and financial analysts in helping
them to better understand our operating results and underlying operational trends;

. Although share-based compensation is an important aspect of the compensation of our employees and executives, share-
based compensation expense is generally fixed at the time of grant, then amortized over a period of several years after
the grant of the share-based instrument, and generally cannot be changed or influenced by management after the grant;

. We do not acquire intangible assets on a predictable cycle. Our intangible assets relate solely to business acquisitions.
Amortization costs are fixed at the time of an acquisition, are then amortized over a period of several years after the
acquisition and generally cannot be changed or influenced by management after the acquisition;

. We do not regularly incur capitalized software costs. Our capitalized software costs relate primarily to the build-out of
our exchanges. Amortization costs are fixed at the time the costs are incurred and are then amortized over a period of
several years and generally cannot be changed or influenced by management after the initial costs are incurred;

. We do not regularly invest in fixed assets. Our fixed assets relate primarily to computer and office equipment and
furniture and fixtures. Depreciation costs are fixed at the time of purchase and are then depreciated over several years
and generally cannot be changed or influenced by management after the purchase;

. We do not regularly enter into capital leases, bank debt, seller notes and/or pay interest on contingent consideration. Our
capital leases relate primarily to computer and office equipment and seller notes and contingent consideration relate to
acquisition activities. Interest expense is fixed at the time of purchase and recorded over the life of the lease and
generally cannot be changed or influenced by management after the purchase;

. We do not regularly earn interest on our cash accounts and notes receivable. Our cash is invested in U.S. Treasury funds
and has not yielded material returns to date and these returns generally cannot be changed or influenced by management;
and

. We do not regularly pay federal or state income taxes due to our net operating loss carryforwards. Our income tax

expense reflects the anticipated alternative minimum tax liability based on statutory rates that generally cannot be
changed or influenced by management.

Pursuant to the requirements of the SEC, we have provided below a reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measure used to
the most directly comparable financial measure prepared in accordance with GAAP. This non-GAAP financial measure is not
prepared in accordance with GAAP. This measure may differ from the GAAP information, even where similarly titled, used by
other companies and therefore should not be used to compare our performance to that of other companies. The presentation of this
additional information is not meant to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net income (loss) prepared in accordance
with GAAP.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
GAAP net income (10S8) .....cccoeuerereriiennnnee $ 515,541 $  (99,087) $ (2,333,519
Add: Interest (income) expense, net....... 1,526 (8,682) 6,051
Add: IncCome taxes......cocveeereeevnvreeeeenanes 138,224 - -
Add: Share-based compensation . 609,820 671,323 633,285
Add: Amortization of intangibles... 1,347,135 1,026,890 1,199,112
Add: Amortization of other assets.......... 126,953 267,601 310,461
Add: Depreciation ........c.cceceeeeeeevennenne. 146,946 139,612 146,322
Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA...........ccoeene $ 2,886,145 $ 1,997,657 $ (38,288)
Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA per share... $ 0.27 $ 0.22 $ (0.00)
Weighted average diluted shares................ 10,583,630 9,182,767 8,512,060

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from these
estimates.
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The most judgmental estimates affecting our consolidated financial statements are those relating to revenue recognition and the
estimate of actual energy delivered from the bidder to the lister of such energy; share-based compensation; the valuation of
intangible assets and goodwill; the valuation of contingent consideration; impairment of long-lived assets; and estimates of future
taxable income as it relates to the realization of our net deferred tax assets. We regularly evaluate our estimates and assumptions
based upon historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. To the extent actual resuits differ from those estimates; future results of operations may be affected. We believe the
following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements filed herewith for a description of our
accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

Retail Electricity Transactions

We earn a monthly commission on energy sales contracted through its online auction platform from each bidder or energy
supplier based on the energy usage transacted between the bidder and lister or energy consumer. Our commissions are not based
on the retail price for electricity; rather on the amount of energy consumed. Commissions are calculated based on the energy
usage transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer multiplied by our contractual commission rate. Revenue from
commissions is recognized as earned on a monthly basis over the life of each contract as energy is consumed, provided there is
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the sales price is fixed or determinable, collection of the related receivable is reasonably
assured, and customer acceptance criteria, if any, has been successfully demonstrated.

We record brokerage commissions based on actual usage data obtained from the energy supplier for that accounting period, or
to the extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity and gas delivered to the energy
consumers for that accounting period. We develop our estimates on a quarterly basis based on the following criteria:

» Payments received prior to the issuance of the financial statements;
» Usage updates from energy suppliers;

» Usage data from utilities;

» Comparable historical usage data; and

» Historical variances to previous estimates.

To the extent usage data cannot be obtained, we estimate revenue as follows:

* Historical usage data obtained from the energy consumer in conjunction with the execution of the auction;
* Geographic/utility usage patterns based on actual data received;

* Analysis of prior year usage patterns; and

* Specific review of individual energy supplier/location accounts.

In addition, we analyze this estimated data based on overall industry trends including prevailing weather and usage data. Once
the actual data is received, we adjust the estimated accounts receivable and revenue to the actual total amount in the period during
which the payment is received. Based on management’s current capacity to obtain actual energy usage, we currently estimate four
to six weeks of revenue at the end of its accounting period. Differences between estimated and actual revenue have been within
management’s expectations and have not been material to date.

We also recognize revenue from certain mid-market transactions as cash is received from the energy supplier. We do not
invoice our electricity energy suppliers for monthly commissions earned and, therefore, we report a substantial portion of our
receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the energy
suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made up of two
components. The first component represents energy usage for which we have received actual data from the supplier and/or the
utility but for which payment has not been received at the balance sheet date. The majority of our contractual relationships with
energy suppliers require them to supply actual usage data to us on a monthly basis and remit payment to us based on that usage.
The second component represents energy usage for which we have not received actual data, but for which we have estimated
usage. Commissions paid in advance by certain energy suppliers are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized to commission
revenue on a monthly basis on the energy exchanged that month.

Retail Natural Gas Transactions

There are two primary fee components to our retail natural gas services: transaction fees and management fees. Transaction
fees are billed to and paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform. These fees are established prior to award and
are the same for each supplier. For the majority of our natural gas transactions, the supplier is billed upon the conclusion of the
transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire award term multiplied by the transaction fee.
Management fees are paid by our energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered based on
terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements. While substantially all of our retail natural gas transactions are
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accounted for in accordance with this policy, a certain percentage are accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the
customer and recognized as revenue in accordance with the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology
described above.

Demand Response Transactions

Demand response transaction fees are recognized when we receive confirmation from the CSP that the energy consumer has
performed under the applicable RTO or ISO program requirements. The energy consumer is either called to perform during an
actual curtailment event or is required to demonstrate its ability to perform in a test event during the performance period. For PJM
the performance period is June through September in a calendar year. Test results are submitted to PJM by the CSPs and we
receive confirmation of the energy consumer’s performance in the fourth quarter. CSPs typically pay us ratably on a quarterly
basis throughout the demand response fiscal (June to May) year. As a result, a portion of the revenue we recognize is reflected as
unbilled accounts receivable.

Wholesale Transactions

Wholesale transaction fees are invoiced upon the conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied to
future energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where our customers bid
for a consumer’s business, the fees are paid by the bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy products, the fees
are typically paid by the lister. While substantially all wholesale transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small percentage
of our wholesale revenue is accounted for as electricity or gas is delivered, similar to the retail electricity transaction methodology
described above.

Environmental Commodity Transactions

Environmental commodity transaction fees are accounted for utilizing two primary methods. For regulated allowance programs
like RGGI, fees are paid by the lister and are recognized as revenue quarterly as auctions are completed and approved. For most
other environmental commodity transactions both the lister and the bidder pay the transaction fee and revenue is recognized upon
the consummation of the underlying transaction as credits are delivered by the lister and payment is made by the bidder.

Channel Partner Commissions

We pay commissions to our channel partners at contractual rates based on monthly energy transactions between energy
suppliers and energy consumers. The commission is accrued monthly and charged to sales and marketing expense as revenue is
recognized. We pay commissions to our salespeople at contractual commission rates based upon cash collections from our
customers.

Revenue Estimation

Our estimates in relation to revenue recognition affect revenue and sales and marketing expense as reflected on our statements
of operations, and trade accounts receivable and accrued commission accounts as reflected on our balance sheets. For any
quarterly reporting period, we may not have actual usage data for certain energy suppliers and will need to estimate revenue. We
initially record revenue based on the energy consumers’ historical usage profile. At the end of each reporting period, we adjust
this historical profile to reflect actual usage for the period and estimate usage where actual usage is not available. For the year
ended December 31, 2011, we estimated usage for approximately 9% of our revenue resulting in a negative 0.3%, or
approximately $68,000, adjustment to decrease revenue. This decrease in revenue resulted in an approximate $20,000 decrease in
sales and marketing expense related to third party commission expense associated with those revenues. Corresponding
adjustments were made to trade accounts receivable and accrued commissions, respectively. A 1% difference between this
estimate and actual usage would have an approximate $19,000 effect on our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Energy Efficiency Services

We generally recognize revenues for energy efficiency services when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery
has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Due to the short-term nature of projects
(typically two to three weeks), we utilize the completed-contract method. Revenues are recognized based upon factors such as
passage of title, installation, payments and customer acceptance.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We provide for an allowance for doubtful accounts on a specifically identified basis, as well as through historical experience
applied to an aging of accounts, if necessary. Trade accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. To date
write-offs have not been material.
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Goodwill

We use assumptions in establishing the carrying value and fair value of our goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of acquired businesses. We account for goodwill that results from
acquired businesses in accordance with guidance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), under which
goodwill and intangible assets having indefinite lives are not amortized but instead are assigned to reporting units and tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if changes in circumstances or the occurrence of events indicate possible impairment.

We perform an annual impairment review during the fourth fiscal quarter of each year, or earlier, if indicators of potential
impairment exist. The impairment test for goodwill is a two-step process. Step one consists of a comparison of the fair value of a
reporting unit with its carrying amount, including the goodwill allocated to each reporting unit. If the carrying amount is in excess
of the fair value, step two requires the comparison of the implied fair value of the reporting unit whereby the carrying amount of
the reporting unit’s goodwill over the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill will be recorded as an impairment loss.
We performed our annual impairment analysis in December 2011 and determined that no impairment of our goodwill existed.

Intangible Assets

We use assumptions in establishing the carrying value, fair value and estimated lives of our intangible assets. The criteria used
for these assumptions include management’s estimate of the asset’s continuing ability to generate positive income from operations
and positive cash flow in future periods compared to the carrying value of the asset, as well as the strategic significance of any
identifiable intangible asset in our business objectives. If assets are considered impaired, the impairment recognized is the amount
by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Useful lives and related amortization expense are
based on an estimate of the period that the assets will generate revenues or otherwise be used by us. Factors that would influence
the likelihood of a material change in our reported results include significant changes in the asset’s ability to generate positive
cash flow, a significant decline in the economic and competitive environment on which the asset depends and significant changes
in our strategic business objectives.

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships and contracts, purchased technology and other intangibles, and are stated at
cost less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives, which range from one to ten years.

Impairment of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets

In accordance with guidance from the FASB, we periodically review long-lived assets and intangible asscts for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable or that the
useful lives of those assets are no longer appropriate. Recoverability of these assets is determined by comparing the forecasted
undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to which the assets relate to the carrying amount. No impairment of our long-lived
assets was recorded as no change in circumstances indicated that the carrying value of the assets was not recoverable during 2011.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We follow ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820-10”), for fair value measurements. ASC 820-10
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The
standard provides a consistent definition of fair value, which focuses on an exit price, which is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The
standard also prioritizes, within the measurement of fair value, the use of market-based information over entity specific
information and establishes a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based on the nature of inputs used in the valuation
of an asset or liability as of the measurement date.

The hierarchy established under ASC 820-10 gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Level 1 - Pricing inputs are quoted prices available in active markets for identical investments as of the
reporting date. As required by ASC 820-10, the Company does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in
situations where the Company holds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Level 2 - Pricing inputs are quoted prices for similar investments, or inputs that are observable, either directly
or indirectly, for substantially the full term through corroboration with observable market data. Level 2 includes
investments valued at quoted prices adjusted for legal or contractual restrictions specific to these investments.

Level 3 - Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment, that is, inputs that reflect the reporting entity's

own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Level 3 includes
investments that are supported by little or no market activity.
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Income Taxes

In accordance with guidance from the FASB, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined at the end of each period based
on the future tax consequences that can be attributed to net operating loss carryforwards, as well as differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of the existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax
expense or credits are based on changes in the asset or liability from period to period. Valuation allowances are provided if, based
on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income. In determining the valuation
allowance, we consider past performance, expected future taxable income, and qualitative factors which we consider to be
appropriate in estimating future taxable income. Our forecast of expected future taxable income is for future periods that can be
reasonably estimated. Results that differ materially from current expectations may cause us to change our judgment on future
taxable income and adjust our existing tax valuation allowance.

Our estimates in relation to income taxes affect income tax benefit and deferred tax assets as reflected on our statements of
operations and balance sheets, respectively. The deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than
not that the tax benefits will not be realized in the near term. As of December 31, 2011, we had net deferred tax assets of
approximately $7.1 million against which a full valuation allowance has been established. To the extent we determine that it is
more likely than not that we will recover all of our deferred tax assets, it could result in an approximate $7.1 million non-cash tax
benefit.

Share-Based Compensation

We recognize the compensation cost from share-based awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the
award. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, share based awards consisted of stock options and stock warrants, and
for the year ended December 31, 2009, share-based awards consisted of grants of restricted stock and stock options. The
restrictions on the restricted stock lapse over the vesting period. The vesting period of share-based awards is determined by the
board of directors, and is generally four years for employees.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2011-08, Testing Goodwill for Impairment, an
amendment to FASB ASC Topic 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other. The update provides an entity with the option to first
assess qualitative factors in determining whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount. After assessing the qualitative factors, if an entity determines that it is not more likely than not that the fair value
of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is unnecessary. If an entity
concludes otherwise, then it is required to perform the first step of the two-step impairment test as described in FASB ASC Topic
350. Entities have the option to bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit in any period and proceed directly to
performing the first step of the two-step impairment test as well as resume performing the qualitative assessment in any
subsequent period. The ASU is effective for our annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2011. We do not expect the impact of adopting this ASU to be material to our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Seasonality

Our revenue is subject to seasonality and fluctuations during the year primarily as a result of weather conditions and its impact
on the demand for energy. The majority of our revenue is generated from the commissions we receive under any given energy
contract, which is tied to the energy consumer’s consumption of energy. Therefore, revenue from natural gas consumption tends
to be strongest during the winter months due to the increase in heating usage, and revenue from electricity consumption tends to
be strongest during the summer months due to the increase in air conditioning usage. Our revenue is also subject to fluctuations
within any given season, depending on the severity of weather conditions — during a particularty cold winter or an unseasonably
warm summer, energy consumption will rise. In addition, transaction revenue in the natural gas and wholesale markets for which
we invoice upon completion of the respective transaction tends to be higher in the first and fourth quarters when utilities and
natural gas customers make their annual natural gas buys.

Cyclicality

We believe that our business will continue to be cyclical in nature and is tied, in part, to market energy prices which impact
transaction volume. When energy prices increase in competitive markets above the price levels of the regulated utilities, energy
consumers are less likely to lock-in to higher fixed price contracts in the competitive markets and so they are less likely to use our
auction platform. Conversely, when energy prices decrease in competitive markets below the price levels of the regulated utilities,
energy consumers are more likely to lock-in to lower fixed price coniracts in the competitive markets and they are more likely to
use our auction platform. Although our short term revenue is impacted by usage trends, these cyclical effects will also have longer
term implications on our business because we derive future revenue from current auctions. Our Energy Efficiency Services
segment tends to experience higher revenue in the third and fourth quarters as utilities approve funding for projects to be
completed by the end of a calendar year.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Market Risk

Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as foreign currency rates, interest
rates, and other relevant market rates or price changes. In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to market risk resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, and we regularly evaluate our exposure to such changes. Our overall risk
management strategy seeks to balance the magnitude of the exposure and the costs and availability of appropriate financial
Instruments.

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices
Historically, our business has not been materially impacted by inflation. We provide our service at the inception of the service

contract between the energy supplier and energy consumer. Our fee is set as a fixed dollar amount per unit of measure and
fluctuates with changes in energy demand over the contract period.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

Our commission revenue is primarily denominated in U.S. dollars. Therefore, we are not directly affected by foreign exchange
fluctuations on our current orders. However, fluctuations in foreign exchange rates do have an effect on energy consumers’ access
to U.S. dollars and on pricing competition. We have entered into non-U.S. dollar contracts but they have not had a material
impact on our operations. We do not believe that foreign exchange fluctuations will materially affect our results of operations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The consolidated financial statements listed in Item 15(a) are incorporated herein by reference and are filed as a part of this
report and follow the signature page to this Annual Report on Form 10-K on page 37.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the Company carried
out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31,
2011. In designing and evaluating the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, the Company and its management recognize
that there are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility
of human error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure
controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their desired control objectives. Additionally, in
evaluating and implementing possible controls and procedures, the Company’s management was required to apply its reasonable
judgment. Based upon the required evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of
December 31, 2011, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and
forms, and procedures also were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it
files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to its management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

a)  Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the
Company, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
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reporting as of December 31, 2011. In making this assessment, the Company’s management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.

Based on this assessment, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2011, our internal control over financial
reporting is effective based on those criteria.

As described throughout this Report, on October 13, 2011, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain
obligations of Northeast Energy Solutions, LLC and on October 31, 2011, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets
and certain obligations of GSE Consulting, L.P. While our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 include the
results of NES and GSE from the acquisition date through December 31, 2011, as permitted by the rules and regulations of the
SEC, our management’s assessment of our internal control over financial reporting did not include an evaluation of NES and
GSE’s internal control over financial reporting. Further, our management’s conclusion regarding the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 does not extend to NES and GSE’s internal control over financial
reporting.

We are currently integrating policies, processes, technology and operations for the combined companies and will continue to
evaluate our internal control over financial reporting as we develop and execute our integration plans.

b) Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public
accounting firm, pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only management’s report
in this annual report.
¢) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended

December 31, 2011 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.

PART 11

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required to be disclosed by this item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days of the close of its fiscal year.

We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics applicable to all of our directors, officers and employees, including our
Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer. The code of business conduct and ethics is available on the corporate
governance section of “Investor Relations” on our website www.worldenergy.com.

Any waiver of the code of business conduct and ethics for directors or executive officers, or any amendment to the code that
applies to directors or executive officers, may only be made by the board of directors. We intend to satisfy the disclosure
requirement under Item 5.05(c) of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this code of ethics by
posting such information on our website, at the address and location specified above. To date, no such waivers have been
requested or granted.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required to be disclosed by this item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required to be disclosed by this item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required to be disclosed by this item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required to be disclosed by this item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy
statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements

For a list of the financial information included herein, see “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” on page 38 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(a)(2) Financial Statements Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included in the financial statements or
notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits

The list of exhibits filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is set forth on the Exhibit Index immediately preceding
the exhibits hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By: _/s/ Richard Domaleski

Richard Domaleski
Chief Executive Officer

March 8, 2012

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/ Richard Domaleski

Richard Domaleski

/s/ James Parslow

James Parslow

/s/ Edward Libbey

Edward Libbey

/s/ Patrick Bischoff

Patrick Bischoff

/s/ John Wellard

John Wellard

/s/ Thad Wolfe

Thad Wolfe

Title

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Chief Financial Officer

Chairman of the Board and Director

Director

Director

Director

Date

March 8, 2012

March 8, 2012

March &, 2012

March 8, 2012

March 8, 2012

March 8, 2012
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

Consolidated Balance Sheets for World Energy Solutions, Inc. at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010
Consolidated Statements of Operations for World Energy Solutions, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for World Energy Solutions, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and

2009

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for World Energy Solutions, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
World Energy Solutions, Inc.
Worcester, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the “Company™) as of December 31, 2011
and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period
ended December 31, 2011. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of World Energy Solutions, Inc. as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

/S/ Marcum LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 7, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
World Energy Solutions, Inc.
Worcester, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows of World Energy Solutions,
Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2009. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated results of
World Energy Solutions, Inc.’s operations and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

/S/ UHY LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 4, 2010
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,
2011 2010
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENES ............c.oooviiieieieeceeeeeee e e $ 1,837,801 $ 3,559,288
Trade accounts receivable, Net ..........o.oeueeeeeeeeeeeeeieeeeeeroen, 4,057,215 3,124,328
INVeNtory .....c.ccccviccnmnineeeeeeeeve s 288,174 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 392,287 229.108
TOtA]l CUITENT ASSELS .....voecciice ettt ee e 6,575,477 6,912,724
Property and €qUIPMENt, NEL........ocovvururieiieierieeecerer et eeeee s eee e eve v e nee 426,403 287,191
Convertible note recetvable... — 433,333
Intangibles, net 14,178,972 3,723,607
Goodwill 11,817,236 3,178,701
Investments ...............ccceveeeeeeee. 716,936 —
Other assets ... 109.516 191,238
TOLAL ASSELS ...ttt ettt ettt e ee e e s st eseseseseneerese e rsas $ 33,824 540 $ 14,726,794
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ..ottt $ 821,089 $ 263,746
Accrued commissions ... 970,185 847,758
ACCTUEd COMPENSALION ..ottt eeeeee s s s s et en e saseesens 2,109,874 1,970,639
Accrued contingent CONSIAErAtiON ............co.e.cieeeeeereeeeseeeseeeeeeeseeereee s e seeeesees 2,250,000 —
Accrued eXpenses........oveveuveeeiveeeeeeeeenne 564,726 187,097
Deferred revenue and customer advances . 320,899 229,539
INOLES PAYADIE ...ttt ettt eeee s s s s 3,000,000 —
Capital 16ase OBLIZAIONS........coueviueierieeereiecctereeeceaee et eea e e ses s e nens 9.949 14,798
Total current HAbIlIIES .............oooieeiicececeeee e 10,046,722 3,513,577
Capital lease obligations, net of current Portion.................ccocovceverveereereeesreseann 18,984 1,205
Accrued contingent consideration, net of current portion .. 2,489,982 —
Deferred inCome taxes.........ovuvveeiureeeeeeererereeeeeeeenereseesnns 87.733 —
Total HAbIlItIES........cooveeeieieieieiitecei ettt eseeeees e 12.643.421 3.514.782

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued

OF OUESTANAING..........oviuiececriiiceeert ettt et es et ee st e e e sesenaen — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 30,000,000 shares authorized; 11,901,319

shares issued and 11,853,025 shares outstanding at December 31, 2011, and

9,200,306 shares issued and 9,155,281 shares outstanding at December 31, 2010 1,185 916
Additional paid-in CAPILAL...........oeveveveieieeeee e, 42,967,034 33,502,074
AcCUMUIALEd AEFICIE ..vvvevereeceeeecc e (21,565,497) (22,081,038)
Treasury stock, at cost; 48,294 shares at December 31, 2011 and 45,025 shares

at December 31, 2010 ..ottt (221.603) (209.940)
Total StoCKhOIAETS” EQUILY ........cuevmreeeemeniarrereese et ese e s 21.181.119 11.212.012

Total liabilities and stockNolders” eqUILY............ovveivrr e, $ 33824540 $ 14726794

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Revenue:
Brokerage commissions, transaction fees and efficiency projects $ 20,087,139 $ 16,924,689 $§ 13,524,578
Management fEeS......oceurerrirmirmieisisiinssessessee e 999.446 1,059,973 1,093,697
TOAl FEVENUE ....c.vveveereeesesereneeeerenesisesissensesssessassssssnssssessesseacas 21,086,585 17,984,662 14,618,275
COSt OF TEVENUE ..evvverererireeeesssissessnsissssasnssrssssssssessssssesesnensnns 4,009,995 3.715.869 3.709.957
GIOSS POTIE 1eveerrerieciciacariemietrnsss sttt snesen s nins 17.076.590 14,268,793 10.908.318
Operating expenses:
Sales and MArketing .......cccoceereeveuermimirmmissieesesse e 10,631,035 9,483,350 9,714,900
General and administrative. 5.790.264 4.893.212 3.520.886
Total Operating EXPENSES .....coceoveeresescseseeceisinimiiiiassssissinaness 16,421,299 14,376,562 13,235,786
Operating iNCOME (10SS) ....vviveveierrmrrmerereriiisisisiiirns 655.291 (107.769) (2.327.468)
Interest income (expense):
INEELESE INCOMMIE «.evveevvieereeerreererereesseesnreensseesnneereesssasaanesnreas 51,245 11,042 611
INtEerest EXPeNSe....coerivesreruereeeeenuens (52,771) (2.360) (6.662)
Total interest income (expense), net (1.526) 8.682 (6,051)
Income (loss) before income taxes 653,765 (99,087) (2,333,519)
INCOME tAX EXPEMSE ..oveencrerinvirearsiersereseessessssssassssssessaseneeneacsiens 138,224 — —
Net ifCOME (10SS).eruvvererereececrrimrinerernrnnssssnssssesessiesescicacnens $ 515,541 § (99,087 § (2,333.519)
Net income (loss) per common share — basic and diluted....... $ 005 % (001) $ (0.27)
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic ... 10,521,910 9,067.834 8.512,060
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted.......coocrvenines 10,583,630 9,067,834 8,512,060

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009

Common Stock Treasury Stock Additional Total
Number of $0.0001 Number of Stated at Paid-in Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Par Value _ Shares Cost Capital Deficit Equity

Balance, December 31, 2008.......... 8,397,684 $ 840 13,043 $(98,873) $30,755,596 (19,648,432) 11,009,131
Share-based compensation ............ — — — — 633,285 — 633,285
Issuance of common stock in

connection with restricted stock

grants . 63,070 6 25,840 (93,159) 77,707 — (15,446)
Issuance of common stock in

connection with private

placement, net .......cccceeeeiiieennnn. 336,700 34 — — 935,442 — 935,476
Exercise of stock options. 53,020 S — — 29,210 — 29,215
Net 10SS vooeveeieeieeereece e o — — — — _(2.333.519) (2,333.519)
Balance, December 31, 2009.......... 8,850,474 885 38,883 (192,032) 32,431,240  (21,981,951) 10,258,142
Share-based compensation ............ — — — — 671,323 — 671,323
Issuance of common stock in

connection with restricted stock

EIANES .oovveererenieeeereereere e e eans 23,770 1 6,142 (17,908) §)) — (17,908)
Issuance of common stock in

connection with private

placement, net .....c.ceeceevveereenrennenne. 152,397 16 e —_ 354,260 — 354,276
Exercise of stock options................ 124,530 13 — — 44,019 — 44,032
Exercise of stock warrants.............. 4,110 1 — — 1,233 — 1,234
NEt10SS wveveeeerieeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeveeens —_ — — — — (99.087) (99.087)
Balance, December 31, 2010.......... 9,155,281 916 45,025 (209,940) 33,502,074 (22,081,038) 11,212,012
Share-based compensation ............ — — — — 609,820 — 609,820
Issuance of common stock in

connection with restricted stock

GIANLS ...eoevienreeerrerresresreseenesrennes 17,596 1 3,269 (11,663) 1) — (11,663)
Issuance of common stock in

connection with private

placement, net .......cooveeeerrereennenen. 1,520,001 152 — — 5,303,827 — 5,303,979
Issuance of common stock in

connection with acquisitions ........ 1,083,209 108 — — 3,462,014 — 3,462,122
Exercise of stock options........ 76,938 8 — — 89,300 — 89,308
Net INCOME ....oovreeveeieeerieenierrenns — — — — o 515.541 515,541
Balance, December 31, 2011 11,853,025 1,185 48,294 $(221,603) $42,967,034 $(21,565.497) $ 21,181,119

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net INCOME (J0SS) .eeuruvererrrrereeaaeeieieteeertrianteseteseetereseesesteresessesesereesesues $ 515,541 $ (99,087) $ (2,333,519)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by

(used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amoOrtiZation ...........ceveeveeeeeecerienmenereeceosieenenes.s 1,621,034 1,434,103 1,655,895

Deferred INCOME tAXES. .cu..eiieeeeicreeeecereeeeeeeeerrreeerrreeeerereeesseeeassaees 87,733 — —
Share-based COMPENSALION ....ovvviiviiiiiiiniiiiscemii e 609,820 671,323 633,285
Loss on disposal of property and equipment..........ccoceeeeveveecrcnnennn. — — 1,604
Interest on note receivable ..........cocoveirimecininiic e (53,526) (13,410) —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of
acquisitions:
Trade accounts receivable .........cocevveeiiviininiininiiiiiic (30,260) (215,304) (565,431)
INVENLOTY ..ttt ettt caces e tneresae s ebe st snssresnanes (286,299) — —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets.. (154,479) (16,075) 218,213
AcCCOUNES PAYADIE ......veeiiiiciiiiiccce 557,343 (21,466) (308,341)
Accrued COMMUSSIONS .....eeueerierierireirecreeiirieneearesrsesnaesisssnnenas 118,427 12,416 57,558
Accrued COMPENSALION ....eveuveuirrerieiieiresietiesmin e sreans 139,235 689,956 240,228
Accrued contingent consideration........coceeeeneereniinncrniiiniininns 54,169 e —
ACCTUCH EXPENSES. ...vvereirerieiereieaieieereeetesesetssetaerisssesesessasatasenee 377,629 (141,719) (26,695)
Deferred revenue and customer advances.........ooveeeereeeeienrnicnenes 91.360 (644.213) (2,519)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ..................... 3.647.727 1,656,524 (429,722)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Increase in Other ASSELS ....ccevveeeveeveimrieeieerccrcrene et (43,613) (20,500) (80,520)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net (10,404,382) — —
Advances against note receivable ... (216,666) (433,334) —
Purchases of property and equipment ............ccoeevvivvrieiinieinnnns (17,540) (55,770) (1,432)
Cash received in sale of property and equipment — — 500
Net cash used in investing aCtiVities .......ovvveveevecrcniveernenvnceennons (10,682.201) (509.604) (81.452)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock Options .........ccccecievvennniniiiiniiens 89,308 44,032 29,215
Proceeds from exercise of stock Warrants ............ceeeeccvennevneenecnnns — 1,234 —
Proceeds from the sale of common stock, net......cccoveveveiieeiiieicinennes 5,303,979 354,276 935,476
Purchase of treasury StOCK.........coecevceerieeriininieiccieicnnincecceenes (11,663) (17,908) (93,159)
Principal payments of notes payable................... (53,709) — —
Principal payments on capital lease obligations...........c..ccovveviennnn (14.928) (16.175) (44.860)
Net cash provided by financing activities ...........cococovviririniininiianns 5,312,987 365.459 826,672
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents........ccccoceervveenenns (1,721,487) 1,512,379 315,498
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 3,559,288 2,046,909 1.731.411
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year...........ccocoveveiniinniiniiinenns $ 1.837.801 $ 3,559.288 $ 2046909
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Net cash paid fOr Interest.........ocoeurreerrnerreeeesereseee e $ (34931) $ (4711) $ (5.494)
Net cash paid for income taxes $ (20,148) $ — b —
Non-cash activities:
Fair value of restricted common stock granted to employees.............. $ — $ — 3 77,713
Net capital lease Obligations............coceemerureveniriesiiiiiineeeieisiieessenns 3 — $ — 3 30.816
Fair value of common stock issued in acquisitions .......ccccoeeevevieennnes $ 3462122 $ — $ —
Notes payable issued in aCqUISIHONS .....ccoveerevermviniriniiniiininic i $ 3.000,000 $ — $ —
Fair value of contingent consideration issued in acquisitions . $ 4685813 $ — $§ —
Notes payable assumed in acquisitions ........ccecceeeiocnciceciinnnnncne. $ 53,709 $ — 3 —
Conversion of note receivable into equity investment.......c..vevneeeec. $ 716,936 $ — $ —
Capital lease obligations assumed in acquiSitions .........ccoecccceveerveenneee $ 27,858 $ — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
NOTE 1 — COMPANY OVERVIEW

World Energy Solutions, Inc. (“World Energy” or the “Company”) offers a range of energy management solutions to commercial and
industrial businesses, institutions, utilities, and governments to reduce their overall energy costs. The Company comes to market with a
holistic approach to energy management helping customers a) contract for the lowest price for energy, b) engage in energy efficiency projects
to minimize quantity used and c) maximize available rebate and incentive programs. The Company made its mark on the industry with an
innovative approach to procurement via its state-of-the-art online auction platforms, the World Energy Exchange®, the World Green
Exchange® and the World DR Exchange®. With recent investments and acquisitions, World Energy is building out its energy efficiency
practice - offering technology-enabled solutions such as online audits of facilities to identify retrofit options and project management services
for retrofit implementation, believing this practice will also enable more cross-selling opportunities for commodity auctions. The Company is
also taking its suite of solutions to the rapidly growing small- and medium-sized customer markets.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include its wholly-owned subsidiary World Energy Securities Corp. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current
year presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from these estimates.

The Company’s most judgmental estimates affecting its consolidated financial statements are those relating to revenue recognition
and the estimate of actual energy delivered from the bidder to the lister of such energy; share-based compensation; the valuation of
intangible assets and goodwill; the valuation of contingent consideration; impairment of long-lived assets; and estimates of future
taxable income as it relates to the realization of our net deferred tax assets. The Company regularly evaluates its estimates and
assumptions based upon historical experience and various other factors that the Company believes to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. To the extent actual results differ from those estimates; future results of operations may be
affected. The Company believes the following critical accounting policies affect management’s more significant judgments and
estimates used in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Retail Electricity Transactions

The Company earns a monthly commission on energy sales contracted through its online auction platform from each bidder or energy
supplier based on the energy usage transacted between the bidder and lister or energy consumer. The Company’s commissions are not based
on the retail price for electricity; rather on the amount of energy consumed. Commissions are calculated based on the energy usage transacted
between the energy supplier and energy consumer multiplied by the Company’s contractual commission rate. Revenue from commissions is
recognized as earned on a monthly basis over the life of each contract as energy is consumed, provided there is persuasive evidence of an
arrangement, the sales price is fixed or determinable, collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured, and customer acceptance
criteria, if any, has been successfully demonstrated.

The Company records brokerage commissions based on actual usage data obtained from the energy supplier for that accounting period, or
to the extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity and gas delivered to the energy consumers for that
accounting period. The Company develops its estimates on a quarterly basis based on the following criteria:

* Payments received prior to the issuance of the financial statements;
* Usage updates from energy suppliers;

* Usage data from utilities;

» Comparable historical usage data; and

* Historical variances to previous estimates.
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To the extent usage data cannot be obtained, we estimate revenue as follows:

« Historical usage data obtained from the energy consumer in conjunction with the execution of the auction;
» Geographic/utility usage patterns based on actual data received,

» Analysis of prior year usage patterns; and

* Specific review of individual energy supplier/location accounts.

In addition, the Company analyzes this estimated data based on overall industry trends including prevailing weather and usage data. Once
the actual data is received, the Company adjusts the estimated accounts receivable and revenue to the actual total amount in the period during
which the payment is received. Based on management’s current capacity to obtain actual energy usage, the Company currently estimates four
to six weeks of revenue at the end of its accounting period. Differences between estimated and actual revenue have been within management’s
expectations and have not been material to date.

The Company also recognizes revenue from certain mid-market transactions as cash is received from the energy supplier. The Company
does not invoice its electricity energy suppliers for monthly commissions earned and, therefore, it reports a substantial portion of its
receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the energy suppliers to
the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made up of two components. The first
component represents energy usage for which the Company has received actual data from the supplier and/or the utility but for which payment
has not been received at the balance sheet date. The majority of the Company’s contractual relationships with energy suppliers requires them
to supply actual usage data to the Company on a monthly basis and remit payment to the Company based on that usage. The second
component represents energy usage for which the Company has not received actual data, but for which it has estimated usage. Commissions
paid in advance by certain energy suppliers are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized to commission revenue on a monthly basis on the
energy exchanged that month.

Retail Natural Gas Transactions

There are two primary fee components to the Company’s retail natural gas services: transaction fees and management fees. Transaction
fees are billed to and paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform. These fees are established prior to award and are the same
for each supplier. For the majority of the Company’s natural gas transactions, the supplier is billed upon the conclusion of the transaction
based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire award term multiplied by the transaction fee. Management fees are paid by the
Company’s energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered based on terms and conditions included in
contractual arrangements. While substantially all of the Company’s retail natural gas transactions are accounted for in accordance with this
policy, a certain percentage are accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the customer and recognized as revenue in accordance with
the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above.

Demand Response Transactions

Demand response transaction fees are recognized when the Company receives confirmation from the Curtailment Service Provider (“CSP”)
that the energy consumer has performed under the applicable Regional Transmission Organization (“RTO”) or Independent Service Operator
(“ISO”) program requirements. The energy consumer is either called to perform during an actual curtailment event or is required to
demonstrate its ability to perform in a test event during the performance period. For PJM Interconnection (“PJM”) the performance period is
June through September in a calendar year. Test results are submitted to PJM by the CSPs and the Company receives confirmation of the
energy consumer’s performance in the fourth quarter. CSPs typically pay the Company ratably on a quarterly basis throughout the demand
response fiscal (June to May) year. As a result, a portion of the revenue the Company recognizes is reflected as unbilled accounts receivable.

Wholesale Transactions

Wholesale transaction fees are invoiced upon the conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied to future
energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where the Company’s customers bid for a
consumer’s business, the fees are paid by the bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy products, the fees are typically paid
by the lister. While substantially all wholesale transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small percentage of our wholesale revenue is
accounted for as electricity or gas is delivered, similar to the retail electricity transaction methodology described above.

Environmental Commodity Transactions

Environmental commodity transaction fees are accounted for utilizing two primary methods. For regulated allowance programs like the
Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (“RGGI”), fees are paid by the lister and are recognized as revenue quarterly as auctions are completed
and approved. For most other environmental commodity transactions both the lister and the bidder pay the transaction fee and revenue is
recognized upon the consummation of the underlying transaction as credits are delivered by the lister and payment is made by the bidder.
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Channel Partner Commissions

The Company pays commissions to its channel partners at contractual rates based on monthly energy transactions between energy suppliers
and energy consumers. The commission is accrued monthly and charged to sales and marketing expense as revenue is recognized. The
Company pays commissions to its salespeople at contractual commission rates based upon cash collections from its customers.

Revenue Estimation

The Company’s estimates in relation to revenue recognition affect revenue and sales and marketing expense as reflected on its statements of
operations, and trade accounts receivable and accrued commission accounts as reflected on its balance sheets. For any quarterly reporting
period, the Company may not have actual usage data for certain energy suppliers and will need to estimate revenue. Revenue is initially
recorded based on the energy consumers” historical usage profile. At the end of each reporting period, the Company adjusts this historical
profile to reflect actual usage for the period and estimate usage where actual usage is not available. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the
Company estimated usage for approximately 9% of its revenue resulting in a negative 0.3%, or approximately $68,000, adjustment to decrease
revenue. This decrease in revenue resulted in an approximate $14,000 decrease in sales and marketing expense related to third party
commission expense associated with those revenues. Corresponding adjustments were made to trade accounts receivable and accrued
commissions, respectively. A 1% difference between this estimate and actual usage would have an approximate $19,000 effect on our revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Energy Efficiency Services

The Company generally recognizes revenues for energy efficiency services when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Due to the short-term nature of projects (typically two to
three weeks), the Company utilizes the completed-contract method. Revenues are recognized based upon factors such as passage of title,
installation, payments and customer acceptance.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents.
These investments are stated at cost, which approximates market value.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and trade accounts
receivable. The Company has no significant off-balance sheet risk such as foreign exchange contracts, option contracts, or other foreign
hedging arrangements. The Company places its cash with primarily one institution, which management believes is of high credit quality. As
of December 31, 2011, all of the Company’s cash is held in an interest bearing account.

The Company earns commission payments from bidders based on transactions completed between listers and bidders. The Company
provides credit in the form of invoiced and unbilled accounts receivable to bidders in the normal course of business. Collateral is not required
for trade accounts receivable, but ongoing credit evaluations of bidders are performed. While the majority of the Company’s revenue is
generated from retail energy transactions where the winning bidder pays a commission to the Company, commission payments for certain
auctions can be paid by the lister, bidder or a combination of both. Management provides for an allowance for doubtful accounts on a
specifically identified basis, as well as through historical experience applied to an aging of accounts, if necessary. Trade accounts receivable
are written off when deemed uncollectible. To date write-offs have not been material.

The following represents revenue and trade accounts receivable from bidders exceeding 10% of the total in each category:

Trade accounts receivable as of

Revenue for the year ended December 31, December 31,
Bidder / Lister 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010
4% 7% 15% 10% 15%
11% 12% 9% 8% 14%
12% 10% 3% 13% 18%
6% 7% 7% 11% 9%

In August 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with one of its energy suppliers for the payment of all amounts due to the
Company subsequent to August 1, 2011 associated with expected future energy usage without recourse. As a result, the price became fixed
and determinable and a net increase of $0.5 million in revenue was recognized. In addition, third party and internal commission expense of
$0.2 million was recorded in 2011 representing amounts due to channel partners and sales reps against this payment.

In addition to its direct relationship with bidders, the Company also has direct contractual relationships with listers for the online
procurement of certain of their energy, demand response or environmental needs. These listers are primarily large businesses and government

World Energy

47



organizations and do not have a direct creditor relationship with the Company. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, no energy
consumer represented more than 10% individually of the Company’s aggregate revenue, respectively.

Inventory

Inventory is maintained in the Company’s energy efficiency services segment and consists of equipment and consumable components for
the installation process, and is stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. Historical
inventory usage and current trends are considered in estimating both excess and obsolete inventory. To date, there have been no write-downs
of inventory.

Inventories consisted of the following at December 31, 2011:

Prepaid eXpendables .......coomrimiiriiiisiss i s $ 63,521

Project MALErials..........cooocimiirieieereccite ettt b st . 224.653

TOLAL INVENLOTY ....otetieteeeeaeceeere ettt cteeeeatesee e sa bt r e s as b s e bbb sae e s s e s s r e m e se e bt st e st $ 288,174
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related
assets or the life of the related lease, whichever is shorter, which range from 3 to 7 years.

Investment / Convertible Note Receivable

In 2010, the Company made a strategic investment in the form of a two-year $650,000 convertible note with Retroficiency, Inc.
(“Retroficiency”). The convertible note accrued interest at 9% per annum with principal and interest due at the end of the term on July 22,
2012. It included optional and automatic conversion rights to convert into Retroficiency shares at $0.54 per share and was subject to
adjustment in certain circumstances. During the fourth quarter of 2011, Retroficiency executed a qualified financing in the form of Series A
Preferred Stock offering at a price in excess of the Company’s conversion price. As result, all principal and interest amounts outstanding under
the convertible note receivable at the time of the financing were converted into Series A Preferred stock. The Company has accounted for this
investment at cost and is reflected as Investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2011. See Note 12-
“Fair Value Measurement and Fair Value of Financial Instruments” for the fair value assessment of the Retroficiency investment.

Other Assets

Certain acquired software and significant enhancements to the Company’s software are capitalized in accordance with guidance from the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”). No internally developed software costs were capitalized in 2011 or 2010 and costs of
approximately $82,000 related to implementation, coding and configuration was capitalized in 2009. The Company amortizes internally
developed and purchased software over the estimated useful life of the software (generally three years). During 2011, 2010 and 2009,
approximately $113,000, $268,000 and $310,000 were amortized to cost of revenues, respectively. Accumulated amortization was
approximately $1,203,000 and $1,090,000 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, net capitalized
software costs were approximately $18,000 and $131,000, respectively. The unamortized balance of internally developed software at
December 31, 2011 will be fully expensed in 2012. Pre- and post- software implementation and configuration costs have historically been
immaterial and charged to cost of revenue as incurred.

Intangible Assets

The Company uses assumptions in establishing the carrying value, fair value and estimated lives of its intangible assets. The criteria used
for these assumptions include management’s estimate of the asset’s continuing ability to generate positive income from operations and
positive cash flow in future periods compared to the carrying value of the asset, as well as the strategic significance of any identifiable
intangible asset in the Company’s business objectives. If assets are considered impaired, the impairment recognized is the amount by which
the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Useful lives and related amortization expense are based on an estimate of
the period that the assets will generate revenues or otherwise be used by the Company. Factors that would influence the likelihood of a
material change in the Company’s reported results include significant changes in the asset’s ability to generate positive cash flow, a significant
decline in the economic and competitive environment on which the asset depends and significant changes in the Company’s strategic business
objectives.

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships and contracts, non-compete agreements, tradenames and other intangibles, and are stated
at cost less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, which range from one to ten years. Amortization expense was approximately $1,347,000, $1,027,000 and $1,200,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Accumulated amortization of intangible assets amounted to approximately
$5,754,000 and $4,407,000 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The approximate future amortization expense of intangible assets is
as follows:
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$ 2,684,000
2,473,000
2,059,000

.. 1,491,000
__3.735.000

$ 12,442,000

Impairment of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets

In accordance with guidance from the FASB, the Company periodically reviews long-lived assets and intangible assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable or that the useful lives of
those assets are no longer appropriate. Recoverability of these assets is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows
of the operation to which the assets relate to the carrying amount. No impairment of our long-lived assets was recorded as no change in
circumstances indicated that the carrying value of the assets was not recoverable during 2011.

Goodwill

The Company uses assumptions in establishing the carrying value and fair value of its goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of acquired businesses. The Company accounts for goodwill that results from
acquired businesses in accordance with guidance with the FASB, under which goodwill and intangible assets having indefinite lives are not
amortized but instead are assigned to reporting units and tested for impairment annually or more frequently if changes in circumstances or the
occurrence of events indicate possible impairment.

The Company performs its annual impairment test during the fourth fiscal quarter of each year, or earlier, if indicators of potential
impairment exist. The impairment test for goodwill is a two-step process. Step one consists of a comparison of the fair value of a reporting
unit with its carrying amount, including the goodwill allocated to each reporting unit. If the carrying amount is in excess of the fair value, step
two requires the comparison of the implied fair value of the reporting unit whereby the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill over
the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill will be recorded as an impairment loss. The Company performed its annual impairment
analysis in December 2011 and determined that no impairment of goodwill existed.

Warranty

The Company’s energy efficiency services segment provides its customers a one year warranty for all parts and labor in its installation
workmanship. The Company provides for the estimated cost of warranties, determined primarily from historical information and
management’s judgment, at the time revenue is recognized. Should actual warranties differ from the Company’s estimates, revisions to the
estimated warranty liability would be required. There was no warranty liability reflected in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2011 and no reported warranty claims for the year ended December 31, 2011. As 2011 was the initial year of the energy
efficiency services operations, there were no warranty obligations prior to 2011.

Income Taxes

In accordance with guidance from the FASB, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined at the end of each period based on the future
tax consequences that can be attributed to net operating loss carryforwards, as well as differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of the existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax expense or credits are based on changes in the
asset or liability from period to period. Valuation allowances are provided if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than
not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of
future taxable income. In determining the valuation allowance, we consider past performance, expected future taxable income, and qualitative
factors which we consider to be appropriate in estimating future taxable income. The Company’s forecast of expected future taxable income is
for future periods that can be reasonably estimated. Results that differ materially from current expectations may cause the Company to change
its judgment on future taxable income and adjust its existing tax valuation allowance.

The Company has reviewed the tax positions taken, or to be taken, in its tax returns for all tax years currently open to examination by the
taxing authority in accordance with the FASB’s recognition and measurement standards. At December 31, 2011, there are no expected
material, aggregate tax effects of differences between tax return positions and the benefits recognized in the Company’s financial statements.
The Company accounts for interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of its provision for income taxes.

Share-based Compensation

The Company recognizes the compensation from share-based awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award.
For the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, share-based awards consisted of grants of stock options and stock warrants, and for the year
ended December 31, 2009, share-based awards consisted of grants of restricted stock and stock options. The restrictions on the restricted stock
lapse over the vesting period. The vesting period of share-based awards is determined by the board of directors, and is generally four years for
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employees.

The Company accounts for transactions in which services are received from non-employees in exchange for equity instruments based on the
fair value of such services received or of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measured. For the year ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, share-based awards to non-employees consisted of grants of stock warrants. The vesting period of stock warrants granted
ranged from one to five years.

Advertising Expense

Advertising expense primarily includes promotional expenditures and is expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses incurred were
approximately $144,000, $70,000 and $44,000 for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Guidance from the FASB establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income (loss) and its components in financial
statements. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in stockholders’ equity of a business enterprise during a period from
transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. The comprehensive income (loss) for all periods presented does not
differ from the reported net income (loss).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued
expenses (including contingent consideration), and debt. The carrying amounts for these financial instruments reported in the consolidated
balance sheets approximate their fair values. See Fair Value Measurements below for further discussion of fair value.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company follows Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820-10”), for
fair value measurements. ASC 820-10 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. The standard provides a consistent definition of fair value, which focuses on an exit price, which is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The
standard also prioritizes, within the measurement of fair value, the use of market-based information over entity specific information and
establishes a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based on the nature of inputs used in the valuation of an asset or liability as of
the measurement date.

The hierarchy established under ASC 820-10 gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). As required by ASC 820-10, the Company's available-for-sale
investments are classified within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820-10, and its applicability to the Company's available-for-sale investments, are
described below:

Level 1 - Pricing inputs are quoted prices available in active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date. As
required by ASC 820-10, the Company does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in situations where the Company
holds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Level 2 - Pricing inputs are quoted prices for similar investments, or inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly,
for substantially the full term through corroboration with observable market data. Level 2 includes investments valued at quoted
prices adjusted for legal or contractual restrictions specific to these investments.

Level 3 - Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment, that is, inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own
assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Level 3 includes investments that
are supported by little or no market activity.

Segment Reporting

Guidance from the FASB establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments in financial statements. Operating
segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the
chief decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company’s chief decision maker is the president
and chief operating officer. The Company’s chief decision maker reviews the results of operations based on two industry segments: the
brokering of energy and environmental commodities by conducting structured events utilizing online exchanges and energy efficiency
services.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2011-08, Testing Goodwill for Impairment, an amendment to
FASB ASC Topic 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other. The update provides an entity with the option to first assess qualitative factors in
determining whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. After assessing the
qualitative factors, if an entity determines that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is unnecessary. If an entity concludes otherwise, then it is required to perform the first
step of the two-step impairment test as described in FASB ASC Topic 350. Entities have the option to bypass the qualitative assessment for
any reporting unit in any period and proceed directly to performing the first step of the two-step impairment test as well as resume performing
the qualitative assessment in any subsequent period. The ASU is effective for the Company for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests
performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. The Company does not expect the impact of adopting this ASU to be material
to the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

NOTE 3 — ACQUISITIONS

The Company accounts for acquisitions using the purchase method in accordance with ASC 805, “Business Combinations.” The results of
operations of each acquisition have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of the dates of the acquisition.
Total cash paid for acquisitions in 2011 was $10.4 million. In addition, the Company recognized $0.7 million of total acquisition related costs
that were included in general and administrative expense primarily during the fourth quarter of 2011 in the consolidated statement of
operations.

Co-eXprise

On September 13, 2011, the Company acquired certain contracts and assumed certain liabilities of the Co-eXprise, Inc. (“Co-eXprise™)
energy procurement business for $4.0 million. Co-eXprise, located in Wexford Pennsylvania, is a leading provider of enterprise sourcing
software solutions for discrete manufacturers, enabling companies to effectively manage sourcing activities for direct material and complex
indirect spend categories.

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred totaled $4.0 million, which consisted of the following:

Purchase price
CaSH .ttt sans $ 4,000,000

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

Allocations
Unbilled accounts receivable ............oooeeviiirieeioeeeiiieeeeceeeeeee e $ 412,609
Current liabilities.............cooevevenievennnenee. (4,000)
Intangible assets .... 1,760,000
GOOAWIIL ..ottt s 1,831,391
Net aSSetS ACQUITEA.......cuveueeeiiiriceeeceecccte ettt et et et eee e sreneas $ 4,000,000

The fair value of accounts receivable acquired on September 13, 2011 was approximately $413,000. The gross contractual amount of these
accounts receivable was approximately $460,000, of which $47,000 was not expected to be collected.

The purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities assumed based on estimates of their respective fair
values at the date of acquisition with the remaining unallocated purchase price recorded as goodwill. Fair value of intangible assets was
determined using a combination of the income approach and cost approach. The goodwill recognized is attributable primarily to expected
synergies of Co-eXprise and is expected to be deductible for tax purposes over a period of 15 years. As of December 31, 2011, there were no
changes in the recognized amounts of goodwill. Acquisition costs of approximately $0.2 million were recorded in general and administrative
expense in 2011.

Management is responsible for the valuation of net assets acquired and considered a number of factors, including valuations and appraisals,
when estimating the fair values and estimated useful lives of acquired assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2011 the allocation of purchase
price had been finalized. The intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their weighted average
lives as follows:

Weighted
Fair Value Average Lives
NON-COMPELE AGIEENENLS ......vvereeeereercrerereteserereee e teeerereeneeeeans $ 170,000 5 years
Customer relationships . 580,000 7 years
CUSLOIMET COMITACES ...veveveurrrerereteererestetesieercseeeceseseteeseseeeeeee e eeeeeeaeseans 1,010,000 2.5 years

§ 1,760,000
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NES

On October 13, 2011, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain obligations of Northeast Energy Solutions, LLC
(“NES”) for a maximum purchase price of $4.8 million. NES, located in Cromwell Connecticut, focuses on turn-key electrical and mechanical
energy efficiency measures serving commercial, industrial and institutional customers.

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred totaled $4.6 million, which consisted of the following:

Purchase price
CASIL +vve e eeeee et et e et e eaeesssereent et e easeseessene e s s eesesteee et e bt et et e eae s esn e e enes $ 1,004,131

Common stock (83,209 shares)... 252,122
Notes payable to SEller ... 3,000,000
Contingent CONSIAEIAtION.........coviurrrviriiiie s 357,813
Total CONSIATALION.........cveveveieeieiieeeeece et seerecemsnses e $ 4,614,066

The fair value of the 83,209 common shares issued was determined based on the closing market price of the Company’s common shares on
the acquisition date.

The fair value of the Notes payable to seller was recorded at the face amount of the notes entered into at the date of acquisition due to their
short-term maturity and market rate of interest. The Notes payable to seller bear interest at 5% and are due in three equal installments as

follows:
Due Date Amount
July 2,2012...... 1,000,000
October 1, 2012...... 1,000,000
December 28, 2012 ... 1,000,000
Total NOLES PAYADIE «..ceuvevririerimrmriimsireiere e $ 3,000,000

Interest is payable on each tranche at the respective due dates. These notes are unsecured and are subordinated to our credit facility with
Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”).

As part of the total consideration, NES can earn up to $500,000 in contingent consideration if certain performance criteria are met post-
acquisition. This potential contingent consideration consists of two equal amounts of $250,000 and are due on January 15, 2012 (the “2011
NES Contingent Consideration”) and January 15, 2013 (the “2012 NES Contingent Consideration”), respectively. The fair value of the
contingent consideration was based on the weighted probability of achievement of certain performance milestones. The 2011 NES Contingent
Consideration was tied to World Energy achieving designation as an authorized vendor for the Small Business Energy Advantage program of
Connecticut Light & Power by December 31, 2011. The Company initially valued this contingent payment at $237,500, which has been
recorded as Accrued contingent consideration on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The 2012 NES Contingent Consideration is
tied to the achievement of certain revenue and net income milestones for the year ending December 31, 2012. The Company initially valued
this contingent payment at $120,312, which has been recorded as Accrued contingent consideration, net of current portion as part of long-term
Jiabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. In initially measuring the fair value of the contingent consideration, the Company
assigned probabilities to these performance criteria, based among other things on the nature of the performance criteria and the Company’s
due diligence performed at the time of the acquisition. As of December 31, 2011, the Company determined that the 2011 NES Contingent
Consideration was met and recorded a $12,500 charge to general and administrative expense during the fourth quarter. As of December 31,
2011, there were no changes in the recognized amounts of the 2012 NES Contingent Consideration.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

Allocations
CUITEIE ASSELS wonevevereeeeeereereeressesesseseereesessensesneaessesresessssasssassesnernssreens $ 1,875
FAXEA @SSELS +.nnveeneeeeeeeveeeeriseesnreesseesesassassssessseesseesnseesmmessnsesssessssnarasens 168,530
Capital IASES....cccocovviiiirrereeee s (53,709)
INEANZIDIE ASSELS ..veveeeeeeecicieiee ittt 2,962,500
GOOAWILL e ere e e e e e ne s e s bt s s rb s ssnessna s e beeusbes snnens 1,534,870
Net aSSEtS ACQUITEA ....vvnrnrreceecccarmrmmsmisitsissserrrs bbb sasiecsees $ 4,614,066

The purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities assumed based on estimates of their respective fair
values at the date of acquisition with the remaining unallocated purchase price recorded as goodwill. Fair value of intangible assets was
determined using a combination of the multi-period excess earnings method, the income approach and the cost replacement approach. The
goodwill recognized is attributable primarily due to future revenue generation resulting from expanded product lines and new markets and is
expected to be deductible for tax purposes over a period of 15 years. As of December 31, 2011, there were no changes in the recognized
amounts of goodwill. Acquisition costs of approximately $0.1 million in 2011 were recorded in general and administrative expenses.
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Management is responsible for the valuation of net assets acquired and considered a number of factors, including valuations and appraisals,
when estimating the fair values and estimated useful lives of acquired assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2011 the allocation of purchase
price had been finalized. The intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their weighted average
lives as follows:

Weighted
Fair Value Average Lives
Customer relationships ........ccevveerirerieieeereeeiee e seneaeas $ 991,600 9 years
Customer relationships — indefinite life.. 1,736,000 N/A
NON-COMPELE AZIEEMENTS ....cveeveiiiirrireeeieeeeteee ettt 234,900 5 years

$ 2,962,500

GSE:

On October 31, 2011, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain obligations of GSE Consulting, L.P. (“GSE”) for a
maximum purchase price of $13.1 million. GSE is a Texas based energy management and procurement company. The purchase price was $8.6
million, consisting of $3.9 million in cash, $1.5 million in cash to pay off GSE debt, and 1.0 million shares of our Common Stock valued at
$3.2 million. In addition, GSE may earn up to $4.5 million of contingent consideration in cash based on the achievement of certain annualized
new booking and renewal rate targets to be measured over a two-year period through October 2013.

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred totaled $12.9 million, which consisted of the following:

Purchase price

CASN L.ttt ettt et e e eeaae s ee e be et e et eeateernenenan $ 5,400,251
Common stock (1,000,000 shares) .. 3,210,000
Contingent consideration.............. 4,328,000
Total CONSIAETALION......c.occveiieeeeeeceeteee ettt eeeeereeae e e eeeeees $ 12,938,251

The fair value of the 1,000,000 common shares issued was determined based on the closing market price of the Company’s common shares
on the acquisition date.

As part of the total consideration, GSE can earn up to $4.5 million in contingent consideration if certain performance criteria are met post-
acquisition. These potential contingent payments are as follows:

Due Date Amount
January 31, 2012 (“GSE 2011 Contingent Consideration™).................... $ 2,000,000
January 15, 2013 (“GSE 2012 Contingent Consideration”).................... 1,500,000
January 15, 2014 (“GSE 2013 Contingent Consideration”).................... 1,000,000
Total contingent CONSIAEratioN..........ccevvvveeeeeereeriiene it eseeeens $ 4,500,000

The fair value of the contingent consideration was based on the weighted probability of achievement of certain performance milestones.
These contingent considerations were tied to the achievement of certain New Bookings and Renewal Rate achievement for the 3-months
ended December 31, 2011 and the twelve months ending October 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. The Company initially valued these
contingent payments at $4.3 million of which $2.0 million has been recorded as Accrued contingent consideration within current liabilities and
$2.3 million was recorded as Accrued contingent consideration, net of current portion in long-term liabilities on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet. In initially measuring the fair value of the contingent consideration, the Company assigned probabilities to these
performance criteria, based among other things on the nature of the performance criteria and the Company’s due diligence performed at the
time of the acquisition. As of December 31, 2011, the Company determined that the GSE 2011 Contingent Consideration was met and
recorded a $25,000 charge to general and administrative expense during the fourth quarter. As of December 31, 2011, there were no changes
in the recognized amounts of the GSE 2012 and 2013 Contingent Consideration amounts. The GSE 2012 Contingent Consideration and the
GSE 2013 Contingent Consideration earn interest at 4% per annum, which is payable at each respective due date.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

Allocations
CUITENE ASSELS ..vvevererrereeeiereeterereereree e et et etsete et et esseresreeesesnssssesaaens $ 498,717
FIX@A @SSELS vttt ettt ese s eens 100,088
OLhET SSELS c.vveveevieiereeiieieceeiet et ee e e sree e esne e eaeeeenes 15,030
Capital 16aSES.......cvvviiicrererriiicee et (27,858)
Intangible assets . 7,080,000
Goodwill ............ 5,272,274
Net assets acquired 12,938,251
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The fair value of accounts receivable acquired on September 13, 2011 was $490,000. The gross contractual amount of these accounts
receivable was approximately $545,000, of which $55,000 was not expected to be collected.

The purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities assumed based on estimates of their respective fair
values at the date of acquisition with the remaining unallocated purchase price recorded as goodwill. Fair value of intangible assets was
determined using a combination of the multi-petiod excess earnings method, the comparative business valuation- method and the relief from
royalty method. The goodwill recognized is attributable primarily to future revenue generation resulting from expected synergies, expanded
product lines and new markets and is expected to be deductible for tax purposes over a petiod of 15 years. As of December 31, 2011, there
were no changes in the recognized amounts of goodwill. Acquisition costs of approximately $0.4 million in 2011 were recorded in general and
administrative expenses.

Management is responsible for the valuation of net assets acquired and considered a number of factors, including valuations and appraisals,
when estimating the fair values and estimated useful lives of acquired assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2011 the allocation of purchase
price had been finalized. The intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their weighted average
lives as follows:

Weighted Average
Fair Value Lives
NON-COMPELe AGLEEMENLS .......vvvvvereearacieseiesnscirreesis st sienesssnes 1,280,000 5 years
Customer relationships... . 3,480,000 10 years
Customer contracts............ . 1,650,000 3 years
TLAAENAIMES «.oeiivviieireieeerrreeiieeeeireeerrresrrreeseeeesesameessessasessnresssrnnessnnneees 670,000 4 years

$ 7,080,000

The amount of revenue and earnings from these acquisitions included in our consolidated income statement for 2011 were not material.
The NES acquisition operating results have been included within our Energy Efficiency Services segment since the date of acquisition. The
Co-eX contracts and GSE operation were integrated into our energy procurement segment from the respective dates of acquisition and,
therefore, discrete operating results are not maintained for those operations. The revenue impact from these acquisitions for the year ended
December 31, 2011 represented less than 10% of our consolidated revenue. The following unaudited pro forma information assumes that the
acquisitions of Co-eXprise and GSE had been completed as of the beginning of 2010, and acquisition of NES had been completed at March
31, 2010 (inception):

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Revenues $ 32,525,439 $ 28,168,693
Net income (loss) 2,761,676 (408,456)
Net income (loss) per share:

Net income (loss) per share — basic $ 0.24 $ (0.04)

Net income (loss) per share — diluted $ 0.24 $ (0.04)
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 11,416,998 10,130,241
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 11,478,718 10,130,241

The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the future as a result of the acquisitions of
the Co-eXprise, NES and GSE.

NOTE 4 — TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

The Company does not invoice bidders for the monthly commissions eamned on retail electricity, certain natural gas and demand response
transactions and, therefore, reports a significant portion of its receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represent management’s
best estimate of energy provided by the energy suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted
commission rates.

The Company generally invoices bidders for commissions eamed on retail natural gas and wholesale transactions as well as energy
efficiency customers, which are reflected as billed accounts receivable. The total commission earned on these transactions is recognized upon
completion of the procurement event or upon project installation and acceptance, as required, and is generally due within 30 days of invoice
date. In addition, the Company invoices the bidder, lister or combination of both for certain auctions performed for environmental commodity
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product transactions. These transactions are earned and invoiced either upon lister acceptance of the auction results or, in some cases, upon
delivery of the credits or cash settlement of the transaction. Trade accounts receivable, net consists of the following:

December 31,
2011 2010
Unbilled aCCOUNES TECEIVADIE. .........veueeeeeriiietieeeee ettt ettt s e e e eaneese st eeneeseseseseeseeseseneseas $3,599,334 $2,852,930
Billed 2CCOUNES TECEIVADIEL. ......vevctieteenerieteiiete ettt ettt eee e e es et eteeseennaens 529,203 395,004
4,128,537 3,247,934
Allowance for dOUDLIUL ACCOUNLS.........coovevvreietcierereteecece et aescsss st eee s s s et eeeseeesesesesesenesaanas (71.322) (123,606)
Trade accoUNtS TECEIVADIE, MET ..........oovivieiieieeeeeeee et e e e s e s e esenns $4,057215 $3,124,328
NOTE 5 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment, net consists of the following:
December 31,
2011 2010
Leasehold IMProVEMENLES..............oiuiiiieuiuniiererianitcetatete sttt te st b e sese bbb s s s s § 104,739 § 65,451
Equipment.......cc.oevevennen. 584,416 498,907
MOLOT VERICIES... vttt ettt ettt eeseneseseneet st eseseseseasenneetenanen 124,847 —
Furnifure and fIXIUIES ...c.voveuieeeieieee ettt b e sttt st st e et st ee e neneeaeseeaeneeee 460,750 435,579
1,274,752 999,937
Less accumulated depreciation (848.349) _ (712.746)
Property and eqUIPMENT, NEL........cccoirirriuiriieeieeisieeeet et e e s eseese s s e st st ass et e s aeneneseeneneenes $ 426403 $§ 287,191

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was approximately $147,000, $140,000 and $146,000,
respectively. Property and equipment purchased under capital lease obligations at December 31, 2011 and 2010 was approximately $35,000
and $46,000, respectively. Accumulated depreciation for property and equipment purchased under capital lease was approximately $33,000
and $32,000 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

NOTE 6 — COMMON AND PREFERRED STOCK
Preferred Stock

The Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, authorizes 5,000,000 shares of $0.0001 par value
undesignated preferred stock for issuance by the Company’s board of directors. No preferred shares have been issued as of December 31,
2011 and 2010.

Common Stock

On October 31, 2011, the Company issued 1.0 million shares of common stock of the Company (equal to approximately $3.2 million)
pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement between the Company, GSE, Glenwood Energy Partners, Ltd. and Gulf States Energy, Inc.

On October 13, 2011, the Company issued 83,209 shares of common stock of the Company (equal to approximately $250,000) to the
Members of NES pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement between the Company, NES and the Members of NES.

In April 2010, the Company filed an S-3 registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, using a “shelf”
registration, or continuous offering, process. Under this shelf registration process, the Company may, from time to time, issue and sell any
combination of preferred stock, common stock or warrants, either separately or in units, in one or more offerings with a maximum aggregate
offering price of $20,000,000, including the U.S. dollar equivalent if the public offering of any such securities is denominated in one or more
foreign currencies, foreign currency units or composite currencies. On April 11, 2011 the Company issued approximately 1.5 million shares of
common stock utilizing this shelf registration to several accredited institutional investors at $3.60 yielding proceeds of approximately $5.3
million, net of $0.2 million of expenses. The Company has used these proceeds to fund acquisitions and anticipates using any new capital
raised under this shelf registration for strategic initiatives, including investments and acquisitions in the energy management space.

At the Company’s 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, shareholders approved an amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from 15,000,000 to 30,000,000.

On October 30, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with Bond, a strategic partner of the Company, for the purchase of up to
$2.5 million of the Company’s common stock. Pursuant to the agreement, a purchasing entity, an affiliate of Bond, acquired $1.0 million of
World Energy’s common stock at $2.97 per share on November 6, 2009. The Company agreed to offer an additional $1.5 million in Company
shares on the same terms to Bond or its designee, with the price to be determined at the time of investment, through January 15, 2010. In the
first quarter of 2010, affiliates of Bond purchased an additional $400,000 of Company common stock at an average price of $2.63 per share,
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bringing the net amount raised under the financing agreement to $1.3 million. Proceeds from the transactions will be used for general
corporate purposes, including supporting the Company’s growth initiatives.

Treasury Stock

In connection with the vesting of restricted stock granted to employees the Company withheld shares with value equivalent to employees’
minimum statutory obligation for the applicable income and other employment taxes, and remitted the cash to the appropriate taxing
authorities. The total shares withheld of 3,269 and 6,142 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were based on the
value of the restricted stock on their vesting date as determined by the Company’s closing stock price. Total payment for employees’ tax
obligations was approximately $12,000 and $18,000 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. These net-share settiements had the
effect of share repurchases by the Company as they reduced the number of shares that would have otherwise been issued as a resuit of the
vesting and did not represent an expense to the Company.

Common Stock Warrants

On March 1, 2011, the Company issued warrants to consultants for the purchase of 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an
average per share price of $3.00. The warrants vest ratably on a quarterly basis over a twelve month period and have a one year life.

The following table summarizes the Company’s warrant activity:

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Shares Price

Warrants outstanding, December 31, 2008 ..........cccccovmieimiiiiimiiit e 132,958 $ 8.00
GEANEEA e oo e e et ea e e se e e et es e st esessssese s esenessess st et essaassessesantes e eeeatnees et ebe neene et eae s et e e sennanenane —_ $ —
EXETCISEA vrveieeeeenciitises s s es bbb s — $§ —
CANCEIEA/EXPITEA ...vvvrecececucermensertieie it r e bbb b et b (128.698) $ 827
Warrants outstanding, December 31, 2009 ... 4,260 $ 0.30
GIFANEEA oo eeeeeee st eeee e et es e s e e esees e s es s et s as e s ese e eaEeetes et eeeemt s eoneaa e st sRseateb s s b e ea e e s e bbb e b aabasa s s nenns 64,500 $ 3.03
EXEICISEA. . eveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeese i et e e eeeas st esessssesessmeesesesestateses e et eseoaesetsaasaen s et sheasarea et e be e s aas s b e s s e b an s e e e s (4,110) $ 030
CaNCElEA/EXPITEA ..veeneeteeeecicueremeceienr e et b ek bt sk s (150) § 030
Warrants outstanding, December 31, 2010 ..o 64,500 $ 3.03
GIAIEEA noeeeeeeeee e e e e e e eeeeeessasessseesessssenneassesasaaassassseesnsaaressaaseasseeemaestae oo s st aassesanessantsassaabnsenssaarssnnnean 300,000 $ 3.00
Exercised ........ccoo... . — 5 —
Canceled/expired ........ooeeeeevemeveviconucaninnns . — $ —
Warrants outstanding, December 31, 2011 ............... bt e et sttt s bR e a e n e eaes 364.500 $ 3.00

The weighted average remaining contractual life of warrants outstanding is 0.71 years as of December 31, 2011.
NOTE 7 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Stock Options

The Company has two stock incentive plans: the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2003 Plan, and the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, or the
2006 Plan. There were 739,258 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under these plans at December 31, 2011. As of December 31,
2011, 102,201 shares of common stock, representing option grants still outstanding, were reserved under the 2003 Plan. No further grants are
allowed under the 2003 Plan. As of December 31, 2011, 637,057 shares of common stock were reserved under the 2006 Plan representing
605,080 outstanding stock options, 1,856 shares of restricted stock outstanding and 30,121 shares available for grant. A summary of stock
option activity under both plans for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:
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Weighted

Average
Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2008 .........ccooivvieiiiioiiiieieieeteiee et ete e ere et e eseseesress e sssetesaenseneaaseans 626,456 $ 5.08
Granted........ccooveeeeveeerieieierere 242,700 $ 3.47
CANCELEA. ...ttt et s et et e s e et st et e bt eneer e tesaes et eaeeseaneenenesanene (156,248) $ 9.85
EXCTCISEA ...ttt v ettt as sttt e e ee et e e e e s se e st s et etessmsat et et et esesemeasaeaen (53.020) $ 0.55
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 . 659,888 $ 373
Granted.........cooeeveeieeiieieeee, 190,600 $ 2.83
Canceled.. (21,052) $ 7.81
EXercised.....ccooveveeeceiiereerecneenenn e (124,530) $ 035
Outstanding at December 31, 2010. 704,906 $ 3.96
Granted.... e e———————— 135,000 $ 3.15
Canceled... ..o (55,687) $ 3.41
Exercised e eeeteteeteereeteestertesteareete bt e ts et e ets et aateeasentsetseaeeaneneennennennean (76.938) $ 1.16
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 ... etetesasese sttt es st aeaesens 707,281 $ 4.15

A summary of common stock options outstanding and common stock options exercisable as of December 31, 2011 is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Remaining Aggregate Number Remaining Aggregate
Range of Contractual Intrinsic of Shares Contractual Intrinsic
Exercise Prices Options Life Value Exercisable Life Value
$2.00-%$240............ 62,380 3.52 Years $ 60,828 49,230 3.41 Years $ 47,415
$2.41 - $3.15 ... 319,600 6.21 Years 32,906 58,539 5.60 Years 8,296
$3.16 - $4.91 ... 213,600 4.29 Years — 124,563 3.83 Years —
$4.92-%1340.......... 111,701 2.14 Years — 107,014 2.04 Years —
707,281 4.75 Years $ 93,734 339,346 3.51 Years $ 55,711

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2011 was approximately $176,000. At December
31, 2011, the weighted average exercise price of common stock options outstanding and exercisable was $4.15 and $5.35, respectively.

Restricted Stock

A summary of restricted stock activity for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

Weighted
Average

Grant Price

Shares
Outstanding at December 31, 2008 ..........c.coiiiiivieirierereeee ettt ete et sre et eoresaeeeaeesssss s et essessessssresnson 118,603
GIANTEA ...ttt et bbb r s s et et st etesesese s s bas s s satenenenesessseatantesssssens 38,559
Canceled... . (33,943)
Vested....oovvvenieeiecieiieeieiecreee e (88.918)
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 .. 34,301
Granted 12,324
Canceled. . (2,885)
VESted ..o . (29.912)
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 ........cccooiiiiiiriiiiiiieeeee et tee e seee st e s s e st e see e e et seeeseseasessss e s eeeeaannee 13,828
GITANTEA ..ttt et et ettt e eet et e eeen e e eeeeeeneastsensnseae s s sas s s e eae s et sss e eaeeme e e eeneeeeaeeaneseeeneeaen 11,143
CANCELEA. ... ettt ettt anan . (2,250)
Vested ..o et et te e e et et e e e en et e aeereeanens (20.865)
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 ..ot re ettt e ne s st se s sssenessasesanas 1,856

401(k) Plan

$ 9.76
$ 345
$ 945
$ 6.90
$10.38
$ 2.84
$ 8.55
$ 7.58
$10.10
$ 3.14
$10.76
$ 6.56
$ 728

The Company’s 401(k) savings plan covers the majority of the Company’s eligible employees. Employees of the Company may participate
in the 401(k) Plan after reaching the age of 21. The Company may make discretionary matching contributions as determined from time to
time. Employee contributions vest immediately, while Company matching contributions begin to vest after one year of service and continue to

vest at 20% per year over the next five years. To date, the Company has not made any discretionary contributions to the 401(k) Plan.

NOTE 8 — EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

As of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company only had one issued and outstanding class of stock — common stock. As a result,
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the basic earnings or loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and 2009 is computed by dividing net income (loss) by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the denominators of the Company’s reported basic and diluted earnings per share
computation for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and 2009, respectively:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Weighted number of common shares - basic ... 10,521,910 9,067,834 8,512,060
Common stock eqUIVALENES ... 61,720 — —
Weighted number of common and common equivalent shares - diluted .... 10,583,630 9,067,834 8,512,060

The computed loss per share does not assume conversion, exercise, or contingent exercise of securities that would have an anti-dilutive
effect on loss per share. As the Company was in a net loss position for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, all common stock
equivalents in those years were anti-dilutive.

The following represents issuable weighted average share information for the respective periods:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Common SLOCK OPLIONS ...c.vevveierieceeeitiiiinierern e 30,068 112,699 224,490
Common stock warrants .... 31,357 1,878 10,373
Unvested restricted stock ............. 295 357 922
Total common stock eqUIVAIEHLES .....cccoiviiiviiiiiiiiii e, 61,720 114,934 235,785

In addition, common stock options and unvested restricted stock of 634,901 and 1,332, respectively, were excluded from the calculation of
net income (loss) per share, as inclusion of such shares would be antidilutive due to exercise prices or value of proceed shares exceeding the
average market price of the Company’s common stock during the year ended December 31, 2011. Common stock options, common stock
warrants and unvested restricted stock of 560,451, 64,500 and 13,079, respectively, were excluded from the calculation of net loss per share,
as inclusion of such shares would be antidilutive due to exercise prices or value of proceed shares exceeding the average market price of the
Company’s common stock during the year ended December 31, 2010. Common stock options and unvested restricted stock of 389,778 and
32,676, respectively, were excluded from the calculation of net loss per share, as inclusion of such shares would be antidilutive due to exercise
prices or value of proceed shares exceeding the average market price of the Company’s common stock during year ended December 31, 2009.

The Company did not declare or pay any dividends in 2011, 2010 and 2009.

NOTE 9 — SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, share based awards consisted of grants of stock options and stock warrants, and for the
year ended December 31, 2009, share-based awards consisted of grants of restricted stock and stock options. The Company recognizes the
compensation from share-based awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award. The vesting period of share-
based awards is determined by the board of directors, and is generally four years for employees. The restrictions on the restricted stock lapse
over the vesting period, which is typically four years. The per-share weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $2.20, $2.12 and $2.68, respectively, on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions and estimated forfeiture rates of 10%, 10% and 11% in 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively:

Year ended Expected Risk Expected Expected

December 31, Dividend Yield Interest Rate Life Volatility
2011 — 0.89% 4.75 years 99%
2010 — 1.93% 4.75 years 105%
2009 — 2.28% 4.75 years 113%

The per-share weighted-average fair value of stock warrants granted during the year ended December 31, 2011 was $0.72 on the date of
grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with weighted-average assumptions for the risk-free interest rate, expected life and
expected volatility of 0.12%, 0.63 years and 60%, respectively, and no estimated forfeiture rate for the year ended December 31, 2011.

The per-share weighted-average fair value of stock warrants granted during the year ended December 31, 2010 was $2.44 on the date of
grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with weighted-average assumptions for the risk-free interest rate, expected life and

expected volatility of 2.37%, 5 years and 114%, respectively, and an estimated average forfeiture rate of 7% for the year ended December 31,
2010.

The Company elected to use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the weighted average fair value of options and warrants
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granted. The Company determined the volatility for stock options based on the reported closing prices of the Company’s stock since its initial
public offering in November 2006. The expected life of stock options and stock warrants has been determined utilizing the “simplified”
method as prescribed by the SEC’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, “Share-Based Payment”. The risk-free interest rate is based on a
treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options and stock warrants. The Company has not paid and
does not anticipate paying cash dividends on its common stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero. In addition,
guidance from the FASB requires companies to utilize an estimated forfeiture rate when calculating the expense for the period. As a result, the
Company applied estimated forfeiture rates to unvested share-based compensation of 10%, 10% and 11% for stock options and restricted stock
for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, in determining the expense recorded in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. The Company did not apply an estimated forfeiture rate to unvested share-based compensation for stock warrants for
the year ended December 31, 2011, and applied an estimated forfeiture rate of 7% to unvested share-based compensation for stock warrants
for the year ended December 31, 2010, in determining the expense recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The approximate total share-based compensation expense for the periods presented is included in the following expense categories:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
COSE OF TEVEIIUE ....evitinieiieiieieieeeer ettt ettt ettt et et et e eeeen et eeeeaesaeeseesess et eeneenann $ 69,000 $ 79,000 $ 93,000
Sales AN MATKEHNE .co..oviiieieieieecc ettt et et s e eae st et eeeeteaaesenaseaean 356,000 227,000 350,000
General and administrative...... . 185,000 365,000 190,000
Total share-based COMPENSALION........c.cvreiereieriiiiiiietetetetes st b s s es s se s oaeeeaenean $§ 610,000 $§ 671000 $ 633,000

As of December 31, 2011, there was approximately $839,000 of unrecognized compensation expense related to share-based awards,
including approximately $809,000 related to non-vested stock option awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period
of 2.54 years, approximately $11,000 related to non-vested restricted stock awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 0.48 years and approximately $19,000 related to non-vested stock warrants that is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 0.17 years. See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements for a summary of the share-based activity under the Company’s
stock-based employee compensation plans for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

The Company accounts for transactions in which services are received from non-employees in exchange for equity instruments based on
the fair value of such services received or of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measured. During 2011, stock warrants
were granted for 300,000 shares of common stock to consultants in consideration for services performed, for which the Company recognized a
charge of approximately $197,000 to sales and marketing expense in the statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.
During 2010, stock warrants were granted for 64,500 shares of common stock to consultants in consideration for services performed, for
which the Company recognized a charge of approximately $4,000 and $153,000 to general and administrative expense in the statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

NOTE 10 — RELATED PARTIES

A member of the Board has been performing consulting services for the Company in relation to certain strategic initiatives. During 2011
and 2010, the Company incurred approximately $8,600 and $32,000, respectively, of consulting fees for advisory services performed by this
Board member. Approximately $1,000 was outstanding to the member of the Board for advisory services at December 31, 2011.

NOTE 11 — INCOME TAXES
Provisions for the Company’s income taxes for the three years ended December 31 were as follows:

2011 2010 2009
Current:
FOACTAL...ceeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt et e ee et eee e e et e s eeseseeseesees e s e s esennanens $ 35,868 $ — % —
14,623 — —
50,491 — —

73,937 — —
13,796 — —
87,733 — —

$ 138224 § — —
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The components of the Company’s net deferred tax asset (liability) are as follows:
December 31,

2011 2010

Depreciation and AMOTHIZATION .........c.ccewurireuirimmieriise ettt $ 820,606 $ 897,334
Goodwill and indefinitely lived assets .. . (132,249) (305,792)
ACGUISTHON COSES -vvevverseeecaemsiaiisieteti e et e s eb s s s s s s bbbt b et 265,048 —
ACCTUALS ANA TESEIVES .eveeeeeueeereeeeeiiireeeeessreaesrreaassssaasssssresinseeeansaeeesssseesssenssssesanssssnsessannneasessssasassreassnsnaes 54,414 —
Alternative minimum tax credits.... 44,516 58,816
Net operating 1088 CAITYTOrWAIS. .......cccoovmieiiiiiiiiiiii st 5,955,745 7.142.950

7,008,080 7,793,308
W ATUATION AlLOWANCE oo e e eeeees e e e e e eeaeeeaaeeemseesneeaesasssesssseeresesneaesn s easnsssassanssseanseeanstensaeeseeseeeanmneaasasines (7.095.813) (7.793.308)
DEfErTed taX THADITIEY L.vu.voveeeereeeeesciis et s bbbt $ (87.733) § —

Given the Company’s history of net operating losses, a full valuation of $7.1 million has been established on the Company’s net deferred
tax assets. The Company has generated additional deferred tax liabilities related to its tax amortization of certain acquired indefinite lived
intangible assets because these assets are not amortized for book purposes. The tax amortization in current and future years gives rise to a
deferred tax liability which will only reverse at the time of ultimate sale or book impairment. Due to the uncertain timing of this reversal, the
temporary differences associated with indefinite lived intangibles cannot be considered a source of future taxable income for purposes of
determining a valuation allowance. As such, the deferred tax liability cannot be used to support an equal amount of the deferred tax asset
related to the net operating loss carryforward.

A reconciliation of the Company’s federal statutory tax rate to its effective rate is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Income tax at federal StAtULOTY TALE ........ocvevvivuiiiiieieii ettt e et 34.0% (34.0)% (34.0)%
Increase (decrease) in tax resulting from:
State taxes, net of federal BeNefit ........oeceeveeeiiiiiiiii 4.0% (6.3)% 6.3)%
Permancnt QIfTEIEIICES .....oevieveierierieereereeserseseeresrestesaeesesae e esesseasissesaasaebesas e b ssse b esn s e s s s asbonsesnanene 31.2% 196.8% 6.0%
Tax impact of indefinite lived intangible assets not amortized for book purposes............ccceeee. 13.4% —% —%
Change in valuation alloWaNCE..........cc.cu vttt s 09.1)% (156.5)% 34.3%
Alternative minimum tax FeQUITEMENT ......c.coveerurueriariirnieiitirenreestaes ettt sseseseseseeenes 7.7% —% _—%

21.1% 0.0% _0.0%

As of December 31, 2011, the Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $15.4 million which begin to expire
in 2023, and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $13.4 million, which begin to expire in 2012.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction and in various states. The Company has reviewed the tax
positions taken, or to be taken, in its tax returns for all tax years currently open to examination by the taxing authorities. With few exceptions,
the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax examination by tax authorities for years before 2008. At
December 31, 2011, there are no expected material, aggregate tax effects of differences between tax return positions and the benefits
recognized in the financial statements.

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, certain substantial changes in the Company’s ownership may have limited or may limit
in the future the amount of net operating loss carryforwards which could be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and income tax
liabilities. The amount of any annual limitation is determined based upon the Company’s value prior to an ownership change.

NOTE 12 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company follows ASC 820-10 for fair value measurements. ASC 820-10 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The standard provides a consistent definition of fair value, which focuses on an
exit price, which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The standard also prioritizes, within the measurement of fair value, the use of market-based information
over entity specific information and establishes a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based on the nature of inputs used in the
valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date.

The hierarchy established under ASC 820-10 gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Level 1 - Pricing inputs are quoted prices available in active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date. As

required by ASC 820-10, the Company does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in situations where the Company
holds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.
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Level 2 - Pricing inputs are quoted prices for similar investments, or inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly,
for substantially the full term through corroboration with observable market data. Level 2 includes investments valued at quoted
prices adjusted for legal or contractual restrictions specific to these investments.

Level 3 - Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment, that is, inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own
assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Level 3 includes investments that
are supported by little or no market activity.

Assets and liabilities of the Company measured at fair values on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 are summarized as
follows:

December 31,

2011 (Level 1) {Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets
Cash equivalents........c....ccccevvervrncrnnnnen, $ 1,837,801 $ 1,837,801 $ — $ —
Investments ...... 716,936 — e 716,936
Total Assets $ 2554737 $ 1.837.801 $ — $ 716,936
Liabilities
Contingent consideration........................ $ 4739982 § —  $ — $ 4,739.982
Total Liabilities ........cccoevvvvvrneerenreneenes $ 4739982 § — $ — $ 4,739,982
December 31,
2010 (Level 1) {(Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets
Cash equivalents $ 3559288 $ 3.559.288 § — 8 —
Total ASSetS...cceevveeereereereeereercreiesene $ 3,559,288 $ 3,559,288 $ — $ —_—

NOTE 13 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

The Company leases certain equipment under capital leases that expire through October 2013 and are collateralized by the related
equipment. The Company has accounted for these leases using incremental borrowing rates ranging from 5.8% to 10.0%. The Company
maintains operating leases for office space in nine locations in the United States, paid in installments due the beginning of each month and that
expire through November 2015. Future aggregate minimum payments under capital and operating leases as of December 31, 2011 were as
follows:

Capital Operating

Leases Leases

2012..cnen ettt L4 et S bR et E et e A e A A et ebe st s e R b e R eR e Aea st et etsssesaeteeeaseserese e eaeneareseas $ 16,637 $ 280,327
2013..... . . 12,855 162,865
2014..... . — 79,166
2015 e . — 21.028
Total future MiNiMUM IEASE PAYIMEINLS ......c.ceoieiererereremeeeesiiitet ettt ettt ettt e e ess b e rerssesesesesssossassessssasssaeeoens 29,492 § 543386
LesS: amMOUNIS TEPIESEIMING INEETEST...c.veveveuierrrieietereieterenteriseereseseseseesesseses seseesesestssenesesseneeeeseaeaseaeesessneesessaeeeeesesesessses (559)

Present value of future minimum 1€aS€ PAYMENLS .......c.ocieieieieieiiieieret ettt 28,933

Less: current portion..............cceceeuenenen. et et bt a et e et e et e h e et et e ekt e baesn et arn e seersenrasen 9.949

Capital lease obligation, net of CUITENE POTTION .o.vveiuiveveueieierieeerce ettt ess e eeeaes $ 18984

The accompanying statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 includes approximately $443,257,
$373,000 and $388,000 of rent expense, respectively.

NOTE 14 — CREDIT ARRANGEMENT

On March 8, 2011, the Company entered into a Second Loan Modification Agreement (the “Second Modification Agreement”) with SVB.
The Second Modification Agreement amended and extended the Loan and Security Agreement with SVB dated September 8, 2008, as
amended on September 30, 2009 (the “Loan Agreement”), through March 6, 2012. Under the Second Modification Agreement, SVB has
committed to make advances to the Company in an aggregate amount of up to $3,000,000, subject to availability against certain eligible
accounts receivable and eligible retail backlog. The credit facility bears interest at a floating rate per annum based on the prime rate plus
1.25% on advances made against eligible accounts receivable and prime rate plus 2.00% on advances made against eligible retail backlog,
with the prime rate being subject to a 4.00% floor. These interest rates are subject to change based on the Company’s maintenance of an
adjusted quick ratio of one-to-one. At December 31, 2011, there were no borrowings outstanding under this facility. However, the Company
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was not in compliance with one of its financial covenants under the facility at December 31, 2011 due to acquisition costs of approximately
$0.5 million incurred during the fourth quarter. Subsequent to year end, SVB waived this default as part of the Third Modification Agreement
described below and the Company returned to compliance with its financial covenants by January 31, 2012.

On March 2, 2012 the Company entered into a Third Loan Modification and Waiver Agreement (the “Third Modification Agreement”) with
SVB. Under the Third Modification Agreement SVB expanded its facility with the Company committing to make up to $5,000,000 in
aggregate advances to the Company subject to availability against certain eligible accounts receivable and eligible retail backlog. This credit
facility is comprised of two components: a $2.5 million term loan (“Term Loan”); and a $2.5 million line-of-credit. The term loan has a forty-
eight (48) month term, interest only for the first 9-months followed by 39-months of equal principal and interest payments. Interest on the term
loan is based on the Wall Street Journal prime rate (“Prime Rate”) (currently 3.25%) plus 2.25%. The term note is subject to 1% prepayment
penalty within the first year of funding. The line-of-credit facility bears interest at a floating rate per annum based on the Prime Rate plus
1.25% on advances made against eligible accounts receivable and prime rate plus 2.00% on advances made against eligible retail
backlog. These interest rates are subject to change based on the Company’s maintenance of an adjusted quick ratio of one-to-one. The revised
facility matures on March 15, 2013 and contains certain financial covenant and financial reporting requirements that the Company was in
compliance with subsequent to year end.

NOTE 15 — SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company operates the business based on two industry segments: energy procurement and energy efficiency services. The Company
delivers its brokerage services to four distinctive markets: retail energy, wholesale energy, demand response and environmental commodity.
The brokerage process is substantially the same regardless of the market being serviced and are supported by the same operations personnel
utilizing the same basic technology and back office support. There is no discrete financial information for these product lines nor are there
segment managers who have operating responsibility for each product line. Energy efficiency services focus on turn-key electrical and
mechanical energy efficiency measures servicing commercial, industrial and institutional customers.

The following tables present certain continuing operating division information in accordance with the provisions of ASC 280, “Segment
Reporting”.
Year Ended
December 31, 2011

Consolidated revenue:
ENETEY DIOKETAZE ....cocveuruemeniieeieiiecececr et eb bbb bbb s rsnnnnns $ 21,035,435

Energy efficiency services 51.150
Consolidated total revenue $ 21.086,585
Consolidated operating income (loss):
ENEIZY BIOKETAZE ... veeveeeierrimrenserecseisissisiisessesesess s sns s $ 1,006,395
Energy effiCiency SEIVICES ......ccovviriiiemimieenienicistetee e (351.104)
Consolidated operating INCOME.........covvivrrrreieiieiiieieiersieieneeceneas $ 655,291
December 31, 2011
Consolidated total assets:
ENErgy BroKErage ... ...couvueuccmreneneieeeiiciiiiiect et ssssss s 33,329,050
Energy efficiency services 495.490
Consolidated total aSSELS........eeveeeeierrierierienieeerinieinesieisee et eneaes $ 33,824,540

NOTE 16 — SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table presents selected unaudited consolidated financial results for each of the eight quarters in the two-year period ended
December 31, 2011. In the Company’s opinion, this unaudited information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited information
and includes all adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the financial information for the periods presented.

For The Quarters Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2011
REVENUE....vveerevenenreneveinieieteneneisissasassenssssensesesses $ 4,918,388 $ 4,636,682 $ 5,625,070 $ 5,906,445
GroSS PrOfit...cccccecemnmrercriciiiene e 3,917,856 3,700,701 4,654,224 4,803,809
Operating income (I0SS) ....oovvrriririeinieieiaeeneniuenes 243,896 184,541 848,211 (621,357)
Net income (10SS) ..veeereeruerercreecrereisrenessiiaeas 250,089 191,311 855,144 (781,003)
Net income (loss) per common share — basic........ $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.08 $ (0.07)
Net income (loss) per common share — diluted ... $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.08 $ (0.07)
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic ...... 9,199,205 10,584,465 10,762,417 11,513,481
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted.... 9,224,744 10,650,397 10,809,144 11,513,481
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2010

REVENUE .....cciviiiinririineicc et
GrOSS Profit..cccccceeceieeieciiciecieiieiieie e
Operating income (loss)
Net income (I0SS) «...covevveeeerienineerecinerccrentresrenenes
Net income (loss) per common share — basic .......
Net income (loss) per common share — diluted ....
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic ......
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted....

$ 4,408,106
3,458,541
(127,184)
(128,444)
$ (0.01)
$ (0.01)
9,016,711
9,016,711

$ 4,010,980
3,097,660
(498,399)
(499,649)
$  (0.06)
$  (0.06)
9,061,695
9,061,695

$ 4,650,992
3,737,540
144,672
147,227

$ 0.02
$ 0.02
9,083,807
9,189,776

$ 4,914,584
3,975,052
373,142
381,779

$ 0.04
$ 0.04
9,107,943
9,198,720
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